
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Friday, 13 January 2023 
 
 

CABINET 
will meet on 

Monday, 23 January 2023 
beginning at 

6:30 pm 
in the 

Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 
TO: Councillor Keith House (Chair) 
 Councillor Ian Corben (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor Paul Bicknell 
Councillor Tonia Craig 
Councillor Tim Groves 

Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Derek Pretty 
 

 
Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298 

Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk 
  

JOANNE CASSAR 
Executive Head of Governance 

 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
This meeting will be recorded and published on the Council's YouTube channel. 
 
Please also be aware that the filming, audio recording, photography and use of social 
media is permitted at meetings open to the public. We ask that you notify the Chair or 
Support Officers in advance so that all attendees can be notified, and reasonable facilities 
can be provided. More information can be found here. 
 
Please note that Councillors will be using tablet devices to access meeting papers. 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 3 - 10) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 8 December 2022. 
 

4.   Public Participation  
 
You can submit questions in advance of the meeting to the following email 
address: democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is 
12pm on 20 January 2023. 
 
Please let us know if you wish to attend the meeting in person so that we can 
manage numbers.  We are still encouraging all those in attendance to take a 
lateral flow test before attending the meeting.  PLEASE DO NOT ATTEND IF 
YOU HAVE ANY COVID-19 SYMPTOMS. 
 

5.   Recommendations from Committees  
 

6.   Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan partial update consultation response 
(Pages 11 - 48) 
 

7.   Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 and Investigatory Powers Act 2016 
(Pages 49 - 124) 
 

8.   Affordable Housing Service Policies (Pages 125 - 188) 
 

9.   Write off of Irrecoverable Debts 2021/22 (Pages 189 - 196) 
 

 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Thursday, 23 February 2023 at 6:00 pm 

In the Rooms 16/17, Eastleigh House, Upper 
Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

2

mailto:democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1 
 

CABINET 
 

Thursday, 8 December 2022  (6:30 pm – 6:58 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor House (Chair); Councillors Corben, Bicknell, Craig, Kyrle and 
Pretty 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors Duguid and Gomer  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Groves 
 

________________________________________ 
 

148. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion.  
 
RECOMMENDED ITEMS (REQUIRING A DECISION) 
 

149. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM COMMITTEES 
 
There were no recommendations from Committees on this occasion.  
 

150. PROCUREMENT POLICY 
 
Issue 
 
The Council declared a Climate and Environmental Emergency in July 
2019 and agreed that the Council’s Procurement Policy should recognise 
carbon neutrality as one of the primary considerations. When included 
within the Council’s total carbon emissions, ‘Scope 3 emissions’ (‘Scope 3’ 
includes business travel, commuting, working from home and 
procurement) account for approximately 80% of the overall carbon 
footprint (of which the emissions relating to the procurement of goods and 
services account for the overwhelming majority). (Paper 6) 
 
Consideration 
 
The purpose of this Policy is to inform all Council employees, procuring 
managers, suppliers and contractors of the Council’s new expectations in 
relation to procuring goods and services in a more sustainable way. This 
includes considering the wider environmental, social and economic 
benefits when procuring goods and services, and in particular the 
suppliers’ carbon emissions. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

That Cabinet approves the Procurement Policy Summary and 
Guidance and Implementation document (at Appendix 1 and 
Appendix 2) to go out for consultation with key suppliers, with the 
amended final document to be brought back to Cabinet for adoption 
after the consultation period. 
 
The timeframe for the consultation period and subsequent further Cabinet 
approval will be set to allow the implementation of a final Policy by 1 
October 2023 (subject to consultation), as per the implementation 
timeframe outlined in paragraph 17. 
 

151. STRATEGIC LAND UPDATE 
 
Issue 
 
The Strategic Land Purchases, whilst delivering nutrient and phosphate 
mitigation provide the opportunity to explore and develop opportunities to 
meet other strategic objectives which include investment in green 
infrastructure, habitat creation and renewable energy infrastructure. (Paper 
7) 
 
Consideration 
 
The projects being identified and carried out on Council owned land will 
contribute to creating a Green Borough by providing an Excellent 
Environment for All, developing our green infrastructure and by Improving 
Wellbeing through enhancement and access to nature. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Corporate Strategy (2018) similarly emphasises 
the importance of increasing the use of open space and green 
infrastructure for everyday physical activity. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 

(1) note the contents of this report; and 
 

(2) approve a revised interim charge for Suitable Alternative 
Natural Green Space (SANG) to be collected from developers 
that wish to mitigate their recreation impacts on the New 
Forest using Eastleigh Borough Council projects delivered on 
the strategic land. 

 
152. CORPORATE FEES AND CHARGES 

 
Issue 
 
Fees and Charges for Council services are reviewed on a regular basis. In 
accordance with the Budget Plan, fees and charges levied by the Council 

4



3 
 

are reviewed annually with the intention of any changes being introduced, 
where possible, with effect from January 2023. (Paper 8) 
 
Consideration 
 
A minimum increase in yield of 10.1% for all fees and charges should be 
implemented, where possible, from January 2023, reflecting the national 
CPI level of inflation as of July 2022. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approve all proposed fees and charges in the report and 
Appendices A to I to come into effect on the dates outlined in the 
report, subject to clarification on the pest control service charge of 
rats and mice. 
 

153. CORPORATE SERVICE PERFORMANCE 
 
Issue 
 
Regular monitoring and management of the Council’s performance is key 
to ensuring delivery against strategic objectives set out in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan 2015-2025, delivery of actions in the Corporate Action 
Plan 22/23, and contributes to the management of corporate risk. (Paper 
9) 
 
Consideration 
 
The report details key performance indicators which allow the monitoring 
of performance trends. Individual performance measures are being 
actively managed by service managers with the support of the Resource 
Management team. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet note the service performance of the Council for the 
second quarter of 2022/23. 
 

154. QUARTER 2 2022/23 FINANCIAL MONITORING UPDATE 
 
Issue 
 
The financial monitoring for the second quarter of 2022/23 is forecasting a 
total net unfavourable variance against the budget of £360,000 based on 
best estimates in a changing economic environment. If this were the 
outturn position, the deficit would be met by the General Fund reserve. 
Capital expenditure for the first half of the financial year of 2022/23 was 
£25.7M compared to the rolling budget for the year of £69M representing a 
37% spend at the half year. (Paper 10) 
 

5



4 
 

Consideration 
 
The financial monitoring for the first six months of 2022/23 informs 
councillors on the financial performance of the Council for the current year. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 

(1) Note the Council’s forecast financial position for the year and 
the revised Medium Term Financial Plan (Appendix A); 

(2) Note the performance of the Community Investment 
Programme (Appendix B); 

(3) Note the performance of Treasury Management (Appendix C); 
and 

(4) Note the intention of the Chief Executive to conduct a Pay and 
Progression review. 

 
155. AFFORDABLE HOMES PROGRAMME GRANT FUNDING 

 
Issue 
 
Cabinet approval is sought to enter into contract with Homes England as a 
member of the Wayfarer Consortium of registered providers of affordable 
housing. As a consortium member the Council is able to bid for Affordable 
Homes Programme funding via the CME (Continuous Market 
Engagement) route. The Affordable Homes Programme (AHP) provides 
grant funding to support the capital costs of developing affordable housing 
for rent or sale. (Paper 11) 
 
Consideration 
 
Entering into contract is necessary in order to claim grant funding, if 
successful following a CME bid for affordable housing units as part of the 
Council’s Housing Programme projects. Entering into contract is subject to 
obtaining approval in accordance with Council’s standing orders. Cabinet 
approval is therefore sought to enter into the necessary Agreements with 
Homes England and the Wayfarer Consortium members. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet: 
 

(1) approves entering into a Deed of Adherence to the Affordable 
Homes Programme 2021-2026 Grant Contract Agreement, and 
associated Supplemental Agreement to the Wayfarer 
Consortium Agreement; and 

(2) delegates authority to the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) in 
consultation with the Leader to authorise future grant 

6



5 
 

applications via the continuous market engagement (CME) 
process, in accordance with Wayfarer’s terms. 

 
 

156. AFFORDABLE HOUSING SERVICE POLICIES 
 
Issue 
 
Eastleigh Borough Council (the Council) has been a local authority 
Registered Provider of affordable homes since May 2021 and is due to be 
the landlord of its first affordable housing tenants (from the Hampshire 
Home Choice Register) in 2023/24. As a registered provider of affordable 
housing the Council must ensure that it meets not only its regulatory 
requirements but also puts in place a transparent, high-quality service for 
its customers. (Paper 12) 
 
Consideration 
 
Several policies require approval to enable the timely delivery of the 
Council’s new affordable housing service. The draft policies are fully 
compliant and up to date with the latest regulations. The policies will be 
monitored and reviewed annually, using lessons learnt and tenant input to 
further improve them and the services they underpin. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet consider the first tranche of policies (allocations; 
lettings; local lettings; complaints; and compensation and redress) 
and they be approved on the terms as outlined in this report. 
 
[NOTE: Councillor Bicknell joined the meeting at 18:47] 
 

157. FREEPORT 
 
Issue 
 
On 24 March 2022, Cabinet was presented with a detailed report on the 
Solent Freeport, its positive progress and details related to the Eastleigh 
element (Navigator Quarter). Since this date, the owners of Eastleigh 
Railway works, Diageo, withdrew from being part of Navigator Quarter, the 
Full Business Case for Solent Freeport was then reworked and submitted 
to DLUHC, Solent Freeport was subsequently launched and Navigator 
Quarter was formally designated as a tax site on 14 October 2022. (Paper 
13) 
 
Consideration 
 
Within the March 2022 Cabinet report, recommendation 4 was to approve 
the principles of the final draft Business Rate Retention Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) and delegate final approval to the Executive Head 

7



6 
 

for Finance and Housing and the Leader of the Council. Following the 
approval of this local districts MOU, as part of the final approval stages of 
the Freeport designation process, there is a requirement for all Rating 
Authorities, to enter a further Memorandum of Understanding with 
Government. The terms of the Government MOU do not undermine the 
previously agreed local MOU and consequently the Council is being asked 
to sign up to this. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet delegates authority to the Chief Financial Officer (S151) 
and the Leader of the Council to sign the Memorandum of 
Understanding on behalf of the Council as part of the Freeport 
designation process. 
 

158. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT PROGRAMME SCHEME APPROVAL 
 
Issue 
 
The purpose of the report is to seek approval to fund feasibility and 
preplanning work for Council-owned sites as part of the Housing 
Programme 
during 2022-23. (Paper 14) 
 
Consideration 
 
The Council’s strategic housing programme includes residential 
construction projects delivered in partnership or directly by the Council via 
contractors. The pipeline of schemes includes investigating land in Council 
ownership, often for brownfield regeneration and redevelopment projects. 
In accordance with national planning policy, local planning authorities 
should make effective use of land and support proposals to use retail and 
employment land for homes in areas of high housing demand, provided 
this does not undermine key economic sectors or sites. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That Cabinet approve expenditure of up to £100,000 for feasibility 
and pre-planning studies and design work for housing proposals on 
Council-owned land, to be funded from the development of future 
schemes in the Strategic Housing Programme. 
 

159. EXEMPT BUSINESS 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
(1) That, in pursuance of Section 100A(4) of the Local Government 

Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
for the following items of business on the grounds that they 
are likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as 

8



7 
 

defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act; 
and 

 
(2) That, in pursuance of the public interest test, the public 

interest in disclosing the information contained in the following 
item of business was outweighed by the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption. 

 
160. PROPERTY TRANSACTION 

 
Issue 
 
To consider a property transaction (paper 16) 
 
Consideration 
 
The report sets out a number of matters relating to a property transaction. 
 
RESOLVED – 
 
That the recommendations in the report be approved. 
 
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

161. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda.  
 

162. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 20 October 2022 be agreed 
as a correct record. 
 
M6955 
 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET  

Monday, 23 January 2023  

HAMPSHIRE MINERALS AND WASTE PLAN PARTIAL UPDATE 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

Report of the Strategic Planning Lead (Environment)  

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that:   
 
(1) Cabinet responds to Hampshire County Council’s (HCC’s) consultation on the 

Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (HMWP) partial update. The consultation 
response is outlined in sections 18-22 of this report; 

(2) Cabinet upholds its continued objection to include the former Hamble Airfield 
site in the HMWP partial update for minerals extraction; 

(3) Cabinet formally requests (via this committee report and decision) that HCC 
remove the Hamble Airfield as an allocated site for minerals extraction from 
the HMWP partial update; and 

(4) Cabinet delegates the approval of further representations on the HMWP to 
HCC on minor matters to the Executive Head for Planning and Economy in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council, Chair of the Bursledon, Hamble-
le-Rice and Hound Local Area Committee, and the Chief Executive. 

 

Summary 
 
Hampshire County Council (HCC) and its partner Authorities, Southampton City Council, 
Portsmouth City Council, New Forest National Park Authority and South Downs National 
Park Authority (collectively known as the Hampshire Authorities), are working to produce a 
partial update to the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (HMWP, the Plan) which will 
guide minerals and waste decision making in the Plan area up until 2040. 
 
The Hampshire Authorities are consulting on the partial update until 31 January 2023. The 
Council is advised to respond. 
 
This paper provides an overview of the HMWP partial update and gives the Council’s 
consultation response. 

Statutory Powers 
 

11

Agenda Item 6



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. This report and the Council’s position on gravel extraction at the former 
Hamble Airfield is aligned with all of the Corporate Plan (2015-2025) themes 
of Environment, Health and Wellbeing and Economy.  

Introduction 

2. HCC and its partner Authorities, Southampton City Council, Portsmouth City 
Council, New Forest National Park Authority and South Downs National Park 
Authority (collectively known as the Hampshire Authorities), are working to 
produce a partial update to the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (HMWP) 
which will guide minerals and waste decision making in the Plan area up until 
2040. The Hampshire Authorities are consulting on the update until 31 
January 2023.  

3. Separately, the Council also received notification on 5 December 2022 that 
Cemex UK Operations Ltd provided additional information to HCC to support 
their planning application of the 18 January 2022 to extract sharp sand and 
gravel from the former Hamble Airfield site. The planning and strategic issues 
and reasons for objection to minerals extraction from the Hamble Airfield site 
were previously reported to the Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound Local 
Area Committee on 3 March 2022 and reported to Cabinet on 24 March 2022. 

4. The Council have been granted an extension to respond to the additional 
planning application information until 30 January 2023. A separate response 
is being prepared which will be reported to the Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and 
Hound Local Area Committee on 26 January 2023. 

5. A summary of the Council’s objections to the continued inclusion of the 
Hamble Airfield site in the HMWP, and the current planning application as 
reported to the Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound Local Area Committee 
on 3 March 2022 and reported to Cabinet on 24 March 2022 is provided later 
in the report. However, this paper predominantly seeks to provide an overview 
and response to the overall HMWP partial update consultation. 

Background to the current HMWP 

6. The current HMWP was adopted by the Hampshire Authorities in 2013 and 
covers the period up to 2030. It aims to deliver sustainable minerals and 
waste development in Hampshire ensuring the right development, in the right 
place, at the right time, through the supply of sufficient minerals to support the 
economy and to deal with waste effectively, while protecting Hampshire’s 
environment and communities from the impacts of such development. 

7. Several strategic sites to provide an adequate and steady supply of locally 
(across Hampshire) extracted sand and gravel were outlined in the Plan. This 

12



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

included, at the time of the Plan’s adoption, 13 current and permitted sites, 
extensions to two existing sites and five new sand and gravel extraction sites. 
Of these allocated sites, one is located within the Council’s area, the former 
Hamble Airfield.  

8. The Council began the process of assessing the suitability of the site and 
ultimately raised an objection for minerals extraction at Hamble Airfield in the 
emerging HMWP in the spring of 2012. This case included the significant 
ecological, economic, amenity, transport, road safety and air quality issues for 
this site, and questioned the overall assessment of the supply of land-won 
(i.e., not marine-won or recycled) minerals identified as needed from 
Hampshire sites, at the time. 

 
9. Cabinet subsequently approved a response on 6 December 2012 for 

submission to the examination of the HMWP by the independent inspector. 
The representation of the Council, drafted by Adams Hendry Consulting Ltd, is 
attached at Appendix 1. In summary the representation sought to address five 
key policies pertaining to the Council’s objections including protecting public 
health and safety, aggregate supply – capacity and sources, recycled and 
secondary aggregate development, aggregate wharves and rail deports and 
local land-won aggregates. 

10. In response to the Council’s objections in 2013, HCC indicated that some of 
the Council’s objections (e.g., on traffic and ecology issues) could not be 
considered within the policies of the strategic HMWP but would need to be 
made in relation to specific development applications in the future. These 
objections have therefore also been made against the current planning 
application (as detailed within the Hamble Airfield Allocation and Previous 
Grounds for Objection sections below). 

11. An independent Planning Inspector, appointed to examine the plan in 2012, 
reported in the summer of 2013 that the plan was ‘sound’, subject to some 
modifications. The Hampshire Authorities adopted the Plan on 15 October 
2013 (a six-week legal challenge period also ended on 25 November 2013). 

HMWP partial update consultation 

12. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that plans are 
reviewed at least every five years. The HMWP was reviewed in 2018, and a 
number of issues were identified to be kept under review but overall, the 
HMWP was found to not require an update at that time. A further review was 
undertaken in 2020 which concluded that parts of the plan needed to be 
updated to reflect changes in policy and to address issues with mineral and 
waste management provision. 

13. The draft Plan is the first stage in updating the HMWP adopted in 2013. The 
Hampshire Authorities are working to produce a partial update to the HMWP 
which will guide minerals and waste decision making in the Plan Area up until 
2040. 

13



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

14. In particular, the draft Plan includes revisions to extend the plan period until 
2040, addresses new planning policy that requires biodiversity net gain from 
all developments, provides a greater focus on planning for climate change and 
gives a stronger application of the waste hierarchy and circular economy to 
enable a steady and adequate supply of aggregates. These principles are 
broadly supported by the Council. 

15. The partial update to the Plan will build upon the currently adopted HMWP 
(2013) and will eventually provide new and updated policies based on up-to-
date evidence of the current levels of provision for minerals and waste 
facilities in the Plan area. A full revised draft Plan will be prepared in order to 
consider the partial updates within the context of the overall Plan.   

16. The partial update aims to establish the future levels of provision required to 
meet national and regional policy targets and objectives. It will set out an 
updated vision of how this will be achieved and provide details of strategic 
sites proposed to deliver the vision. 

17. The Hampshire Authorities are inviting feedback from statutory consultees, 
stakeholders, communities, local organisations and businesses on the draft 
Plan for 12 weeks between 8 November 2022 and 31 January 2023. 

Council comments and consultation response  
 

18. Two sites for minerals and waste processing activities were put forward in the 
Eastleigh Borough Council area in the Sites proposal study1. These included 
Deer Park Farm (land at Scotland Copse), Knowle Lane, Horton Heath for the 
recycling of concrete, hardcore, inert soils and green waste for reuse in 
construction and the former Hamble Airfield for the extraction of between 1.5 
million tonnes2 (mt) and 1.6mt3 of sand and gravel.  

19. Although the Hampshire Authorities considered the site at Deer Park Farm to 
be a sustainable option for waste management, the site was not deemed to be 
of strategic value due to a capacity of less than 50,000 tonnes per annum 
(tpa). As such, the Hampshire Authorities removed this site for consideration 
however it is noted that in future, proposals could be considered through the 
planning application process.  

20. The site at the former Hamble Airfield was also considered to be “the best 
option for providing a local supply of sharp sand and gravel from south 

                                            
1
HMWP Partial Update, Site Proposal Study. August 2022 

 https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-MineralsandWaste-
SiteProposalStudy-August2022.pdf 
 
2
 HMWP Partial Update, page 81. October 2022 

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsandWastePlan-
PartialUpdateDraftPlan-October2022.pdf 
 
3
 HMWP Partial Update, Site Proposal Study, page 189. August 2022 

 https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-MineralsandWaste-
SiteProposalStudy-August2022.pdf 
 

14

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-MineralsandWaste-SiteProposalStudy-August2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-MineralsandWaste-SiteProposalStudy-August2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsandWastePlan-PartialUpdateDraftPlan-October2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsandWastePlan-PartialUpdateDraftPlan-October2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-MineralsandWaste-SiteProposalStudy-August2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-MineralsandWaste-SiteProposalStudy-August2022.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Hampshire”4 and as such has been retained as a site allocation within the 
HMWP partial update consultation.  

21. The Council continues to object to the inclusion of the former Hamble Airfield 
site as a site allocation and the grounds for the removal of the site are 
provided in the Hamble Airfield Allocation and Previous Grounds for Objection 
sections in the report below. The Council also objects to the increased 
quantity of minerals extraction from the Hamble Airfield site as indicated in the 
Site proposals study (the adopted Plan (2013) was for 1.5mt).   

22. The Hampshire Authorities have also outlined their suggested changes to 
several development management, minerals and waste policies within a 
partial update consultation paper5. The partial update consultation paper has 
been reviewed together with other supporting documents by teams across the 
Council and the comments forming the Council’s consultation response are 
provided below:  

(a) Traffic and transport 

(i) With regards to the former Hamble Airfield site allocation, the 
2013 Plan notes that “The south of Hampshire is a densely 
populated and a heavily developed area but has significant 
underlying sand and gravel resources which are close to the 
markets they serve. However, mineral working in these areas 
can present problems for local communities, particularly lorry 
traffic associated with extraction in locations such as Hamble 
and Hythe.”6 

(ii) It is acknowledged and welcomed that this statement has been 
retained within the HMWP partial update. Indeed, the updated 
Transport Assessment7 outlines that a new B-class access road 
would be required onto Hamble Lane should this development 
be brought forward, which is currently constrained in terms of 
capacity and road safety. The classification for this site within 
this part of the Transport Assessment is given an ‘Amber’ Red, 
Amber, Green (RAG) status. It is noted that the former Hamble 
Airfield site is the only ‘Amber’ rated site from a total of 35 sites 
across Hampshire and all of the others are rated ‘Green’. 

                                            
4
 HMWP Partial Update, Site Proposal Study, page 189. August 2022 

 https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-MineralsandWaste-
SiteProposalStudy-August2022.pdf 
 
5
 HMWP Partial Update, Have your say: Draft Plan Consultation Paper. August 2022 

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/DraftPlan-ConsultationPaper.pdf 
 
6
HMWP (adopted), paragraph 2.17, page 14. 2013 

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf 
 
7
 HMWP Strategic Transport Assessment, page 35. August 2022 

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-
TransportAssessmentDraftPlan-August2022.pdf 
 

15

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-MineralsandWaste-SiteProposalStudy-August2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-MineralsandWaste-SiteProposalStudy-August2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/DraftPlan-ConsultationPaper.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-TransportAssessmentDraftPlan-August2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-TransportAssessmentDraftPlan-August2022.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

(iii) Within the same document it is outlined that ‘Amber’ grading 
should only be “Applied for those sites where issues have been 
identified that may affect delivery of the site. These issues may 
relate to access, routeing or impact upon local residents and 
sensitive sites, but where a solution may be possible. It is 
recommended that any identified issues are resolved prior to the 
site being considered for allocation.” The Council agrees with 
this statement and suggests that the former Hamble Airfield site 
should therefore be removed as an allocation, at least until 
these issues have been resolved. 

(iv) Further to the above statement however, the Hampshire 
Authorities also go on to state that “Should an ‘amber’ site be 
considered for allocation, it is recommended that the site 
allocation policy makes specific reference to the issue identified 
and requires this to be resolved as part of any planning 
application.”  

(v) The RAG assessment is also only based upon estimated 
changes in traffic volumes, the requirement for mitigation and 
opportunities for sustainable modes of transport. However, the 
Council considers that the cumulative impacts of, for example, 
associated air quality and noise impacts arising from those 
increased traffic volumes should also be considered. This 
should result in a ‘Red’ grading which is defined as “Used for 
sites with serious concerns and where access may not be 
possible without requiring third party land or requiring significant 
improvements to the local road network, and where these issues 
are likely to influence the delivery of the site”.    

(vi) Policy 13: Managing traffic8 has also been amended from the 
adopted Plan (2013). Like the previous Plan, the policy outlines 
that minerals and waste development should have a safe and 
suitable access to the highway network and where possible 
minimise the impact of its generated traffic through the use of 
alternative methods of transportation. The previous policy 
wording however also outlined that highway improvements will 
be required to mitigate any significant adverse effects on 
highway safety, pedestrian safety, highway capacity and the 
environment and amenity. Unlike the previous version however, 
the suggested updated wording is weaker on mitigation and only 
outlines that a transport assessment or statement will be 
required (as appropriate) to consider the acceptability of 
routeing to the site and the impact(s) on the surrounding 
highway network, road safety for all users, sustainable 

                                            
8
 HMWP Partial Update, page 57. October 2022 

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsandWastePlan-
PartialUpdateDraftPlan-October2022.pdf 
 

16

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsandWastePlan-PartialUpdateDraftPlan-October2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsandWastePlan-PartialUpdateDraftPlan-October2022.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

accessibility, appropriate hours of working and (only) mitigation 
as appropriate.  

(vii) The Council strongly considers that mitigations should remain 
core to the policy. Furthermore, although the transport 
assessment provides the baseline vehicle movements data, it is 
considered that the assessments should consider the actual 
‘real world’ vehicle movement change and not just the change in 
‘permitted’ movements as this approach can lead to an 
underestimate of the change in vehicle movements and 
consequently the air quality and noise impacts. 

(viii) Systra transport consultants (Systra Ltd) have also undertaken a 
review of the traffic, transport and highways implications of the 
proposed updates on behalf of the Council. The sections below 
summarise their key findings against the Transport 
Assessment9, and a summary of each of the Policy changes are 
also provided in Appendix 2. 

(ix) It is noted at paragraph 3.7.2 that there is no joint strategic 
model covering the area of influence of the HMWP, and limited 
data on the precise vehicle movements associated with current 
minerals and waste facilities. This means that it is difficult to 
judge the estimates of movement associated with proposed new 
or expanded facilities against current “active” sites. 

(x) Paragraph 4.2.4 defines the criteria used to appraise the general 
suitability of a site for allocation for either minerals or waste 
purposes as being “well located in close proximity to the 
strategic or primary road network with good access”. Further 
definition is given as to how exactly a site is judged as being 
compliant (or not) with this requirement at paragraph 4.2.8; 
based on this information, the former Hamble Airfield site, for 
example, would arguably not meet this criteria on an initial 
review due to the constraints of Hamble Lane and therefore it is 
assumed that other factors have come into play in order for it to 
be recommended as an allocation. 

(xi) Paragraph 4.6.3 states that a “typical” daily variation in traffic 
flows on the Strategic Road Network is 10% and that an 
increase in traffic of 5% associated with the HMWP sites would 
not therefore be material. This is not a generally accepted 
argument as there is no agreed or “typical” figure for daily 
variation; this differs depending on the specific location(s) being 
considered. An increase in traffic of 5% (particularly made up 
principally of HGVs) could have significant effects if the location 

                                            
9
 HMWP Partial Update, Strategic Transport Assessment. August 2022 

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-
TransportAssessmentDraftPlan-August2022.pdf 
 

17

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-TransportAssessmentDraftPlan-August2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-TransportAssessmentDraftPlan-August2022.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

in question is already operating at or close to its theoretical 
design capacity. 

(xii) Overall, the Transport Assessment relies on a great deal of 
traffic flow information rather than any more detailed analysis of 
impacts, either in terms of capacities or wider impacts on safety 
or environmental issues. It is stated that these issues will be 
dealt with via planning applications, but it could be argued 
potentially that the Transport Assessments are not sufficiently 
detailed to identify or address issues which are critical for 
individual sites when those planning applications come forward 
(the former Hamble Airfield site being a prime example). 

(b) Air quality and noise pollution 

(i) The Hampshire Authorities, in their Sustainability Appraisal, 
Revised Scoping Report10 summarise that it is “important that 
the HMWP Partial Update supports the commitments and 
targets of the Plan area’s local authorities, particularly with 
respect to carbon dioxide, nitrogen oxides and methane”. The 
Council supports this statement however request that an 
accompanying explanation of the impact of pollutants at the 
local level is provided (for example, nitrogen dioxide is a greater 
issue along road corridors with particulate matter more 
widespread) - and it would be helpful to understand how this 
would relate to the various aspects of mineral and waste 
development. 

(ii) The Sustainability Appraisal, Revised Baseline Report11 also 
highlights the significance of air quality in terms of human health 
and impacts on the environment. It identifies current Air Quality 
Management Areas (AQMAs) in Hampshire, and recent 
legislation which the UK Government intends to use to 
strengthen standards further, especially particulate matter PM10 
and PM2.5. The Council again supports this inclusion however 
some of the data referred to is from 2017 (see Section 4.9 of 
that report and associated figures) and so this data will need 
updating.  

                                            
10

HMWP Partial Update, Sustainability Appraisal: Revised Scoping Report, pages 16-17. September 
2021 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-SA-RevisedScopingReport-
September2021.pdf  
 
11

HMWP Partial Update, Sustainability Appraisal: Revised Baseline Report, pages 99-101. September 
2021 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-Partial-Update-SA-RevisedBaselineReport-
September2021.pdf 
 

18

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-SA-RevisedScopingReport-September2021.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-SA-RevisedScopingReport-September2021.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-Partial-Update-SA-RevisedBaselineReport-September2021.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-Partial-Update-SA-RevisedBaselineReport-September2021.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

(iii) With particular regard to the former Hamble Airfield site, whilst 
the Hampshire Authorities Strategic Transport site assessment12 
notes that air quality has been identified as an important matter, 
it does not go on to assess air quality as the site is located 
outside of an AQMA. This misses an important consideration 
that due to the limited options for traffic to access the site, the 
majority of vehicle movements (and in particular HGVs) will have 
to travel though the Hamble Lane AQMA. As such, the Council 
believes that the air quality impacts are not properly considered. 

(iv) Furthermore, the Council considers that the anticipated increase 
of 154 HGV movements on the local road network has not been 
appropriately considered, particularly in relation to Policy 11: 
Protecting public health, safety, amenity and well-being, nor with 
the residents within the Noise Important Area (NIA) (reference 
ID 5556) on Hamble Lane for which HCC are the relevant 
authority. Furthermore, discussion of Noise Important Areas13 
within the Sustainability Appraisal: Revised Baseline Report 
does not make clear the role of HCC in being the responsible 
authority. 

(c) Ecology 

Former Hamble Airfield site allocation 

(i) The development considerations listed in the Site allocation 
details in the HMWP partial update for Hamble Airfield include: 

 Protection of the Solent and Southampton Water Special 
Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar and Solent Maritime 
Special Areas of Conservation (SACs). 

 The impact on all roosting and foraging areas used by 
qualifying bird species of nearby SPA and Ramsar. Mitigation 
and possible compensation likely to be required.  

 Protection of the Lee on Solent to Itchen Valley Estuary Site 
of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). 

 The impact on Badnam Copse and West Wood Site of 
Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC).  

 Early habitats creation is required providing linkages and a 
wide array of habitats. 

 Areas of the site will need to remain undeveloped to provide 
mitigation and/or buffers.  

                                            
12

HMWP Partial Update, Strategic Transport Assessment, pages 53-55. August 2022 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-
TransportAssessmentDraftPlan-August2022.pdf 
13

 HMWP Partial Update, Sustainability Appraisal: Revised Baseline Report, pages 122-123. 
September 2021 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-Partial-Update-SA-RevisedBaselineReport-
September2021.pdf 

19

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-TransportAssessmentDraftPlan-August2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-TransportAssessmentDraftPlan-August2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-Partial-Update-SA-RevisedBaselineReport-September2021.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-Partial-Update-SA-RevisedBaselineReport-September2021.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 Safeguarding of adjacent public rights of way (footpath no. 
1).  

 Maintain and manage existing informal recreational use of 
the site. 
 

(ii) These considerations recognise that the site is presently used 
extensively for public recreation, which although technically 
considered trespassing, has continued and developed over an 
extensive period of time. Dog-walking forms a very high 
proportion of the existing recreational use and allocation of the 
airfield for gravel extraction is highly likely to displace the vast 
majority of the users to alternative locations.  

(iii) It is likely that many will seek to use alternative coastal sites 
located nearby such as Hamble Common and the foreshore of 
Southampton Water which form part of the Solent and 
Southampton Water SPA and Ramsar and Solent Maritime 
SAC. The component species for these sites (particularly brent 
geese and waders) are highly susceptible to recreational 
disturbance, especially that caused by dog walking.  

(iv) Suitable mitigation and/or compensation to avoid significant 
impacts on SPA and SAC species would be very hard to 
achieve and on-site options such as retaining areas for 
recreation around/adjacent to active quarrying are also unlikely 
to be viable given the amount of existing use.   

(v) Development of the site will therefore likely lead to significant 
effects on the Solent and Southampton Water SPA and Ramsar 
and Solent Maritime SACs through displacement of existing 
recreational use and so the Council also considers that the 
former Hamble Airfield site allocation should be removed from 
the updated HMWP on this basis.  

Deer Park Farm 

(vi) Although Deer Park Farm was not deemed to be of strategic 
value and was therefore not allocated as a site within the HMWP 
partial update, it is noted that although the site has no statutory 
or non-statutory designations, it does lie directly adjacent to 
Knowle Land Site SINC on its north-eastern boundary and 
Knowlehill Copse Ancient Woodland SINC is also located 
around 120m northwest from the site. In particular, Policy DM11 
(Biodiversity) of the Eastleigh Local Plan requires suitable 
buffering of SINCs from development. Furthermore, the site is 
also buffered by several areas which have been identified as 
“Ecological Network Opportunities” on the Hampshire Ecological 
Network Mapping and the site is around 2.9km from the River 
Itchen SAC.  

20



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

(vii) While the site has no official ecological designation it is still likely 
to be used by a range of species for breeding and foraging. The 
site also lies close to Knowle Land/Wyvern Priority biodiversity 
area in the Eastleigh Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP). The BAP is 
currently under revision and this priority area is likely to be 
expanded to include the habitat surrounding the site. 

Ecology related policies  

(viii) Policy 3 of the updated HMWP (Protection of habitats and 
species) has been updated to reflect that the transposition of 
European Union (EU) legislation has been changed following 
the UK’s exit from the EU. Consideration is also given to the 
introduction of requirements through the Environment Act (e.g. 
Biodiversity Net Gain, Nature Recovery Networks) and 
reference to Local Nature Recovery Strategies in the supporting 
text. 

(ix) Policy 9 of the updated HMWP (Protection of soils) has also 
been amended to clarify that soils should be protected 
throughout the life of the development (and not just during 
construction/development). 

(x) An additional policy has also been included in the Plan to 
address the importance of water in Hampshire. This covers not 
only water quality and supply, but also recognises the 
importance of river corridors and the issue of nitrate neutrality.  

(xi) Within the supporting text and/or policy wording as appropriate, 
it is suggested that the following (or similar) is added to provide 
greater detail and emphasis on the importance of water quality: 
“Impacts to water quality can manifest from silty or contaminated 
run off and stormwater overflow, causing hazard to aquatic and 
riparian wildlife. Significant impacts to streams and water bodies 
can result from changing water table levels such as a gradient 
lowering around a quarry from dewatering, disruption or blocking 
ground water flow, or impacting perched ground waters or spring 
waters below or springs above ground. It is essential for mineral 
site operators to carry out detailed assessment and 
environmental engineering design for the protection of water 
quality and quantity, and habitat and wildlife before construction 
and operation of a quarry begin, and to monitor the 
effectiveness of these throughout the lifetime and for effective 
restoration.”     

(d) Protecting public health, safety, amenity and well-being 

(i) In line with updated national planning policy, Policy 11: 
Protecting public health, safety, amenity and well-being, in an 
update from the previous Plan, outlines that “Planning policies 
and decisions should also ensure that new development is 

21



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects 
(including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living 
conditions and the natural environment”14.  

(ii) Greater consideration is given to the quality of life and well-
being of Hampshire’s residents seeking to ensure that minerals 
and waste development does not reduce air quality and that 
residents are less disturbed by minerals and waste activities. 
This will be achieved by high-quality design and restoration 
schemes which improve health and well-being. 

(iii) The Council welcomes an increased emphasis on wellbeing. 
The Policy now states that “Minerals and waste development 
should not cause adverse public health and safety impacts, and 
unacceptable adverse amenity impacts on well-being”. This 
being the case, the Council believes that, as outlined under 
Traffic and Transport above, the cumulative air quality impacts 
should also be assessed as part of the Transport Assessment. 

(iv) Many of the criteria under Policy 11 (Protecting public health, 
safety, amenity and well-being) will be fulfilled by minerals and 
waste operators adopting appropriate management systems 
such as International Standards, organisation controls and other 
operational controls. The Policy should recognise however that 
reliance on these other regimes will not necessarily ensure a 
good or high standard of amenity and the criteria should be 
updated to reflect this. For example, even where demonstrable 
impact is occurring and causing community annoyance, should 
operators show a defence of best practicable means, no 
mitigation actions may be possible which could potentially result 
in significant loss of amenity to the local community.  

(e) Community benefits and engagement 

(i) In the adopted HMWP (2013), Policy 14, the Hampshire 
Authorities were encouraged to negotiate agreements between 
relevant minerals and waste developers/operators and a 
community as a source of funding for local benefits. In the 
HMWP partial update however this Policy has been removed. 

(ii) The Council objects to the removal of this policy. It is noted that 
Planning obligations are able to be used to address the 
unacceptable impacts of minerals and waste developments 
however these cannot be used to provide more general 
unrelated community benefits to compensate for the local 
inconvenience of such developments. 

                                            
14

 National Planning Policy Framework, Paragraph 185. 2021 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/10
05759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf 
 

22

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

(f) Waste 

(i) With regards to waste, the HMWP partial update notes that 
“There is a national drive to create a circular economy, treat 
waste as high as possible up the waste hierarchy and send zero 
waste to landfill, for both non-hazardous waste and inert waste. 
The principle of producing energy from waste continues to be 
supported as part of a sustainable network of waste 
management infrastructure. However, this has implications in 
terms of the need for more built facilities to recycle or recover 
waste including aggregate recycling. These facilities can often 
present problems such as noise, traffic and dust which can 
make it difficult to find suitable sites for minerals and waste 
development. Although the Plan promotes the concept of zero 
waste to landfill, it recognises that the facilities to achieve this 
are not yet in place, so some landfill is still needed in the Plan 
period”. 

(ii) No references are made anywhere within the partial update 
however to the Chickenhall Lane Materials Recycling Facility 
(MRF) planning application (which has now been approved 
(HCC planning reference HCC/2022/0071)).  

(iii) The Council believes that the Chickenhall Lane MRF should be 
included within the HMWP partial update as it will be critical to 
the County achieving a 65% recycling rate by 2035, in line with 
the Environment Act 2021. Policy 27: Capacity for waste 
management development and Policy 29: Locations and sites 
for waste management should therefore be updated. It is noted 
however that Policy 25: Sustainable waste management has 
been updated to reflect the updated targets for recycling. 

(g) Change in the demand for aggregates 

(i) At the time of the Plan adoption (2013), to ensure an adequate 
and steady supply of aggregates from 2011 to 2030, the 
Hampshire Authorities agreed a Local land-won requirement for 
a sharp sand and gravel extraction of 24.67mt at a rate of 
1.28mtpa, based on the 10-year average sales figure from 2001-
2010 despite the rate falling significantly (from 1.79 to 0.84mtpa) 
over that period.15  

(ii) In the partial Plan update however, the Hampshire Authorities 
suggest that, to ensure a steady supply of aggregates from 2021 
to 2040, a Local land-won requirement for a sharp sand and 
gravel extraction of 17.48mt at a rate of 0.92mtpa, based on the 
10-year average sales figure from 2011-2020 is now required.16 

                                            
15

 HMWP (adopted), Policy 17, page 66. 2013 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf 
 
16

 HMWP Partial Update, Table 6.3, page 84. October 2022 

23

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

The permitted reserves of sharp sand and gravel in the partial 
Plan update stand at 11.02mt. This therefore identifies a 
requirement for 6.46mt over the Plan period. It is noted however 
that there is also a clause which outlines that, should the stated 
need increase by more than 10% over three years, then the 
provision would be increased accordingly. 

(iii) The identified sites in the draft Plan (yield) however provide a 
further 14.14mt which exceeds the requirement by 7.68mt. This 
over supply, for example, exceeds the Hamble Airfield site 
allocation. Given the Council’s continued objections to the site 
being brought forward as an allocation and the fact that the 
supply could be sought from alternative site allocations (all of 
which are considered to have fewer constraints), the Council 
again requests that the former Hamble Airfield site allocation 
should be removed from the Plan and the partial update. 

(iv) The Hampshire Authorities have also calculated a projected 
‘depletion rate’ (the rate at which a site will deplete supply) for 
each of the existing operations and allocations for the new Plan 
period17. The depletion rate shows that the HMWP partial 
update would only experience a small shortfall at the very end of 
the Plan period (2039/40). The Hampshire Authorities state that 
this trend will require additional development to address this 
shortfall. However, the Council opposes this position and 
suggest that the trend provides a weak argument to bring 
forward additional development earlier and that a more regular 
review should rather be undertaken.  

(v) With regards to the overall direction of travel for reducing 
aggregate demand, the Council also anticipates an increasing 
focus on using more sustainable products such as ‘green’ 
concrete, recycled aggregates and using alternative construction 
techniques. Furthermore, Government policy is supporting 
Modern Methods of Construction and offsite construction in 
order to address delays, costs and environmental impacts of 
traditional construction. The Hampshire Authorities also noted 
within the Minerals Background Study, that the previous two-
year period between 2019 and 2020 has been that of 
uncertainty due to the departure from the European Union and 
the Covid-19 pandemic. These factors, together with the now 
more relevant impacts of an economic decline due to inflation 
and higher costs of borrowing are likely to lead to continued 
reduced demand for aggregates. 

                                                                                                                                        
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsandWastePlan-
PartialUpdateDraftPlan-October2022.pdf 
 
17

Minerals Background Study, Paragraph 5.107, page 56. August 2022 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-MineralsBackgroundstudy-
August2022.pdf 
 

24

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsandWastePlan-PartialUpdateDraftPlan-October2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsandWastePlan-PartialUpdateDraftPlan-October2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-MineralsBackgroundstudy-August2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-MineralsBackgroundstudy-August2022.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Hamble Airfield Allocation 
 

23. As outlined earlier in this report, the Council also received notification on 5 
December 2022 that Cemex UK Operations Ltd had provided additional 
information to HCC for consultation to support their planning application from 
the 18 January 2022 to extract sharp sand and gravel from the former Hamble 
Airfield site.  

24. The site was allocated by the Hampshire Authorities in the HMWP (adopted) 
2013 and continues to be a site allocation in the partial plan update. The 
Hampshire Authorities consider the site “to be the best option for providing a 
local supply of sharp sand and gravel from this part of south Hampshire”.18  

25. The former Hamble Airfield, north of Hamble-le-Rice covers an area of 62 
hectares and has an existing land use of scrub vegetation and rough grazing. 
The application was for the proposed extraction of sand and gravel with 
restoration to grazing land and recreation using imported inert restoration 
materials, the erection of associated plant and infrastructure and the creation 
of a new footpath and an access onto Hamble Lane at the former Hamble 
Airfield, Hamble Lane, Hamble-le-Rice, SO31 4NL. A site map is provided in 
Appendix 3. 

Previous grounds for objections 

26. The strategic issues and reasons for objection of minerals extraction from the 
former Hamble Airfield site were previously reported to the Bursledon, 
Hamble-le-Rice and Hound Local Area Committee on 3 March 2022 and 
brought to Cabinet on 24 March 2022. The additional information received 
from Cemex UK Operations Ltd on 5 December 2022 is currently being 
reviewed and will be reported separately to the Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice 
and Hound Local Area Committee on 26 January 2023. 

27. The following sections provide a summary of the Council’s long-standing 
objections to both the site being allocated within the HMWP, and the Cemex 
UK Operations Ltd site application itself. Please note that these objections are 
subject to update following review and reporting of the additional information 
to the Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound Local Area Committee:  

(a) Policy principles: The proposal is for 1.7million tonnes of extraction 
which exceeds the 1.5mt envisaged from this site in the HMWP and is 
therefore likely to result in greater impact than those originally 
considered when the site was allocated. Other less sensitive sites 
should be properly assessed, with less weight given to the locational 
merits of the Hamble site (to serve demand in south Hampshire) where 
there are such significant environmental considerations weighing 
against this. 

                                            
18

 HMWP Partial Update, page 171. October 2022 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsandWastePlan-
PartialUpdateDraftPlan-October2022.pdf 
 

25

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsandWastePlan-PartialUpdateDraftPlan-October2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsandWastePlan-PartialUpdateDraftPlan-October2022.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

(b) Local economy: the Council considers that the economic 
disadvantages in the form of traffic disruption to local businesses and 
pollution, outweigh the benefits. 

(c) Highway implications:  

(i) Concerns about the increased level of traffic generated by the 
site, particularly HGVs against the background of an already 
severely congested road at peak times.  

(ii) Implications for congestion and road safety, particularly for 
pedestrians, including schoolchildren from the two nearby 
schools. Implications for emergency services and businesses in 
Hamble. Impacts relating to pedestrian safety, amenity and 
pollution (with the northern end of Hamble Lane being an Air 
Quality Management Area). 

(iii) Concerns about the proper assessment of existing and future 
baseline traffic and a lack of detailed raw traffic count and trip 
data, upon which to form an accurate assessment.  Lack of 
assessment of the capacity of several junctions through which 
proposed HGV and other traffic generated by the development 
would travel. 

(iv) Evidence from an appeal decision (ref 325559, decision date 
15/1/21) indicating existing significant congestion at peak times 
at certain junctions. This appeal also raises questions of 
deliverability of the HCC Hamble Lane Improvement Scheme. 

(d) Pollution: as well as being unable to properly assess pollution relating 
to traffic due to the lack of traffic data provided, there is a need for the 
applicant to provide further information about noise and dust at the site. 

(e) Ecology: the Council considers that the applicant has underestimated 
the ecological value of the site. Furthermore, the applicant has not 
addressed the displacement of significant recreational activity (dog 
walking) to other sites nearby including the designated site of Hamble 
Common (SSSI). 

(f) Tree impacts: the Council objects to the removal of three valuable 
mature trees at the site access and seeks more information on the 
choice of site access. 

(g) Landscaping: screening bunds are overly engineered and need to be 
redesigned. Landscaping impacts on local residents has been 
underestimated. 

(h) Sensitivity of the affected area and populations: 

(i) the nearest residential properties to the site (all within 50m) are 
those in Hamble Lane, Satchell Lane and those to the south of 

26



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

the site. As noted in the adopted HMWP (2013)19, “it is standard 
practice in Hampshire for operational mineral extraction and 
inert waste recycling sites to have a minimum buffer zone of 100 
metres, where appropriate, from the nearest sensitive human 
receptors, such as homes and schools”.   

(ii) the proposals suggest that the minerals processing area and 
stockpiles will be located more than 100m from any dust 
sensitive receptors whereas the Institute of Air Quality 
Management (IAQM) recommends at least 250m. 

(iii) there are two schools in close proximity which are Hamble 
School (secondary) around 100m to the north of the site, and 
Hamble Primary around 200m to the south-west along Hamble 
Lane. The secondary school has grown significantly since 2013 
as has the usage of the leisure facilities on the school site. The 
Hamble School has placed staff near the railway station as 
stewards to ensure that students are safe crossing Hamble Lane 
and accessing the rail station.  

(iv) the Blackthorn Health Centre on Satchell Lane is currently home 
to the GP services for the whole peninsula, and the Lowford 
Surgery in Bursledon acting as the location for a range of clinics 
and treatment. This means that that there are further increases 
in trips up and down Hamble Lane; in many cases these will be 
vulnerable sometimes elderly patients, many with existing long-
term conditions such as Asthma and COPD, which are highly 
sensitive to air pollution. In this application the effects of dust 
need to be considered, including links to silicosis which may not 
present in the patient for several years.  

28. In order to mitigate against these issues, should development of the site 
ultimately come forward, the Council asked HCC, through its consultation 
responses and committee reports in March 2022, to ensure the applicant 
provided the following mitigations. Please note that these are currently subject 
to review following the additional site-related planning application information 
received from Cemex UK Operations Ltd, and will be reported separately to 
the Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound Local Area Committee on the 26 
January 2023: 

(a) Provision and monitoring of all measures required to mitigate adverse 
impacts of the development; 

(b) Provision of any necessary off-site highway improvements; 

(c) Restoration of the site in line with policy requirements and provision of 
long-term management and maintenance; 

                                            
19

 HMWP (adopted), Paragraph 5.15, page 48. 2013 
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf 

27

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

(d) On-going monitoring and public engagement in relation to pollution 
control mitigation throughout the operational phase of development 
(including restoration phases); 

(e) Detailed timetable for the restoration works, to include maintenance 
plans for the duration of the works and following completion;  

(f) Provision of contaminated land site assessment and agreement of any 
necessary mitigation measures; 

(g) Provision of a net gain in biodiversity including habitat for breeding 
birds; and 

(h) Detailed timetable for habitat restoration works to ensure existing 
species populations are maintained and new habitat provided at 
appropriate times.   

Next steps for the HMWP partial Plan update consultation 

29. Following consultation on the HMWP partial update and supporting 
documents, the Hampshire Authorities intend to review the responses, 
prepare, and publish a consultation summary report. All relevant material 
planning issues raised will be considered and the evidence base and Plan will 
be amended accordingly.  

30. The comments received will be used to inform the Proposed Submission Plan 
which is due to be subject to consultation during Summer 2023. It is then 
intended that the Hampshire Authorities will submit the partial update Plan to 
the Secretary of State by February 2024. 

31. At the same time as this consultation, a report is also being prepared for the 
Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice, and Hound Local Area Committee on the 26 
January 2023 to update on the issues previously reported to that committee 
relating to the objection of the Cemex UK Operations Ltd planning application 
for the extraction of minerals from the former Hamble Airfield site, in light of 
the release of additional information.    

Financial Implications 

32. There are no direct financial implications as a result of responding to the 
HMWP partial update consultation. Furthermore, HCC is the responsible 
Minerals and Waste Planning Authority therefore any subsequent planning 
application(s) and future policy developments will be managed by HCC.  

Risk Assessment 

33. Without revising the HMWP, there would be a risk that the Hampshire 
Authorities would not meet the aim to supply sufficient minerals to support the 
economy and to deal with waste effectively, while protecting Hampshire’s 
environment and communities from the impacts of such development. 

28



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

34. With regards to the continued allocation of the former Hamble Airfield site 
within the HMWP partial update however, and as identified within the grounds 
for continued objection above, the proposal has significant risk to the 
environment and society. Risks to the environment include loss of habitat and 
species, increased carbon emissions and detrimental impact on climate 
change (please see the Climate Change and Environmental Implications 
below).   

35. Health and safety risks to society will also arise from increased traffic, air 
pollution and dust, all of which are likely to impact local residents and school 
pupils, and also have a disproportionate impact on some groups. Increased 
traffic congestion would also negatively impact local businesses. 

36. Should the Council not respond to the HMWP consultation there is also a risk 
that the long-standing objection regarding the former Hamble Airfield site 
allocation raised by the Council would not be considered by HCC through the 
HMWP plan review process.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

37. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it is a 
response to a consultation by an external organisation. 

38. HCC have undertaken an Equalities Impact Assessment as part of the partial 
plan update20. In summary, it was considered that no aspects of the proposed 
Plan, including how it is delivered or accessed would contribute to inequality 
and none of the proposed decisions would have an adverse impact upon the 
lives of people, including employees and service users.     

39. In specific relation to the former Hamble Airfield site however, as an example, 
there are two schools nearby and so the Council considers that children and 
young people (and their parents) would disproportionately suffer any road 
safety and amenity impacts of a gravel extraction. The worsening of Hamble 
Lane’s Air Quality Management Area would also disproportionately affect 
small children, disabled and older people. 

40. Vulnerable road users, for example those with protected characteristics in 
relation to disability and age, would also be disproportionately impacted at key 
points along Hamble Lane. In particular, the closure of the Bursledon Surgery 
has necessitated additional travel needs for local residents to access 
alternative health provision (now provided for at Blackthorn Health Centre). 

41. The Council strongly considers that HCC should thoroughly review their 
assessment of equality and diversity implications.  

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

                                            
20

 HMWP Partial Update, Equalities Impact Assessment. August 2022  
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-
EqualitiesImpactAssessment-August2022.pdf 
 

29

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-EqualitiesImpactAssessment-August2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HMWP-PartialUpdate-EqualitiesImpactAssessment-August2022.pdf


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

42. The HMWP partial update has introduced a greater focus on planning for 
climate change. In particular, Policy 2 of the HWMP partial update states that 
minerals and waste development will be supported that:  

a. contributes towards mitigating the causes of climate change by:  
 
i. Being located and designed to encourage the sustainable use of 
resources; and 
ii. Reducing greenhouse gas emissions, where applicable; and/or  
iii. Facilitating low carbon technologies; and  

b. reduces vulnerability and provides resilience to the impacts of climate 
change through location and design and the incorporation of adaptation 
measures.  

43. Additionally, minerals and waste development proposals should also be 
supported by a Climate Change Assessment which demonstrates how these 
opportunities have been considered, and where appropriate, incorporated.  

44. Although this strengthening of the policy is welcomed by the Council (and that 
it better aligns with the Council’s own Climate and Environmental Emergency 
declaration) the Council continues to object to this element of the updated 
partial Plan as it recognises that any development within the Borough would 
lead to an increase of carbon emissions and would contribute to the continued 
decline of our environment. 

45. Furthermore, HCC have also declared a Climate Emergency. The carbon 
hierarchy is identified as a key principle within their strategy, whereby carbon-
intensive activities should be avoided in the first place. Permission by HCC for 
future developments would therefore be inconsistent with their strategy. 

Conclusion 

46. The Hampshire Authorities have proposed several revisions to the partial 
update of the HMWP pertaining to the Plan vision and objectives, 
development management and minerals and waste policies. 

47. Although the Council recognises the need for the partial update and broadly 
supports updates based on the latest available information and best practise, 
the Council has outlined several areas of inconsistency and objection, as 
identified above, and requests that these areas are considered for the next 
step for Plan preparation. 

48. In summary, it is recommended that Cabinet responds to the HWMP partial 
update consultation and formally requests that HCC remove the former 
Hamble Airfield as an allocated site for minerals extraction from the HMWP 
partial update. 

49. In relation to the former Hamble Airfield site, although the further information 
relating to the planning application is to be reported to the Bursledon, Hamble-
le-Rice and Hound Local Area Committee on 26 January 2023, the Council 

30



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

continues to uphold its longstanding objections to this application, and 
continued allocation of it within the HWMP partial update, as set out above.  

50. In particular, over the last 10 years there has been considerable change in 
traffic movements, school attendances, the location of local health services 
and government policy relating to climate change and methods of 
construction. These changes continue to amplify and build upon objections 
made in 2012 and 2022 and provide evidence both that the current application 
is inappropriate and that the site allocation itself should be removed from the 
HMWP, and now the HMWP partial update. 

MIKE CULVER, STRATEGIC PLANNING LEAD (ENVIRONMENT) 
 
Date: 23 January 2023 
Contact Officer: Mike Culver  
Tel No: Ext: 8472 
e-mail: mike.culver@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 3 
 
Appendix 1: Previous representation, on behalf of the Council by Adams Hendry 
Consulting Ltd Map of Hamble Airfield site 
Appendix 2: Transport review of the HMWP partial update from transport 
consultants, Systra Ltd 
Appendix 3: Hamble Airfield site location plan 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

Background Papers 
 

Report of the Area Coordinator for Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound to Cabinet on 
17th May 2012 
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/documents/s21475/Report.pdf 
 
Report of the Area Coordinator for Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound to Cabinet on 
6th December 2012 
http://ebc01-132:8080/documents/s50005202/Report%20and%20Appendix.pdf 
 
Report from the Case Officer for Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound Local Area 
Committee on 
3rd March 2022 
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=250&MId=6870&Ver=4 
 
Report to Cabinet on 24th March 2022 
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/documents/s50033287/CONSULTEE%20RESPON
SE%20TO%20PLANNING%20APPLICATION%20FOR%20GRAVEL%20EXTRACTI
ON%20AT%20HAMBLE%20AIRFIELD_v1.pdf 

31

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/documents/s21475/Report.pdf
http://ebc01-132:8080/documents/s50005202/Report%20and%20Appendix.pdf
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=250&MId=6870&Ver=4
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/documents/s50033287/CONSULTEE%20RESPONSE%20TO%20PLANNING%20APPLICATION%20FOR%20GRAVEL%20EXTRACTION%20AT%20HAMBLE%20AIRFIELD_v1.pdf
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/documents/s50033287/CONSULTEE%20RESPONSE%20TO%20PLANNING%20APPLICATION%20FOR%20GRAVEL%20EXTRACTION%20AT%20HAMBLE%20AIRFIELD_v1.pdf
https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/documents/s50033287/CONSULTEE%20RESPONSE%20TO%20PLANNING%20APPLICATION%20FOR%20GRAVEL%20EXTRACTION%20AT%20HAMBLE%20AIRFIELD_v1.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Appendix 1: 

Previous representation, on behalf of the  

Council by Adams Hendry Consulting Ltd. 06/12/2012 

Draft Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (dHMWP) 

Post Examination in Public Proposed Modifications 

Eastleigh Borough Council – Draft Response to Modifications 

Overview 

1. Following the Examination in Public (EiP) into the dHMWP Hampshire County 
Council (HCC) has published for consultation their proposed modifications to the 
dHMWP. 

 
2. The consultation period is open until the 17th December 2012 and all submitted 

responses to the modifications will be submitted to the EiP Inspector for further 
consideration. That consideration may also lead to further sessions of the EiP. 

 

3. This Advice Note identifies a proposed approach to responding to those  
modifications that affect the case previously stated by Eastleigh Borough Council 
(EBC) in respect of the dHMWP. It considers both changes that have been made, 
and those that have not. 

 
4. Having reviewed the proposed text of new Policy 1 it is considered that the 

suggested text broadly follows both the Inspectors debate at the EiP and the 
provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
5. The provisions of policies 2 – 9 (previously policies 1 - 8), including their 

modifications, are not considered to introduce new matters that affect the case 
previously submitted by EBC. 

 
6. The same is considered of policies 11 – 16 and policies 21 – 24. Policies 25 – 33 

relate to waste management and have not previously been applicable to EBC’s 
case whilst policy 34 relates to safeguarding potential minerals and waste wharf  
and rail depot infrastructure, on which comments were not previously submitted. 

 
7. This advice note therefore focuses only on the submitted points of EBC’s case rather 

than opening wholly new areas of representation. 
 

8. The previously stated components of EBC’s case addressed in this advice note are 
as follows: 

 
 Policy 9, now 10: Protecting public health safety and amenity 
 Policy 17: Aggregate supply – capacity and sources 
 Policy 18: Recycled and secondary aggregate development 
 Policy 19: Aggregate wharves and rail depots 
 Policy 20: Local land-won aggregates 

 

 
 

33



 

 

 

 

Policy 9, now 10: Protecting public health safety and amenity (draft Change 36 

and draft Change 38) 

9. EBC’s representation sought, in summary, changes to the text of the draft policy to 
include the following provision: 

 
To ensure the impacts of Minerals sites upon public health, safety and amenity are 
appropriately controlled a minimum safeguarding buffer of 100 metres between 
sensitive receptors and new minerals sites will be applied to all minerals-related 
development. Where necessary this buffer will be increased to reflect the needs of the 
receiving environment. 

10. It also sought alterations to the explanatory text to the policy at paragraph 4.13 (now 
5.14) as follows: 

 
The screening of sites and other mitigation measures are often required to ensure that the 
potential impacts of minerals and waste development on the habitats, landscape, townscape 
and local communities are acceptable. It has been is standard practice in Hampshire for the 
operational mineral extraction and inert waste recycling sites to have buffer zones of 100 
metres from the nearest sensitive receptors, such as homes and schools. A 100 metres 
wide buffer zone will be applied to all new minerals developments as a minimum 
buffer and consideration will be given to larger buffer zones where the impacts upon 
the receiving environment necessitate greater protection, for example in areas where 
minerals are proposed to be worked alongside concentrations of population, schools, 
community land uses and facilities. Developments handling bio-wastes, such as landfill 
and composting sites may have to have a buffer zone of up to 250 metres from sensitive 
receptors unless there are exceptional circumstances such as mitigation measures which 
can reduce the size of the buffer. 

 

11. The proposed modifications do not amend the policy accordingly but do include the 
following change in the explanatory text: 

 
The screening of sites [text continues as before]… It is standard practice in Hampshire for 
operational mineral extraction and inert waste recycling sites to have a minimum buffer zone 
of 100 metres from the nearest sensitive receptors, such as homes and schools though this 
distance will be reviewed on a case-by-case basis. 

 
12. Two approaches might be pursued in response to the proposed modification: 

 

 To reiterate the original objection to the policy, accepting the change to the text 
but requiring also the change to policy for clarity and application across all 
development control decisions; or 

 To accept the change to the text as an acceptable outcome on the basis of the 
original representations made. 

 
13. The first approach is recommended. 

 
 

 

 

34



 

 

 

 

Policy 17: Aggregate supply – capacity and sources 

 
14. EBC’s representation sought to secure the following change to Policy 17: 

 
An adequate and steady supply of aggregates until 2030 will be provided for 
Hampshire and surrounding areas to meet a total annual supply of 4.44Mtpa from the 
following sources and at the following rates: 

 

i. 1.0 Mtpa of recycled and secondary aggregates; and 

 
ii. 2.0 Mtpa of marine dredged aggregates; and 

 
iii. 1.0 Mtpa of limestone delivered by rail from Somerset. 

 
iv. a minimum of 0.44 Mtpa of land won sands and gravel 

 
15. And the following change to the explanatory text to the policy at paragraph 5.1.19: 

 
Policy 17 will enable the supply of 4.44Mtpa of aggregates reflecting the average 
supply from the past 10 years of sales and exceeding recent sales during the past 5 
years by 30%. could enable a supply of aggregates of 5.56 Mtpa which is some 25 % 
above average sales, production and landings of 4.44 Mtpa over the last 10 years(60). 
The additional provision allows for significant resilience to Hampshire's aggregate supply 
and in the event of failure from any one source or unexpected increase in demand. It also 
enables a diversity of supply which is essential to meet the dNPPF requirement of a 'steady 
and adequate supply' and includes a minimum level of realistic level of land won sand 
and gravel provision reflecting the role it will continue to play, avoiding restrictions on 
the ability to utilise existing landbanks and avoiding the provision of excessive 
quantities of minerals and the introduction of unnecessary land impacts and planning 
blight. , 28% of total potential. It is judged that supply from any source is robust and this is 
discussed under policies 18 (Recycled and secondary aggregates), 19 (Aggregate wharves 
and rail depots) and 20 (Sand and gravel extraction). 

16. Neither of these changes has been addressed by the proposed modifications. At the 
same time, HCC have prepared modifications that reflect their Local Aggregate 
Assessment (LAA), which they consider reinforces their approach through Policy 17 
to seek the levels of aggregate supply indicated in the dHMWP. 

 

17. In response, the converse can be argued to be true. The LAA reinforces the view that 
the demand for aggregate is reducing. In addition, HCC have not in any of their 
updates supplied any more recent data for the year 2011 / 2012, data which, given 
that the year 2012 / 2013 is almost ¾ complete, is notable for its absence. 

 

18. It is suggested that the following might be pursued in response to this issue: 
 

 

35



 

 

 

 
 

 That the original representation is maintained and appended to a representation 
to the proposed modifications 

 That the representation to the modifications reinforces that original 
representation using text outlined below 

 That the representation requests that the forecasts are updated with 2010 / 
2011 and 2011 / 2012 data, given that adoption will now be well into 2012 

 That objections to the dHMWP’s Integrated Sustainability Assessment are 
maintained. 

 
19. The text to reinforce the original representation is based on a critique of the 

implications of the LAA for the dHMWP, as follows: 
 

a. The use of the 10 year rolling sales data analysis provides a means by which actual 
trends over a wide period of time can be tracked to inform decisions on minerals supply. 
As the National Planning Policy Framework advises, this approach should be combined 
with, inter alia, consideration of local information. This further enables local trends to be 
combined with local circumstances to indicate what should and can be provided for in a 
given area. 

 
b. As these figures will also take account of import / export trends, this approach should 

also prove to be resilient in respect of the role each authority plays in supplying or 
receiving mineral from other local authority areas. 

 

c. What is objected to is the manner in which the Hampshire Authorities have applied this 
approach to forecasting supply to the perceived needs of the Hampshire area. 

 
d. The Plan forecasts the provision of 2.0Mtpa of marine won sand and gravel, up from an 

average of 1.51Mtpa. The Local Aggregate Assessment (LAA) explains at Paragraph 
2.28 that sufficient reserves of permitted reserves exist to make this a fully achievable 
policy aim. This is supported by the required existing capacity at wharves to handle the 
mineral to be landed (as explained at paragraph 2.34 of the LAA), which exceeds the 
2Mtpa forecast. 

e. In addition, paragraph 2.29 of the LAA indicates that additional unlicensed reserves 
exist which would further supplement this supply. When this is combined with the 
approach of the Plan to support and safeguard existing and potential future wharves, it 
is clear that the strategy of the Plan to move away from land won supply is both 
appropriate and achievable. This is subject to those policies and forecasts not being 
undermined by planning policy that seeks the supply of excessive land won supplies. 

 
f. The Plan also forecasts the provision of 1.0Mtpa of recycled / secondary aggregates, up 

from an average of 0.63Mtpa. The LAA explains at paragraph 2.42 that there is a total 
processing capacity in Hampshire of 1,660,000 tpa at identified sites, along with a 
further potential 1,100,000 tpa provided for at exempt sites. 

 
g. At a rate of 630,000tpa current and a 1,000,000tpa forecast future supply, it is clear that 

there exists the opportunity to realise this forecast increase through current capacity in 
the Plan area. This is subject to those policies and forecasts not being undermined by 
planning policy that seeks the supply of excessive land won supplies. 

 
 
 

 
 

36



 

 

 

 
 

h. The Plan also identifies that there exist sufficient extant consents (the landbank) for the 
supply of 16.44Mtpa of sands and gravel over the life of the Plan, or approximately 
0.85Mtpa. 

 
i. When the existing landbank is combined with the achievable forecasts for marine won 

and recycled / secondary aggregates, Hampshire is placing itself in the position of being 
able to viably promote the provision of 3.8Mtpa of sands and gravel. 

 

j. When further combined with the forecast increase in crushed rock, Hampshire is 
aligning itself to the provision of 4.85Mtpa of all aggregates, thereby supplying in excess 
of the existing average of the last 10 year period or 4.44Mtpa. This approach to 
provision does not require the allocation of new land won capacity. 

 

k. However, the Plan does not focus on this opportunity and instead seeks to undermine  
its own policy forecasts for the supply of marine won and recycled / secondary 
aggregates by pursuing a strategy that promotes the supply of a further 11.5Mt of land 
won sands and gravel through new planning permissions, or an additional 0.6Mtpa. 

 

l. This is illogical. The average supply of sands, gravel and recycled / secondary materials 
equates to 3.71Mtpa over the past 10 years. The forecast and permitted supply 
available to / promoted by Hampshire equates to over 3.85Mtpa. There is, therefore, no 
clear need for the allocation and provision of an additional 0.6Mtpa of sands and gravel 
from new site allocations. 

 
m. Given that forecast increases to non-land won sand and gravel and crushed rock, 

combined with existing permissions, already exceed the 10 year average by 
approximately 9%, and that the trend of the past 10 years is one of steady reduction in 
supply: 

 

i. Where is the demand for 4.85Mtpa anticipated to come from, to justify that 
supply? 

ii. Where is the demand for a further 0.6Mtpa from new site allocations, in addition 
to the 4.85Mtpa referenced above, anticipated to come from? 

iii. Where is the research to demonstrate that such high levels of demand, not 
experienced on average in the past 10 years, or in reality since 2004 (4.84Mtpa 
supplied) exists? 

iv. What is the effect of promoting excessive land won supply on the aims of 
achieving increased marine won supply, from licensed reserves? 

v. What is the effect of promoting excessive land won supply on the aims of 
achieving increased supplies of recycled / secondary aggregates through 
existing available capacity? 

vi. How is this over-supply therefore justified, sustainable or sound? 

 

Policy 18: Recycled and secondary aggregate development 

Policy 19: Aggregate wharves and rail depots 

20. As the proposed modifications do not propose changes that alter the support 
previously stated by EBC to these policies it is not considered necessary to take 
any further action other than to restate that support. 

 

Policy 20: Local land-won aggregates 

 

21. EBC’s representation sought to secure the following changes to Policy 20: 
 

The allocation of Hamble Airfield should be deleted from the draft HMWP and Policy 20 

 
 37



 

 

 

22. This was reinforced by a detailed appraisal of the key environmental issues affecting 
the Hamble area through the allocation of the site. 

 

23. In response to this particular point HCC have not proposed any changes and retain 
the allocation as part of their preferred sites. 

 
24. It is suggested that: 

 

 The original representation is maintained 
 That the original representation is reinforced by the additional points proposed 

to be raised in respect of Policy 17 
 

25. In addition, HCC have introduced certain additional criteria to Policy 20, as outlined 
below: 

 
4. Proposals for new sites outside the areas identified in Policy 20 (including 
extension of sites identified in Policy 20 (2)) could be supported where: 

 

i. monitoring indicates that the sites identified in 2) and 3) are unlikely to be 
delivered to meet local need and demand to meet landbank requirements; and 

 

ii. maximises use of existing plant and infrastructure and available mineral 
resources; or 

 

iii. the development is for the extraction of minerals prior to a planned 
development; or 

 

iv. the development is part of a proposal for another beneficial use, for example 
an agricultural reservoir; or 

 

v. the development is for a specific localised need, for example a borrow pit. 

 
 

26. These draft criteria take too relaxed an approach to the issue of non allocated ‘windfall’ 
sites and in the process undermine the impact that draft Policies 17 and 20, along with 
18 and 19 (recycling and secondary aggregate development / aggregate wharves and 
rail depots) can have. Therefore, the change to Policy 20 at Criterion 4 should be deleted 
and replaced with the following text, either as a new Criterion 4 or as a wholly new  
policy. If any further provisions are to be added to Policy 20, or a separate new policy on 
windfall sites alone, then it should stem from the provisions of new Policy 1. 

 

 

 

38



 

 

 

27. In particular, the reference made in the draft policy under dC78 to beneficial use of land 
should be removed on the basis that it is ambiguous and lays open for consideration 
the use of any land where a benefit might be shown, however tenuous and irrespective 
of whether the land is already fulfilling a beneficial purpose. 

 

28. However, if HCC consider that this criterion (or new policy) must include reference to 
beneficial land use then it is essential that the sub criterion used is much clearer than 
that tabled at present. 

 

29. Finally, the inclusion of the example of an agricultural reservoir is unhelpful and 
misleading. This is neither an example of a common beneficial use of land yielding 
mineral nor the extent of beneficial use that might arise. It should be left to the 
developer to establish if their proposal represents a beneficial use and for the that use 
to be judged against the policies of the plan. Accordingly, and only if essential to the 
operation of a windfall site criterion or policy, if this particular sub-criterion on beneficla 
land is to be retained it should be included in the wider Criterion (or a new policy) 

 

30. Based on the points raised above criterion 4 of Policy 20 should be revised as set out 
below. 

Proposals for new sites outside of the areas identified in parts 1, 2 and 3 of 
Policy 20 will not be permitted unless it can be demonstrated that: 

 

i. sites identified in parts 1, 2 and 3 of policy 20 are not deliverable, 
and that the policy is therefore out of date as defined in Policy 1; 
and 

ii. there is less than a seven year landbank, that the need for that 
minerals remains, and that the policy is therefore out of date as 
defined in Policy 1; and 

iii. the site is acceptable when considered against the 
environmental criteria and policies of the plan; and 

iv. the site can utilise existing infrastructure, plant and mineral reserves 
at an existing mineral working not identified in parts 1, 2 or 3 of 
Policy 20; or 

v. extraction of the mineral would avoid sterilisation prior to 
implementation of a planned development allocated in the 
development plan; or 

vi. the site is to act as a borrow pit only for a development site 
located immediately adjacent to that proposed borrow pit. 

31. To facilitate both an improved understanding of the existing text that accompanies 
policy 20 and to provide the necessary explanation to accompany EBCs 
suggested changes to that policy, it is necessary to amend the existing draft text 
covered by dC84, namely paragraphs 6.71 – 6.72 of the track changes October 
2012 draft HMWP. 

 
32. The amendments suggested through this representation therefore cover the 

following ground: 
 

a. To better define the limited circumstances within which windfall sites might be 
acceptable; 

b. To propose further definition of the context set by the use of existing plant, 
infrastructure and available mineral resources. 

c. To propose further definition of the term planned development. 

d. Explanatory text of the context set by the use of the term beneficial use, if that 
sub- criterion is to be used. 

 

39



 

 

 

Representation Format 
 

33. That a representation form is completed and submitted for each representation to 
be made, as follows: 

 

No. Part of Plan Issue Appendices 

1 Policy 10 Objection to omission from 
Policy maintained 

Original representation to Policy 
9 

2 Paragraph 
5.15 

Support for change made to text None 

3 Policy 17 Objection to approach to 
minerals supply in light of the 
Local Aggregate Assessment 

Original representation to Policy 
17 

4 Policy 17 ISA Maintain original representation Original representation to ISA of 
Policy 17 

5 Policy 20 Maintain original representation, 
reinforced with objections to 
Policy 17 re: LAA 

Original representation to Policy 
20, ISA and Transport Study 

6 Policy 20 new 
text 

New representation objecting to 
lack of clarity and suggesting 
new text 

None 

7 Paragraphs 
6.64 – 6.74 

New representation objecting to 
lack of clarity and consistency 
with new provisions of Policy 20 

None 

 

34. These would utilise the formal response form and would be PDF’d together with the 
original representation, where it is required as an appendix. 

 

 

40



Appendix 2:  
 
Transport review of the HMWP partial update from transport consultants, Systra 
 
Tranpsort review on behalf of the Council by Systra Ltd   
 
Minerals and Waste Plan partial update consultation. 16/12/2022 

SCOPE OF REVIEW 

This review provides a high-level commentary on the changes which are proposed to be made in the 
updated Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan which have relevance to transport matters, particularly 
considering the potential impacts that could result on the local region of Eastleigh. 

For avoidance of doubt, where a policy or supporting information is unchanged from the current adopted 
plan, these have not been commented on. 

VISION AND PLAN OBJECTIVES 

It is noted that the vision and plan objectives have been brought into line with the latest version of the 
NPPF. From a forecasting perspective, it is noted that attempting to forecast needs beyond 2040 is 
extremely difficult as this exceeds the timeframe of most current or in-preparation Local Plans; 
notwithstanding this, the importance of the 2050 Commission recommendations with regard to climate 
change is acknowledged. The use of a 2040 threshold for assessments is also considered appropriate 
from a transport perspective; although national forecasts using the National Transport Model cover a 
longer period, the use of these is almost exclusively limited to “informative” work and is not relied upon 
for either policy making or the determination of planning applications. 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT POLICIES (1-14) 

Policy 1 (Sustainable Minerals and Waste Development) 

There are no direct impacts to transport matters arising as a result of this proposed modification or the 
resulting policy, as the proposed changes are minor and simply incorporate a requirement to consider 
past operator performance when new sites are being appraised. 

Policy 2 (Climate Change – Mitigation and Adaption) 

The text of policy 2 has been substantially updated to reflect current wider policy aspirations and 
guidance. From a transport perspective, climate “resilience” can be taken to include measures that 
reduce the overall carbon impacts of mineral and waste transport. The transport assessment and other 
associated documents prepared for planning purposes should therefore seek to demonstrate that these 
types of measure have been properly considered, and that the volumes of material being transported 
are efficiently planned so as to balance the number of trips with the impacts associated with larger 
vehicles (including emissions and wear on transport infrastructure). 

Policy 3 (Protection of Habitats and Species) 

There are no direct impacts to transport matters arising as a result of this proposed modification or the 
resulting policy. 

Policy 4 (Protection of Designated Landscapes) 

There are no direct impacts to transport matters arising as a result of this proposed modification or the 
resulting policy. 

41



Policy 5 (Protection of the Countryside) 

Whilst there are no direct impacts to transport matters arising as a result of this proposed modification or 
the resulting policy, protection of the countryside is considered to include protection of peoples’ ability to 
safely move around rural transport networks. 

Policy 6 (South West Hampshire Green Belt) 

Policy 6 now reflects the wording of the NPPF with regard to development within Green Belt areas. 
Whilst this does not specifically refer to transport impacts, it is considered that any applications within a 
green belt area should demonstrate that they can be accessed in a manner which maximises 
sustainability, and actively seeks to minimise vehicle movements (particularly HGV movements) which 
would have negative effects on all parts of the green belt which form part of the site access routes (i.e. 
not simply the site itself). 

Policy 7 (Conserving the Historic Environment and Heritage Assets) 

There are no direct impacts to transport matters arising as a result of this proposed modification or the 
resulting policy. 

Policy 8 (Water Resources) 

There are no direct impacts to transport matters arising as a result of this proposed modification or the 
resulting policy. 

Policy 9 (Protection of Soils) 

There are no direct impacts to transport matters arising as a result of this proposed modification or the 
resulting policy. 

Policy 10 (Restoration of Minerals and Waste Developments) 

Although not directly specified by the policy, the requirements for the reinstatement or restoration of 
waste and minerals sites should be fully understood at the time of planning permission being 
considered, as this will frequently require significant movements of materials and personnel during the 
restoration period. 

Policy 11 (Protecting Public Health, Safety, Amenity and Well-being) 

Policy 11 identifies that minerals and waste development should not have an “unacceptable” impact on 
strategic public infrastructure, or cause “unacceptable” cumulative impact with other existing 
development. The transport networks represent the main strategic public infrastructure which is likely to 
be directly impacted by development, and this has potential in turn to affect a large proportion of 
residents within the areas covered by the plan. As such, any failure to demonstrate compliance with this 
requirement (such as an incomplete or deficient Transport Assessment) should be given very significant 
weight in any planning decisions associated with waste and minerals sites, regardless of whether these 
are allocated in the plan or not. 

Policy 12 (Flood Risk and Prevention) 

There are no direct impacts to transport matters arising as a result of this proposed modification or the 
resulting policy. 

Policy 13 (Managing Traffic) 

No changes are proposed to this policy; the wording of the existing policy is considered appropriate to 
the wider aims of the plan, but it is noted that the increased prominence of climate change and 
sustainability requirements within the plan should be reflected in the content of the TA reports submitted 
to comply with this policy. 

42



Policy 14 (High Quality Design of Minerals and Waste Development) 

There are no direct impacts to transport matters arising as a result of this proposed modification or the 
resulting policy. 

MINERALS POLICIES (15 – 24) 

Policy 15 (Safeguarding – mineral resources) & 16 (Safeguarding - minerals infrastructure) 

Both of these policies are unchanged; apart from a reference to the Minerals and Waste SPD in the 
supporting text. This leads to no change in the policies for Hampshire’s needs or waste/mineral usage. 

As such, this is expected to have minimal impact on Eastleigh from a transport perspective. 

Policy 17 (Aggregate Supply – Capacity and Source) 

It is stated that there is to be an update to the policy to reflect current data and forecasts for demand in 
Hampshire. This results in a significant reduction of the level of extraction, particularly of soft sand, from 
the 2013 adopted Plan. It is noted that there is a clause which should the stated need increase by more 
than 10% over three years, then the provision would be increased accordingly. The capacity of recycled 
and secondary aggregate has been increased to 1.8 mtpa from 1.0 mpta. 

It is noted that the extended Plan period means that additional sites will need to be allocated in the 
future, but only if they meet other policy requirements within the plan; it is considered that this is a 
reasonable approach from a transport perspective. 

It is noted from Appendix A of the Topic Paper that there are no new site allocations in regard to this 
Policy, and from a transport perspective, this would not be expected to have any impact on Eastleigh in 
current form. However, if there are to be additional sites allocated in the future, it should be ensured that 
extraction vehicles do not unnecessarily impact Eastleigh’s transport networks. 

Policy 18 (Recycled and secondary aggregates development) 

This Policy remains largely unchanged, with the only changes concerning the incorporation of text to 
support additional capacity for recycled aggregate, which was previously included as part of Policy 30.  

As such, there is no change from a transport perspective in Eastleigh. 

Policy 19 (Aggregate wharves and rail depots) 

This Policy has been updated to remove inactive wharves, and with the addition of a number of rail 
depots and proposed allocations. It is noted that no new wharves have been noted for allocation. 

A benefit of these allocations is that they are ultimately to act to reduce the number of Heavy Goods 
Vehicles (HGVs) use in the local areas. However, the movement by road of materials to and from these 
sites will need to be fully appraised as part of any associated transport assessments. 

The locations proposed for new rail depots in Appendix A are seen as Andover Sidings, Basingstoke 
Sidings, Holybourne, Micheldever Sidings, and Totton Sidings. None of these allocations fall in the 
perimeters of the Eastleigh area, with Totton Sidings being the nearest, approximately 13.1km to the 
southwest of the region. It is noted in the Draft Minerals and Waste Plan that Eastleigh Rail Depot is 
seen as currently operating at capacity. 

Policy 20 (Local land-won aggregates) 

A series of new local land-won aggregates have been included to meet predicted demands up to 2040, 
as a number of previously existing sites have now been exhausted and thus removed from the Plan. 
The plan seeks to maintain a landbank of 7 years of permitted reserves of sand and gravel through 
extraction, extensions and new allocations. The benefit of this policy is expected to arise from the 
steady provision of supplies and infrastructure in the local area. 

43



The new locations noted as being added in connection with this policy are Ashley Manor Farm, 
Bramshill Quarry Extension, Cobley Wood, Cutty Brow, Dunwood Farm Fruit, Hamble Airfield, Midgham 
Farm, Purple Haze, Stanbridge Ranvilles, The Triangle and Yeatton Farm. 

All of these locations are positioned sufficiently far away from the Eastleigh area that any related 
transport impact in or near the Eastleigh networks is expected to be minimal. 

Policy 21 (Silica sand development) 

The Silica sand development policy has been updated with the clarification of the extent of development 
proposed in National Parks. This policy update clarifies that mineral workings in National Parks will not 
be acceptable unless exceptional circumstances are demonstrated. It is recognised that there are some 
potential supplies of specialist silica material present in deposits within National Park areas, but is clear 
that these sites will not be explored unless other reasonable alternatives are ruled out. 

As such, this bears no direct implications for Eastleigh from a transport perspective. 

Policy 22 (Brick-Making Clay) 

No change is expected to occur in regard to brick making clay production, other than the Michelmersch 
Brickworks allocation set out in 2013 being permitted and worked on. Other than this, Selborne 
Brickworks has fallen out of operation, and therefore has been removed. 

Michelmersch lies approximately 15.9km to the northwest from Eastleigh, and as such any operations 
taking place here in terms of extraction of brick-making clay is unlikely to result in any significant impact 
in Eastleigh from a transport perspective. 

Policy 23 (Chalk Development) 

This policy has remained unchanged aside from supporting text being amended to clarify factual 
updates. 

As such this results in no impact on Eastleigh from a transport perspective. 

Policy 24 (Oil and Gas Development) 

The only change which has been made within this policy relates to the removal of potential ambiguity, 
and updating of the wording to accord with national caselaw. It is noted in the main Minerals and Waste 
Plan that oil is directly exported by road to Hamble Oil Terminal, however this has been established 
prior to the changes proposed in the draft Plan.  

As such, no changes in this policy result in a impact on Eastleigh from a transport perspective. 

WASTE POLICIES (25 -34) 

Policy 25 (Sustainable waste management) 

This policy remains unchanged other than updates to the non-hazardous waste arisings targets for 
recycling. Development applicants are also required to provide analysis of a waste hierarchy that will 
result from their application. 

As such, no changes in this policy are expected to impact on Eastleigh from a transport perspective. 

Policy 26 (Safeguarding – waste infrastructure) 

This policy remains unchanged other than clarification around definitions of waste infrastructure.  

As such, no changes in this policy are expected to impact on Eastleigh from a transport perspective. 

44



Policy 27 (Capacity for Waste Management Development) 

This policy update records the current arisings and capacity required for waste management up to 2040. 
This includes: 5.5 mtpa of non-hazardous waste (increase from 2.62 mpta); 1.80 mtpa of inert waste 
(decrease from 2.49 mtpa) and 0.18 mtpa of hazardous waste (increase from 0.16 mtpa). 

These figures support an increase in recycling capacity, comments on Policy 29 address the expected 
location of these increased facilities. 

Policy 28 (Energy recovery development) 

This policy update seeks to require development proposals to only deal with residual waste and to 
ensure that combined heat and power is provided as a minimum. This has been altered to meet 
government requirements. 

These updates to Policy 28 do not result in an impact on Eastleigh from a transport perspective. 

Policy 29 (Locations and sites for waste management) 

It is noted that the changes to this policy have been designed to avoid ambiguity and address difficulties 
encountered previously by planning authorities in appraising the acceptability of impacts to transport 
networks (particularly local roads). Site allocations listed at Policy 29 (4) have been identified through a 
‘call for sites’ for waste management.  

It is stated in the Mineral and Waste Plan that transport is of key concern when considering waste 
management, and as such the sites proposed are intended to avoid any residential areas and wherever 
possible main roads. 

It is noted from the list of sites to be used for waste management, the nearest to the Eastleigh area is 
Lee Lane, Nursling, which is located approximately 11.7 km to the west of the region. Additionally, Lee 
Lane lies 2.9 km from the nearest point of the SRN, junction 3 of the M27.   

Further comments on the supporting Transport Assessment’s appraisal of the impacts of the sites listed 
in the draft plan will be provided in due course. 

Policy 30 (Construction, demolition and excavation waste development) 

This policy has been updated to outline the level in arisings of waste within the plan period (1.77 mtpa) 
and the levels of maintenance of inert recycling and recovery which are required. It is noted that the 
changes have come to form a closer alignment with Policy 27.  

Seeing as this policy update acts as an update to waste levels rather than change in use/method for 
their collection and disposal, this policy amendment is not expected to result in a direct impact on 
Eastleigh from a transport perspective. 

Policy 31 (Liquid waste and waste-water management) 

This policy has been updated with the statement of the need to comply with the Environment Act treated 
waste-water phosphorous targets, and updated with information from water companies regarding future 
needs. 

This policy update will therefore not impact directly on Eastleigh from a transport perspective. 

Policy 32 (Non-hazardous waste landfill) 

This policy has been updated to reflect current sites and permissions. It is noted that Blue Haze is the 
only remaining non-hazardous landfill, with Purple Haze no longer being considered a viable option.  

Blue Haze is located near Ringwood, approximately 37.1km to the southwest of the Eastleigh region, 
and as such this is unlikely to result in a significant impact on the area from a transport perspective. 

45



Policy 33 (Hazardous and Low Level Radioactive Waste development) and Policy 34 
(Safeguarding potential minerals and waste wharf and rail depot infrastructure) 

It is noted that both of these policies are remaining unchanged, with only factual updates. As such, this 
bears no impact on Eastleigh from a transport perspective. 

 

46



Appendix 3:  
 
Map of Hamble Airfield site (extract from HMWP (adopted 2013) page 163) 
 

 
 

47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  

Tuesday, 17 January 2023  

AND 

CABINET  

Monday, 23 January 2023 

APPROVAL OF THE COUNCIL’S UPDATED POLICY AND 
PROCEDURES- REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 

2000 AND INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2016 

Report of the Legal Services Manager 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that  Audit and Resources Committee: 
 
(1) considers the updated ‘Corporate Policy and Procedures- Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) and Investigatory Powers Act 2016 
(IPA)’ which sets out the statutory framework and procedures for the 
Council’s lawful use of covert surveillance and the acquisition of 
communications data.  

(2) recommends the ‘Corporate Policy and Procedures- Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) and Investigatory Powers Act 2016 
(IPA)’ for Cabinet approval 

 

It is recommended that Cabinet:  

(1) approves the ‘Corporate Policy and Procedures- Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) and Investigatory Powers Act 2016 (IPA)’   

 
 

Summary 
 

 

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) Part II provides the 
statutory framework to enable covert surveillance to be lawfully authorised and 
conducted by a public authority, including a Local Authority.  The Investigatory 
Powers Act 2016 (IPA) provides the statutory framework for the acquisition of 
Communications Data to be obtained by a public authority, including a Local 

 

49

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Authority. 

The Council previously adopted a policy for the reference of staff relating to the 
exercise of its powers solely under RIPA.  The policy required elected members to 
set the Council’s Strategy and to consider internal reports on the use of RIPA on a 
periodic basis. 

On 8 February 2022 the Audit and Resources Committee considered a RIPA 
Annual Report which highlighted the RIPA Policy was under review.  The RIPA 
Policy review has now been completed and the policy has been substantially 
updated. This updated policy incorporates a comprehensive framework to ensure 
investigations are compliant with legislation and that processes are robust. It adds 
in the framework for the acquisition of Communications Data which enables 
Eastleigh Borough Council to make use of this powers when appropriate to an 
investigation. 

The draft updated policy was approved by the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner’s Chief Inspector following an inspection which took place in spring 
2022.  

 

Statutory Powers 
 

 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 

Investigatory Powers Act 2016 

 

  

  

 

Strategic Implications  

1. This report relates to the Council’s lawful use of covert surveillance and the 
acquisition of communications data, which may be used to achieve objectives 
relating to having an Excellent Environment for All, Tackling Deprivation and 
Enabling Health and Wellbeing (Corporate Plan 2015 -2025) as well as for the 
prevention and /or detection of crime and/ or disorder. The revised policy 
meets the need for sound and robust policy-making and governance, which 
underpins all the Council’s statutory functions and Corporate Plan Objectives. 

Introduction 

2. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) Part II provides the 
statutory framework to enable covert surveillance to be lawfully authorised 
and conducted by a public authority (including local authorities). 

50



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

3. The Investigatory Powers Act (2016) (IPA) provides the statutory framework 
for the acquisition of Communications Data to be obtained by a public 
authority (including local authorities).  

4. These investigatory powers can be a useful tool for local authorities seeking to 
manage offences such as fly tipping or planning breaches. 

5. The Home Office Codes of Practice recommend that elected members have 
oversight of the use of powers for both RIPA and IPA. 

6. This report seeks approval an updated policy which has been approved by the 
Investigatory Powers Commissioner during their recent inspection.  
 

Updated Policy and Appendices 

7. The Investigatory Powers Commissioner (IPCO) inspected the Council in 
February 2019 and was satisfied with the Council’s level of compliance but 
made recommendations to revise and amend the RIPA policy. 

8. In early January 2022 the Council’s RIPA Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) 
initiated a review of the policy, to be undertaken by a locum legal specialist. In 
late January 2022 the Council coincidentally received notification from IPCO 
that a remote / desktop inspection would be undertaken.  

9. As part of the RIPA policy review and preparation for the inspection, the 
following documents were drafted and provided to the Chief Inspector in 
advance of the inspection: 

(a) Draft RIPA and IPA Updated Policy  

(b) Draft RIPA and IPA Appendices 1-32 

10. On 16 February 2022 the remote IPCO Inspection took place and the report 
from the Investigatory Powers Commissioner approved the draft policy and 
noted that their 2019 recommendations had been fully addressed. 

11. The revised policy, as well as being considerably more comprehensive, also 
incorporates the following key changes: 

(i) Updating of the RIPA policy to reflect changes to legislation and 
guidance 

(ii) Inclusion of a policy which is compliant with the Investigatory 
Powers Act 2016 and sets out the procedure for the Council to 
apply for communications data when applicable to an 
investigation. 

(iii) A ‘non-RIPA’ protocol (appendix 26) for the use of covert 
surveillance outside the statutory framework of RIPA in specified 
circumstances where it is considered that the work would be in 
pursuit of a legitimate aim and is necessary and proportionate. 

51



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

The protocol sets out the safeguards required before authorising 
or undertaking any such surveillance.   

12. The updated policy and appendices include detailed guidance notes and 
proformas to ensure correct processes are followed.  

13. Staff training will be arranged at least annually, with a biannual RIPA/IPA 
review meeting which will be chaired by the SRO – the next meeting will take 
place in April 2023.  

 

Report on exercise of powers  

14. The Council has not exercised its powers under RIPA or IPA during the last 
12 months.  
 

Financial Implications 
 

15.  There are no financial implications from this report.  
 

Risk Assessment 

16. The adoption of this updated Policy enables the Council to undertake 
investigations while ensuring they are compliant with the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 and to make appropriate use of its powers to 
obtain Communications Data under the Investigatory Powers Act 2016. 

17. Correct adoption of the policy and its procedures will ensure any risks 
associated with use of the investigatory powers are mitigated, as the 
processes are complaint with the relevant guidance and legislation.  

18. To ensure the health and safety of Council staff, each team has specific Risk 
Assessments and Safe Systems of Work for the duties they undertake within 
their roles. These are approved by the Corporate Health and Safety Officer, 
reviewed at least annually and updated as required in accordance with the 
Council’s overarching Health and Safety Policy.  

Equality and Diversity Implications 

19. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it is a 
report dealing with internal and procedural matters.  
 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

20. The proposals have limited climate change and environmental implications, 
although the proper use of investigatory powers will help the Council 
effectively and efficiently use its statutory powers related to protecting the 
environment, such as investigation and enforcement against fly tipping 
offences and planning enforcement matters. 
 

52



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Conclusion 

21. The recommendation is to approve the updated policy, for the reasons set out 
above. 

 

HELEN DEVEREUX 
LEGAL SERVICES MANAGER 

 
Date: 30 December 2022 
Contact Officer: Helen Devereux  
Tel No: 02380 688155 
e-mail: helen.devereux@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: one - RIPA Policy 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

 None. 
 

53



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 
CORPORATE POLICY AND PROCEDURES 
 
REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY 
POWERS ACT 2000 (RIPA)  
 
&  
 
INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2016 
(IPA) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

REVISED VERSION 1 - JUNE 2022  
 

55



 

2 
 

INDEX 
 

SECTION CONTENTS PAGES 

 INTRODUCTION & KEY MESSAGES   

 COUNCIL POLICY STATEMENT   

 RIPA STATUTORY FRAMEWORK  

 DEFINITION OF SURVEILLANCE   

 LAWFUL SURVEILLANCE  

 TYPES OF SURVEILLANCE  

 OVERT SURVEILLANCE  

 COVERT SURVEILLANCE  

 CATEGORIES OF COVERT SURVEILLANCE   

   DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE  

 COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCES (CHIS)   

 INTRUSIVE SURVEILLANCE  

 ARIEL COVERT SURVEILLANCE (DRONES)  

 ONLINE OVERT & COVERT SURVEILLANCE INCLUDING SOCIAL 
MEDIA/NETWORKING SITES  

 

   LOCAL AUTHORITY RIPA PROHIBITIONS  

   LOCAL AUTHORITY RIPA LIMITATIONS 
 

 

 MANDATORY TEST – NECESSITY   

 MANDATORY TEST – PROPORTIONALITY  

 
 

AUTHORISATIONS  

 KEY ROLES  

 AUTHORISING OFFICERS  

 SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER  

56



 

3 
 

SECTION CONTENTS PAGE 

 JUDICIAL APPROVAL  

 KEY TERMS  

 PRIVATE INFORMATION    

 COLLATERAL INTRUSION  

 CONFIDENTIAL OR PRIVILEGED MATERIAL   

 KEY ADDITIONAL SURVEILLANCE ISSUES  

 ACTIVITY NOT FALLING WITHIN THE DEFINITION OF COVERT 
SURVEILLANCE 

 

 COMBINED AUTHORISATIONS  

 COLLABERATION WITH OTHER AUTHORITIES/AGENCIES   

 CCTV THIRD PARTY REQUESTS  

   CONSEQUENCES OF NON-COMPLIANCE OF RIPA & IPA  

 RIPA PROCESS  

 MANDATORY URN   

 RIPA URN REQUEST FORM   

 FORMS  

 APPLICATION  

 AUTHORISATION   

 JUDICIAL APPROVAL   

 
 

RIPA CENTRALLY RETRIEVABLE RECORDS    

 FORMS  

 APPLICATION   

 AUTHORISATION PROCESS   

 JUDICIAL APPROVAL PROCESS 
 
 

 

57



 

4 
 

SECTION CONTENTS PAGE 

 DURATION  

 REVIEWS  

 RENEWALS    

 CANCELLATION  

 RIPA CENTRALLY RETRIEVABLE REGISTER  

  RIPA DOCUMENTATION - CENTRALLY RETRIEVABLE RECORDS  
 

 

 RETENTION OF RECORDS   

 SAFEGUARDS  

 DISSEMINATION  

 USE OF MATERIAL AS EVIDENCE   

 HANDLING MATERIAL  

 COPYING  

 STORAGE  

 DESTRUCTION   

 PROTECTION OF THE IDENTITY OF A CHIS  

 ACQUISITION OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA  

 OFFICE OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA AUTHORISATIONS (OCDA)  

 LAWFUL ACQUISTION OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA  

 COMMUNICATIONS DATA  

 TWO CATEGORIES OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA (CD)  

 ENTITY DATA  

 EVENTS DATA  

 LOCAL AUTHORITY PROHIBITIONS   

58



 

5 
 

SECTION CONTENTS PAGE 

 LOCAL AUTHORITY PROHIBITIONS  

 LOCAL AUTHORITY RESTRICTIONS   

 TWO MANDATORY RESTS FOR COMMUNICATIONS DATA 
REQUESTS 

 

 NECESSITY  

 PROPORTIONALITY  

 KEY ROLES  

 SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER   

 DESIGNATED SENIOR OFFICER   

 SPOC  

 APPLICANT  

 KEY TERMS  

 TELECOMMUNIATIONS OPERATOR  

 
 

CONTENT  

 POSTAL OPERATOR  

 POSTAL DEFINITIONS  

 INTERNET CONNECTION RECORDS  

 THIRD PARTY DATA  

 COLLATERAL INTRUSION  

 JOURNALISTIC SOURCES   

 NOVEL OR CONTENTIOUS CIRCUMSTANCES   

 COLLABERATIVE ORGANISATION  

 AQUISTION OF CD PROCESS  

 LOCAL AUTHORITIES   

 OPERATIONAL PRIORITISATION  

59



 

6 
 

SECTION CONTENTS PAGE 

 CATEGORY OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA REQUIRED   

 APPLICATION  

 SPOC PROCESS  

 DSO PROCESS  

 SUBMISSION TO NAFN  

 OCDA’S REFUSAL TO GRANT AUTHORISATION  

 AUTHORISATION   

 NOTICES IN PURSUANCE OF AN AUTHORSATION   

 DURATION  

 RENEWAL  

 CANCELLATION  

 RECORD KEEPING   

 COMMUNICATIONS DATA   

 SAFEGUARDS  

 DISCLOSURE OF COMMS DATA AND SUBJECT ACCESS REQUESTS  

 COMPLIANCE AND OFFENCES   

 DISCLOSURE DUTIES & OBLIGATIONS (RIPA & IPA)  

 RIPA & IPA OVERSIGHT   

 APPROVAL OF POLICY  

 ANNUAL REVIEW OF POLICY  

 RIPA BIANNUAL MEETINGS  

 INTERNAL MONITORING   

 TRAINING   

 REPORTING TO THE COMMISSIONER  

60



 

7 
 

SECTION CONTENTS PAGE 

 CODES OF PRACTICE  

 INVESTIGATORY POWERS COMMISSIONER’S OFFICE   

 INVESTIGATORY POWERS TRIBUNAL  

 MISCELLANEOUS  

 POLICY REVISION HISTORY   

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

61



 

8 
 

APPENDICES 
 

APPENDIX TITLE PAGE 

1 SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER   

2 RIPA AUTHORISING OFFICERS   

3 COMMUNICATIONS DATA SENIOR DESINGATED OFFICERS   

4 OFFICER RESPONSIBLE FOR MAINTAINING RIPA CENTRALLY 
RETRIEVABLE REGISTER  
 

 

5 RIPA CENTRALLY RETRIEVABLE REGISTER  

6 JUDICIAL APPROVAL SPOC   

7 JUDICIAL APPROVAL DESIGNATED OFFICERS    

8 OFFICER RESPONSIBLE FOR MAINTAINING 
COMMUNICATIONS DATA CENTRALLY RETRIEVABLE 
REGISTER  

 

9 COMMUNICATIONS DATA CENTRALLY RETRIEVABLE 
REGISTER  

 

10 COMMUNICATIONS DATA SPOC  

11 PROSECUTIONS SPECIALISTS 
 

 

12 NAFN  

13 ACRONYMS  

14 RIPA CODES OF PRACTICE   

15 RIPA URN Request Form  

16 RIPA FORMS    

17 JUDICIAL APPROVAL APPLICATION FORM B  

18 JUDICIAL APPROVAL PROTOCOL BETWEEN EASTLEIGH    

BOROUGH COUNCIL & SOUTHAMPTON MAGISTRATES’ 

COURT    

 

 

19 JUDICIAL APPROVAL APPLICATION & HEARING GUIDANCE  
 

 

20 COMMUNICATIONS DATA CODE OF PRACTICE   

21 RIPA TRAINING REGISTER   

62



 

9 
 

APPENDIX TITLE PAGE 

22 IPA TRAINING REGISTER    

23 RIPA FLOWCHART: DECISION PROCESS   

24 COMMUNICATIONS DATA APPLICATION PROCESS   

25 RIPA CCTV PROTOCOL   

26 NON-RIPA SURVEILLANCE PROTOCOL    

27 OFFICER RESPONSIBLE FOR NON-RIPA CENTRALLY 
RETRIEVABLE REGISTER 

 

28 NON-RIPA CENTRALLY RETRIEVABLE REGISTER  

29 NON-RIPA FORMS  

30 COMMUNICATIONS DATA URN REQUEST FORM  

31 NAFN COMMUNICATIONS DATA GUIDANCE APPLICATION 
FORM 

 

32 PRO FORMA COMMUNICATIONS DATA APPLICATION 
FORM 

 

             

63



 

10 
 

INTRODUCTION & KEY MESSAGES 
 

1. This policy sets out the statutory framework and procedures which permit the Council’s 
lawful use of covert surveillance techniques and the acquisition of Communications Data 
(CD) for use in an investigation.   

 
2. The Human Rights Act 1998 (HRA) gave effect in UK law to the rights of individuals enshrined 

in the European Convention on Human Rights 1950 (ECHR).  Some rights are absolute whilst 
others are qualified, thus it is permissible for the state to interfere with those rights, 
provided certain conditions are satisfied.  One of those rights is a person’s right to respect 
for their private and family life, home, and correspondence.1 

 
3. When public authorities seek to obtain private information about a person by means of 

covert surveillance Article 8 is the most likely to be engaged.   
 

4. Regulatory Investigations Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) Part II provides the statutory framework to 
enable covert surveillance to be lawfully authorised and conducted and IPA [Investigatory 
Powers Act 2016] provides the statutory framework for the acquisition of Communications 
Data (CD) obtained by a public authority, whilst ensuring the public authority (including local 
authorities) does not infringe a person’s Article 8 rights, except as may be permitted by 
Article 8(2).  Consequently, a public authority can act in a way that is compatible with the 
ECHR and HRA.2   

 
5. This Corporate RIPA & IPA Policy & Procedures Policy provides the Council guidance as to the 

use of covert surveillance and CD and has been approved by Cabinet.3  In addition the Audit 
& Resources Committee has an oversight role and will therefore carry out high-level annual 
reviews of the RIPA & IPA Policy and Processes.   

 
6. Any member of staff who is unsure regarding any aspect of this Policy and/or the statutory 

framework must contact the Council’s Senior Responsible Officer4 at the earliest 
opportunity. 

 
7. Compliance with this Policy and Procedures is mandatory for all relevant Council services 

and officers.  This Policy is accessible on the Council’s Staff Hub.5 
 

COUNCIL POLICY STATEMENT 
 

8. Eastleigh Borough Council (EBC) takes its statutory responsibilities seriously and will always 
act in accordance with the statutory framework including relevant Orders and Codes of 
Practice.  Accordingly, the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) is duly authorised by the Council 
to monitor, review, and amend this Policy as and when required.  For administration and 
operational effectiveness, the SRO is also authorised to add or substitute an Authorising 
Officer or Designated Senior Officer when required. 

                                                                 
1
 Article 8 ECHR 

2
 Human Rights Act 1998 Section 6 – It is unlawful for a public authority to act in a way which is incompatible 

with a Convention right. 
3
 Insert date Policy approved by Cabinet  

4
 Appendix 1 

5
 Insert link to Staff Hub RIPA & IPA page 

 

64



 

11 
 

 

RIPA STATUTORY FRAMEWORK  
 
DEFINITION OF SURVEILLANCE 
 

9. Surveillance for the purposes of RIPA includes 6: 
 

(a) monitoring, observing, or listening to persons, their movements, their conversations or their 
other activities or communications; 
 

(b) recording anything monitored, observed, or listened to in the course of surveillance;  
 

(c) surveillance by or with the assistance of a surveillance device; 
 

10. Surveillance may be conducted with or without the assistance of a surveillance device, 
includes the recording of any information obtained and can be undertaken whilst on foot, 
mobile or static.  Surveillance also includes references to the interception of a 
communication in the course of its transmission by means of a postal service of 
telecommunication system, if and only if 7: 

 
(a) the communication is one sent by or intended for a person who has consented to the 

interception of communications sent by or to them; and 
 

(b) there is no interception warrant authorising the interception. 
 

11. Methods of “recording,” surveillance were expanded in Part 2 of the Protection of Freedoms 
Act 2012, which dealt with the regulation of CCTV and other surveillance camera technology 
and introduced the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice8. The Act states “surveillance 
camera systems include… any other systems for recording or viewing visual images for 
surveillance purposes,9” which includes Body Worn Videos, as confirmed by the College of 
Policing Body Worn Guidance 2014 and AB v Hampshire Constabulary IPT/17/191/CH [2019]. 

 
LAWFUL SURVEILLANCE  
 

12. Surveillance will be lawful if10: 
 

(a) an authorisation under this Part confers an entitlement to engage in that conduct on the 
person whose conduct it is; and 
 

(b) his conduct is in accordance with the authorisation  
 
TYPES OF SURVEILLANCE 
 

13. There are two types of surveillance, namely overt and covert. 
 

                                                                 
6
 RIPA Section 48(2)(a)-(c) 

7
 RIPA Section 48(4) 

8
 First published June 2013, amended November 2021  

9
 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Section 29(6)(b) 

10
 RIPA Section 27(1) 

65



 

12 
 

 
 
OVERT SURVEILLANCE 
 

14. Most surveillance carried out by the Council will be overt, thus it will fall outside the remit of 
RIPA.  An example of overt surveillance is the Council’s overt CCTV.11 
 

COVERT SURVEILLANCE  
 

15. Surveillance is covert if and only if, it is carried out in a manner that is calculated to ensure 
that persons who are the subject to the surveillance are unaware that it is or may be taking 
place.12 

 
CATEGORIES OF COVERT SURVEILLANCE 
 

16. There are three categories of covert surveillance: 
 

i) Directed13 
ii) Covert Human Intelligence Source [CHIS]14 
iii) Intrusive15 

 
Please note, local authorities are prohibited from conducting intrusive surveillance.   

 
DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE  
 

17. Directed surveillance (DS) is covert but not intrusive surveillance and undertaken16: 
 
a) for the purposes of a specific investigation or a specific operation; 
 
(b) in such a manner as is likely to result in the obtaining of private information about a person 

(whether or not one specifically identified for the purposes of the investigation or 
operation); and 

 
(c) is conducted otherwise than by way of an immediate response to events or circumstances 

the nature of which is such that it would not be reasonably practicable for an authorisation 
under this Part II to be sought for the carrying out of the surveillance. 

 
Example 
 

18. Investigation into a suspect (target) who claimed Direct Payment from a Council based upon 
his declared disabilities.  It is suspected the target is not disabled, partially sighted and/or 
has substantially exaggerated his injuries.  Officers wish to undertake a covert DS operation 
involving officers positioned in an unmarked van outside of the target’s home address.  The 
intended directed surveillance operation intends to capture by photographs and video, the 

                                                                 
11

 Council’s CCTV Policy (insert link) 
12

 RIPA Section 26(9)(a) 
13

 RIPA Section 28 
14

 RIPA Section 29 
15

 RIPA Section 32 
16

 Covert Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code of Practice 2018, paragraph 3.1 

66



 

13 
 

target attending and/or exiting the property, to ascertain his method of transport, whether 
he is the driver or passenger and the extent to which he can walk unaided.   

19. DS is necessary for the prevention or detection of crime as it is suspected the target has 
invented and/or exaggerated his purported disabilities, thus the offence being investigated 
is fraud.  Fraud is a criminal offence which satisfies the DS local authority pre-condition test, 
namely the Crime Threshold Test requiring the offence being investigated is punishable with 
imprisonment of at least six months (see below). 

 
20. The proposed DS operation is covert, is to be used for a specific investigation and will be 

conducted in a manner likely to result in obtaining private information about the target, 
namely his movements, mobility, family members and his daily activities in and around his 
home address.  Accordingly, the intended surveillance operation constitutes DS, therefore a 
RIPA DS authorisation is required and must be obtained along with Judicial Approval, before 
and in order, to ensure the DS is lawfully obtained and is any evidence obtained is admissible 
in criminal proceedings.  

 
COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCES [CHIS] 
 

21. A CHIS is perhaps more commonly known as an informant.  A person is a CHIS if 
they/them:17 

 
a) establishes or maintains a personal or other relationship with a person for the covert 

purpose of facilitating that doing of anything falling within paragraphs (b) or (c); 
 

b) covertly uses such a relationship to obtain information or provide access to any information 
to another person; or 
 

c) covertly discloses information obtained by the use of such a relationship, or as a 
consequence of the existence of such a relationship 

 
22. A relationship is established or maintained for a covert purpose if any only if it is conducted 

in a manner that is calculated to ensure that one of the parties to the relationship is 
unaware of the purpose.18  A covert relationship and information obtained from it disclosed 
covertly, if and only if it is to be used, or as the cased may be, disclosed in a manner that is 
calculated to ensure that one of the parties to the relationship is unaware of the use or 
disclosure in question.19 

 
23. Most CHIS applications are for both use and conduct of a CHIS as the CHIS is usually tasked 

to undertake covert action and once completed to respond to tasking.  Care should be taken 
to ensure the CHIS is clearly instructed on the type and remit of the task and that all CHIS 
activities are properly risk assessed.   

 
24. In practice the reactive nature of the work of a CHIS and the need for a CHIS to maintain 

cover may make it necessary to engage in conduct which was not envisaged at the time the 
authorisation and Judicial Approval was granted.  Such conduct is deemed incidental and is 
regarded as property authorised even if not included in the initial authorisation but is likely 

                                                                 
17

 RIPA Section 26(8)(a)-(c) 
18

 RIPA Section 26(9)(b) 
19

 RIPA Section 26(9)(c) 

67



 

14 
 

to occur only in exceptional circumstances such as where the incidental conduct is necessary 
to protect life and limb or national security. 

 
 
Key Difference Between Directed Surveillance & CHIS  
 

25. The key difference between DS and the use of a CHIS is that the first involves obtaining 
private information through covert means, whereas the second involves the manipulation of 
a relationship to obtain information.  Any manipulation of a relationship amounts to a 
fundamental breach of trust which depending on the covert purposes, can place a CHIS in 
serious danger.  Consequently, extra precautions may be required to ensure a CHIS is not 
identified. 

 
Establishing, Maintaining & Using a Relationship 
 

26. Establishing a relationship means the “set up,” and maintenance of the relationship but 
which does not require endurance over any particular period20 and so a relationship of seller 
and buyer may be deemed to exist between a shopkeeper and customer even if only a single 
transaction takes place.  Repetition of a sale does not determine the existence of a 
relationship as this is determined on all the circumstances including the length of time of the 
contact between the two and the nature of any covert activity. 

 
Example 1 
  

27. Intelligence suggests a local shopkeeper openly sells alcohol to underage customers without 
asking any questions.  The Council task a trained juvenile to make a purchase of alcohol 
where no prior discussion between the shopkeeper and juvenile is required and thus it is not 
necessary to establish a relationship between the two.  The tasked juvenile is not a CHIS, but 
it is good practice to obtain a Directed Surveillance Authorisation (see paragraph 39). 

 
Example 2 
 

28. A like scenario but where the shopkeeper only sells to juveniles known to and trusted by 
them from a room at the back of the shop.  To gain access to the room it is necessary for the 
trained tasked juvenile to first be deployed to establish/set up a relationship between the 
two so that he can gain the shopkeeper’s trust.  In these circumstances a relationship was 
necessary and so was established and maintained for a covert purpose, thus a CHIS 
authorisation is required.  Please note the additional safeguards for juvenile CHIS and the 
duration of the authorisation (see below).  

 
CHIS SCENARIOS   
 

29. A CHIS may be an officer or member of the public.  Previous common examples of a CHIS 
were the infiltration of gang, or an undercover police officer recruited into a drugs 
operation.    

 
Relevant Source 
 

                                                                 
20

 CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021 paragraph 2.17 

68



 

15 
 

30. This is a CHIS who holds an office, rank or position with the public authority which does not 
include local authorities, hence they local authorities are prohibited from using this type of 
CHIS.21  

 
Participating CHIS’s 
 

31. The Covert Human Intelligence Sources (Criminal Conduct) Act 202122 introduced an explicit 
statutory power for the intelligence agencies, law enforcement and a number of limited 
wide public authorities to authorise a CHIS to participate in criminal conduct where it is 
necessary and proportionate to do so.  Local authorities do not fall within the remit of wider 
public authorities and so are prohibited from utilising a participating CHIS.23 

 
Online Role Player 
 

32. Suspects’ increased use of social media has led to CHIS techniques expanding to include the 
use of online CHISs, known as a “role players,” who do not disclose their true identity.  Any 
covert online operation involving a tasked role player to establish and/or maintain a 
relationship for the covert purpose of obtaining information and/or provide access to any 
information to another person and/or the disclosure of information constitutes a CHIS, 
albeit the relationship is exclusively online.   
 

33. The forums online role players can be deployed in include social media networking sites, 
chat rooms and online gaming Apps.  Where a website or social media account requires a 
minimal level of interaction, such as sending or receiving a friend request before access is 
permitted, this may not be sufficient to amount to establishing a relationship.  Equally 
electronic gestures such as “like,” or “follow,” in response to a post does not in itself 
constitute forming a relationship.  Whilst these scenarios do not constitute a CHIS, they do 
both require a DS authorisation. 
 

34. Some websites require a user to register providing personal identifiers such as name and 
phone number.  If an officer is authorised to use a Council controlled account in a false 
identity (pseudonym) in order to register for a website, that in itself does not amount to 
establishing a relationship and so a CHIS authorisation is not immediately required. 
However, consideration should be given to the need for a directed surveillance authorisation 
if the conduct is likely to result in the acquisition of private information, and the other 
relevant criteria are met. 
 

35. If an officer sends a request to join a closed group known to be administered by a subject of 
interest connected to a specific investigation a DS authorisation should be obtained to cover 
the covert monitoring of the site.  If having entered the group it is intended the officer or 
CHIS will engage in such interaction to obtain, provide access to, or disclose information, a 
CHIS authorisation is required24. 
 

                                                                 
21

 Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Covert Human Intelligence Sources: Relevant Sources) Order 2013, 
Article 8 
22

The Regulation of Investigator Powers (Criminal Conduct Authorisations) (Amendment) Order 2021 (SI 
2021/680) in force from 10 August 2021 
23

 The Regulation of Investigator Powers (Criminal Conduct Authorisations) (Amendment) Order 2021, Article 7 
24

 CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021, paragraph 4.29 

69



 

16 
 

36. Where the use of the internet is part of the tasking of a CHIS, the risk assessment carried out 
in accordance with the Code,25 should include consideration of the risks arising from that 
online activity, including factors such as the length of time spent online and the material to 
which the CHIS may be exposed.  This should also take into account of any disparity between 
the technical skills of the CHIS and those of the handler or AO and the extent to which this 
may impact on the effectiveness of oversight.26 
 

37. Where it is intended that one or more officer shares the same online persona, each officer 
should be clearly identifiable within the overarching authorisation for that operation, 
providing clear information about the conduct required of each officer and including risk 
assessments in relation to each officer involved.  This situation may arise when officers are 
working in shifts with regards their monitoring and interaction with the subject. 
 

38. Please see below ONLINE COVERT SURVEILLANCE INCLUDING SOCIAL 
MEDIA/NETWORKING SITES for further guidance. 

 
Test Purchasing 
 

39. The Council’s position regarding test purchases for one-off sales carried out by either an 
adult or juvenile is that such conduct does not constitute CHIS, as the purchaser is not 
required to, nor does he/she establish any relationship in a one-off sale.  However, you 
should consider whether test purchasing requires a DS authorisation, particularly where it is 
intended to covertly record the test purchase. 

 

Public Volunteer  
 

40. In many cases involving human sources, a relationship will not have been established or 
maintained for a covert purpose.  Members of the public often volunteer or provide 
information they have observed or acquired other than through a relationship and without 
having been induced, asked, or tasked which is not a CHIS scenario.  Even if the volunteer 
was subsequently tasked to continue to obtain and provide such information to the Council 
if it is not necessary to establish or maintain a relationship in order to obtain and provide 
this information the informant does not become a CHIS.  However, please note this activity 
would require a DS authorisation27. 

 
41. If a person provides anonymous tip off information to a hotline, even if the caller obtained 

the information because of a relationship, such as reporting their son for having extensively 

graffitied a skate park located in Eastleigh, having seen the images on their son’s private 

Instagram account, the parent is not a CHIS, as the information is not being disclosed on the 

basis of a relationship which was established or maintained for a covert purpose.  However, 

if the caller is asked and agrees to be tasked to provide further information thereafter based 

upon their relationship, then a CHIS authorisation is required, and the informant should be 

treated as a CHIS. 

  
Status Drift  
 

                                                                 
25

 CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021, paragraph 4.31 
26

 CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021, paragraph 4.31 
27

 CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021, paragraph 2.23 

70



 

17 
 

42. A less obvious CHIS where a member of the public initially provides the information of their 
own volition and so was not tasked, but subsequently becomes a CHIS due to “status drift.”  
This arises where the member of the public provides repeat information about suspect(s) in 
circumstances where it becomes apparent that the untasked informant obtained the 
information during his family or neighbourhood relationship.  The reality is the untasked 
informant has due to status drift become an informant and thus is a CHIS. 

 
 
 
 
Use of Equipment by a CHIS 
 

43. A CHIS wearing or carrying a surveillance device does not need a separate directed or 
intrusive surveillance authorisation provided the device will only be used in the presence of 
the CHIS.  Please note, local authorities are prohibited from carrying out Intrusive 
Surveillance. 

 
Local Considerations & Community Impact Assessments  
 

44. For CHIS applications both the Applicant, AO and Magistrate need to be aware of any 
sensitivities in the local community where the CHIS is being used and of similar activities 
being undertaken by other public authorities which could have an impact on the deployment 
of the CHIS. Consideration should also be given to any adverse impact on community 
confidence or safety that may result from the use or conduct of a CHIS or use of information 
obtained from that CHIS.  The Code recommends where an AO from a public authority 
considers that conflicts may arise, where possible they should consult a senior officer within 
the police force areas in which the CHIS is deployed.  All public authorities should also 
consider consulting with other relevant public authorities to gauge community impact.28  

 
SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR CHIS AUTHORISATIONS 
 

45. For both vulnerable individuals and juveniles, only the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) 
or the person acting as Chief Executive are permitted to authorise CHIS Applications and/or 
Renewals.29 Further, the Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office must be informed 
within 7 days of a CHIS authorisation of a vulnerable adult or a juvenile source.30 

 
Vulnerable Individuals 

 

46. A “ Vulnerable Individual,” is a person who is or may be in need of community care 
services by reason of mental or other disability, age, or illness and who is or may be 
unable to take care of themselves, or unable to protect themselves against significant 
harm or exploitation.  A vulnerable individual should only be authorised to act as a CHIS in 
the most exceptional circumstances.31   

 
 
 

                                                                 
28

 CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021, paragraph 3.27 
29

 CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021, paragraph Annex A 
30

 CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021, paragraph 4.1 
31

 CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021, paragraph 4.2 

71



 

18 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Juveniles  

 

47. Whilst it is unlikely the Council will deploy a juvenile CHIS, if utilised, the following enhanced 
safeguards for Juvenile CHIS’s (under 18) must be complied with32:  

 

 Juvenile CHIS Authorisation duration extended from 1 to 4 months; 

 Use of a Juvenile CHIS is not to be authorised unless the public authority has made a risk 
assessment which must take into account the risk of any physical injury or psychological 
distress to the source arising in the course of or as a result of the conduct being authorised.  
The assessment must be taken into account by the person granting the authorisation who 
must ensure any risks are justified and that the risks have been explained to and understood 
by the source.  The risk assessment must be updated before any renewal is authorised; 

 For sources between 16-18, a decision whether or not to inform a parent or guardian of a 
source is taken on a case by case basis; 

 For sources under 16: 
 

 A prohibition on a source being tasked in relation to a parent or person with parental 
responsibility; 
 

 A requirement for an appropriate adult to be present at all meetings between the 
source and the public authority tasking them; 

 

 Requirement that where the young person’s parent is available but may not 
themselves be suitable to act as one (e.g., if they support the ideology or criminal 
intentions of those against whom the juvenile CHIS may be deployed), there should 
be a suitable qualified person to act as the appropriate adult; 

 

48. In addition to the requirements and safeguards of RIPA, the Orders and Code of Practice, 
relevant public authorities may also wish to put in place further internal guidance to support 
their staff in the operation of a CHIS, for example a process to be followed as to how to 
safeguard and promote the wellbeing of the juvenile CHIS, including how to assess their 
maturity and capacity to give informed consent; a requirement to ensure the handlers are 
property trained to deal with young people and requirements to consider all aspects of 
safeguarding to a young person. 

 

                                                                 
32

 Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Juveniles) Order 2000 as amended by Regulation of Investigatory 
Powers (Juveniles) (Amendment) Order 2018 (SI 2018/715) and CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021, 
paragraphs 4.3- 4.10 

72



 

19 
 

MANAGEMENT OF A CHIS  
 

49. Tasking is the assignment given to the CHIS asking them to obtain, provide access to or 
disclose information.  In order, for an Authorising Officer (“AO”) to be able to grant a CHIS 
authorisation, both the AO Magistrate (Judicial Approval), must believe that in addition to 
the operation being necessary and proportionate, that arrangements exist ensuring that33: 

 
(a) there will be at all times a “handler,” of the specified rank with the relevant investigatory 

authority, with day-to-day responsibility for the source.”   
 

50. The handler of a CHIS will have day to day responsibility for dealing with and directing the 
CHIS, recording information supplied by the CHIS and monitoring the CHIS’s security and 
welfare which should be brought to the attention of the CHIS controller if there are any 
concerns regarding the personal circumstances of the CHIS which might affect either the 
validity of the risk assessment; the conduct of the CHIS; and the safety and welfare of the 
CHIS.  The handler is usually the rank or position below the AO. 

 
(b) that there will be at all times a “controller,” of the specified rank with the relevant 

investigatory authority with general oversight of the use made of the source; 
 

(c) that there will at all times be a person of the specified rank with the relevant investigatory 
authority who will have responsibility for maintaining a record of the use made of the 
source; 
 

(d) that the records relating to the source that are maintained by the relevant investigatory 
authority will always contain particulars of all such matters (if any) as may be specified for 
the purposes of this paragraph in regulations made by the Secretary of State; 
 

(e) that the records maintained that disclose the identity of the source will not be available to 
persons except to the extent that there is a need for access to them to be made available to 
those persons; 

 

CHIS Records 
 

51. Detailed records must be kept of the authorisation and use made of a CHIS in accordance 

with the Order.34 In addition, records of copies of the following should be kept for at least 

five years35: 

 

 a copy of the authorisation together with any supplementary documentation and 

notification of the approval given by the authorising officer;  

 a copy of any renewal of an authorisation, together with the supporting documentation 

submitted when the renewal was requested;  

 the reason why the person renewing an authorisation considered it necessary to do so; 

 any authorisation which was granted or renewed orally (in an urgent case) and the reason 

why the case was considered urgent;  

                                                                 
33

 RIPA Section 29(4A) & (5) 
34

 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Sources Records) Regulations 2000, Article 3 (a) – (n) 
35

 CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021, paragraph 8.1 

73



 

20 
 

 any risk assessment made in relation to the CHIS;  

 the circumstances in which tasks were given to the CHIS; 

 the value of the CHIS to the investigating authority; 

 a record of the results of any reviews of the authorisation;  

 the reasons, if any, for not renewing an authorisation;  

 the reasons for cancelling an authorisation; and  

 the date and time when any instruction was given by the authorising officer that the conduct 

or use of a CHIS must cease. 

 

52. Relevant investigatory authority,” means the public authority for whose benefit the activities 
of that individual as such a source are undertaken.36 

 
Security & Welfare 
 

53. Any public authority deploying a CHIS should take into account the safety and welfare of the 
CHIS when carrying out actions in relation to an authorisations or tasking, and the 
foreseeable consequences to others of that tasking.  Before authorising the use or conduct 
of a CHIS, the AO should ensure a risk assessment is carried out to determine the risk to the 
CHIS of any tasking and the likely consequences should the role of the CHIS become known.  
This should consider the risks relating to the specific tasking and circumstances of each 
authorisation and should be updated to reflect developments during the course of the 
deployment, as well as after deployed if contact is maintained.  The ongoing security and 
welfare of the CHIS after the cancellation of the authorisation should also be considered at 
the outset and reviewed during the authorisation period of the CHIS.  

 
54. Consideration must also be given to the management of any requirement to disclose 

information which could risk revealing the existence or identity of the CHIS.  For example, 
this could occur due to disclosure to a court or tribunal or any other circumstance where 
disclosure of information may be required and strategies minimising the risks to a CHIS or 
others should be put in place.   

 
55. Where appropriate concerns about are raised to and considered by the AO, a decision must 

be taken as to whether or not the authorisation should continue. 
 
INTRUSIVE SURVEILLANCE (PROHIBITED) 
 

56. As set out above, local authorities are prohibited from carrying out intrusive surveillance.  
Intrusive surveillance is covert surveillance that37: 

 
a) consists in the carrying out of intrusive surveillance of any such description as is specified in 

the authorisation; 
 

b) is carried out in relation to anything taking place on any residential premises or in any 
private vehicle; 
 

c) is carried out for the purposes of, or in connection with the investigation or operation so 
specified or described 

                                                                 
36

 RIPA Section 29(8) 
37

 RIPA Section 32(5)(a)-(c) 

74



 

21 
 

 
57. Intrusive surveillance involves the presence of an individual on the premises or in the vehicle 

or is carried out by means of a surveillance device. Surveillance equipment outside the 
premises or vehicle will not be intrusive unless the device consistently provides information 
of the same quality and detail as might be expected from a device that is in the 
premises/vehicle.  

 
 
 

58. Private vehicle means any vehicle which issued primarily for the private purposes of the 
person who owns it or of a person otherwise having the right to use it.38 Residential 
premises means so much of any premises as is for the time being occupied or used by any 
person, however temporarily, for residential purposes or otherwise as living accommodation 
(including hotel or prison accommodation that is so occupied or used).  DS carried out on 
premises ordinarily used for legal consultations at a time when they are being used as such 
is to be treated as intrusive surveillance.39   

 
AERIEL COVERT SURVEILLANCE (DRONES) 
 

59. Where surveillance is to be carried out by airborne crafts or devices for example unmanned 
aircraft colloquially known as drones, consideration should be given as to whether a 
surveillance authorisation is required.  In determining whether the surveillance is to be 
regarded as covert, consideration should be given as to the reduced visibility of a craft or 
device at altitude. 

 
ONLINE OVERT & COVERT SURVEILLANCE INCLUDING SOCIAL MEDIA/NETWORKING SITES 
 

60. Eastleigh Borough Council has published “Social Media Guidelines” which is found on the 
Staff Hub,40 and specially addresses the use of social media for investigations.   

 
Permitted Online Access  
 

61. To undertake any form of overt and / or covert online surveillance Staff/officers must only 
use a social media account; account name; login details that have been authorised, created, 
and is controlled by an AO on behalf of the Council,  

 
Prohibitions 
 

62. The following activity is prohibited by any Council staff member seeking to undertake either 
initial intelligence gathering and/or for any form of overt and/or covert surveillance.   

 
Officers are prohibited from: 
 

(a) using their own personal social media accounts and /or their personal login details to 
undertake intelligence gathering and/or any form of overt or covert surveillance; 
 

                                                                 
38

 RIPA Section 48(1), S48(7)(a) - (b) & S48(8) 
39

 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Extension of Authorisations Provisions: Legal Consultations) Order 
2010 No 461  
40

 Staff Hub Social Media Guidelines (insert link) 

75



 

22 
 

(b) using a false identity(pseudonym) to carry out overt surveillance; 
 

(c) using a false identity (pseudonym) to carry out covert surveillance unless this activity, 
pseudonym, and details of the true identity of the officer are all contained in the DS or CHIS 
application, which must be authorised by an AO and Judicial Approval granted; 
 

(d) adopting the identity of a person known, or likely to be known to the subject of interest 
and/or users of the site for either overt and/or covert DS or to be used by a CHIS; 

 
 
ONLINE OVERT ACTIVITY  
 
Publicly Available information (PAI) 
 

63. In addition to utilising online role players as CHIS’s, there is a wealth of information available 
online which provides opportunities for public authorities to view and/or gather intelligence 
and/or evidence.  This is often referred to as publicly available information (PAI) or open 
source research. 

 
64. The fact the content of many social media sites and websites are freely accessible does not 

mean officers can access the material without consideration of and in accordance with RIPA.  
Consideration must therefore be given as to the likelihood of the subject knowing that the 
surveillance is or may be taking place.   

 
65. Initially information accessed for intelligence purposes only and/or to establish or check 

basic facts are unlikely to require a DS RIPA authorisation.  Further, if online open resource 
research is undertaken prior to an investigation, it is unlikely to engage privacy 
considerations and will not require a DS authorisation at that stage.  Where a public 
authority has taken reasonable steps to inform the public or individual that the surveillance 
is or may be taking place, the activity is overt, and a DS authorisation is not normally 
required. 

 
66. Undertaking open source research on platforms such as Companies House containing 

information about an individual in a publicly accessible database is unlikely to provide the 
subject a reasonable expectation of privacy.  Similarly, subjects who post material on social 
media networks or websites to engage with a wide audience are less likely to hold a 
reasonable expectation of privacy in relation to that information.   

 
67. Accessing social media accounts having been given full access with the consent of the owner 

does not negate the need to consider whether the account may contain information about 
others who have not given their consent such as friends who comment or post within this 
account, which constitutes collateral intrusion (see below).   

 
ONLINE COVERT ACTIVITY  
 

68. The use of a Council controlled account(s) to undertake online covert activity does not 
create a CHIS scenario, because it does not in itself amount to establishing a relationship, 
but consideration should be given to obtain a DS authorisation and Judicial Approval if the 
conduct is likely to result in the acquisition of private information and the other relevant 

76



 

23 
 

criteria are met41.  The key issue is therefore the intended purpose and scope the online 
activity is proposed to be.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Online Covert Directed Surveillance 
 

69. Factors to be considered in establishing whether a DS authorisation is required for online 
covert directed surveillance include42: 
 

 Whether the investigation or research is directed towards an individual or organisation;  

 Whether it is likely to result in obtaining private information about a person or group of 
people (taking account of the guidance at paragraph 3.6 above);  

 Whether it is likely to involve visiting internet sites to build up an intelligence picture or 
profile; 

 Whether the information obtained will be recorded and retained;  

 Whether the information is likely to provide an observer with a pattern of lifestyle;  

 Whether the information is being combined with other sources of information or 
intelligence, which amounts to information relating to a person’s private life; 

 Whether the investigation or research is part of an ongoing piece of work involving repeated 
viewing of the subject(s);  

 Whether it is likely to involve identifying and recording information about third parties, such 
as friends and family members of the subject of interest, or information posted by third 
parties, that may include private information and therefore constitute collateral intrusion 
into the privacy of these third parties; 
 

70. Where information is openly available in the public domain, whilst there may be a reduced 
expectation of privacy, such as where information relating to person or a group of people is 
made openly available within the public domain, there may still be privacy implications 
because whilst it was intended to make the information publicly available, it was not to be 
used for a covert purpose such as an investigation.  This is the position regardless of whether 
a user of a website or social media platform sought to protect such information by 
restricting its access by activating privacy settings.43 

 
71. An example would be a local Facebook buy and sell group with 5000 members for the 

purpose of offering new and/or used items for sale.  The Council is investigating a subject 
and it was known the subject advertised counterfeit items for sale within this Facebook 
group which first required the group’s administrator to accept the invite request to join.  If 
an officer sent an invite to join the group in order to identify, access and monitor the posts 
of the subject as part of this investigation, then despite the fact it was a large Facebook 
group with no privacy settings once membership was authorised, a DS authorisation should 

                                                                 
41

 CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021, paragraph 4.26 
42

 Covert Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code of Practice 2018, paragraph 3.16 
43

 Covert Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code of Practice 2018, paragraph 3.13 

77



 

24 
 

be sought as when the administrators made the group publicly available with no privacy 
settings, it was not anticipated that the information accessible would be used for a covert 
purpose such as this investigation. 
 

72. Repeated or systematic viewing, collecting, or recording of private information from “open,” 
social media sources such as Facebook, Twitter, Snapchat, and LinkedIn including 
information relating to the interests, activities and movements of individuals and their 
associates could be regarded as a form of covert surveillance.  Once the access and study of 
an individual’s online presence becomes persistent or where any material obtained is to be 
extracted and recorded and may engage privacy considerations, such as screenshotting a 
Facebook account, then a DS RIPA authorisation should be obtained and the fact this 
information was provided and shared online does not alter this position. 

73. Please note, internet searches carried out by third parties on behalf of a public authority 
may still require a DS authorisation.44  

 
Online Covert CHIS 
 

74. Any member of a public authority, or person acting on their behalf, who conducts activity on 
the internet in such a way that they may interact with others, whether by publicly open 
websites such as an online news and social networking service, or more private exchanges 
such as e-messaging sites, in circumstances where the other parties could not reasonably be 
expected to know their true identity,45 should consider whether the activity requires a CHIS 
authorisation. 
 

75. An example would be the Council tasks an officer to covertly purchase goods from several 
websites to obtain information about the identity of the seller, country of origin of the goods 
and banking arrangements.  In doing so the officer will be required to engage with the seller 
to obtain the information required and to complete the purchases.  This scenario requires 
the officer to establish and maintain a relationship with the seller and therefore a CHIS 
authorisation is required. 
 

76. This section should be read in conjunction with CHIS – Online Role Players above. 
 

LOCAL AUTHORITY RIPA PROHIBITIONS  
 

77. Local authorities are prohibited from carrying out: 
 

i) Intrusive Surveillance; 
ii) Property Interference; 
iii) Authorising urgent authorisations; 
iv) CHIS Criminal Conduct authorisations; 

 
78. If any officer considers trespass is required as part of any authorised surveillance this would 

constitute property interference which is prohibited.  The surveillance should therefore 
cease immediately, and the operation should be referred to both the AO and SRO as a 
matter of urgency.    

 

                                                                 
44

 Covert Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code of Practice 2018, paragraph 4.32 
45

 As an official rather than a private individual 

78



 

25 
 

LOCAL AUTHORITY RIPA LIMITATIONS  
 

79. RIPA limits local authorities to using three covert techniques for the purpose of preventing 
or detecting crime or preventing disorder46: 

 
i) Directed Surveillance; 
ii) Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS); 
iii) Communications data; 

 
80. The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 (POFA) came into force on 1 November 2012 and 

introduced significant changes and limitations to how local authorities are permitted to 
utilise RIPA, in addition to being required to obtain Judicial Approval (see below). 

Judicial Approval of Local Authority RIPA authorisations 
 

81. Authorisations and notices under RIPA for the use of directed surveillance and CHIS are not 
effective until Judicial Approval has been granted by a Justice of the Peace.47  Please note, 
Judicial Approval is no longer required for Communications Data applications (see below).  

 
Directed surveillance Crime Threshold Test 

 
82. The Crime Threshold Test only applies to authorisations and renewals for Directed 

Surveillance.  Local authorities are only permitted grant an authorisation for directed 
surveillance for criminal offences which either are48: 
 

a) punishable whether on summary conviction or indictment by a maximum custodial sentence 
of six months or more; or 

b) related to the underage sale of alcohol or tobacco; 
c) related to underage sale49 and/or proxy purchasing50 of nicotine inhaling products51 

 
83. Examples of offences that satisfy the Crime Threshold are more serious criminal damage, 

dangerous waste dumping and serious or serial benefit fraud.  If an officer is unsure of the 
relevant criminal offence(s) being investigated or the penalties, legal advice should be 
obtained from a Prosecution specialist52 who will assist in identifying the potential criminal 
offence(s) arising out of the facts of the investigation at that stage.  If no offence is identified 
and/or the offences identified do not satisfy the Crime Threshold Test, a DS RIPA application 
should not be submitted and/or authorised. 

 
Prevention of Disorder 

 
84. Local authorities cannot authorise directed surveillance for the purpose of preventing 

disorder unless it involves criminal offence punishable by a maximum of term of at least 6 

                                                                 
46

 RIPA Schedule 1 Part 1 paragraph 17 
47

 Section 38 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 
48

 Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) 
(Amendment) Order 2012 (SI 2012/1500) 
49

 Lawful age to sell nicotine inhaling products is 18  
50

 The adult making the purchase commits the offence not the retailer  
51

 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) 
(Amendment) Order 2015 (SI 937) in force since 1 October 2015 
52

 Appendix 11 

79



 

26 
 

months e.g., affray which is normally prosecuted by the police in any event rather than a 
local authority.  Local authorities are therefore no longer permitted to use RIPA for low level 
offences for example dog fouling, littering, dog control, fly posting.  These restrictions 
therefore impact investigations from the outset as they require consideration at the 
commencement of an investigation as to whether the conduct being investigated is a 
criminal offence.  If an investigation has already commenced for conduct amounting to a 
criminal offence that would satisfy the Crime Threshold test, but during the investigation the 
position changes so the conduct amounts to a less serious offence not meeting the 
threshold, then any live directed surveillance authorisation should be cancelled forthwith. 

 
 
 
 
 
TWO MANDATORY TEST FOR DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE & CHIS 
 
NECESSITY 
 

85. A local authority Authorising Officer (AO) shall not grant an authorisation for the carrying 
out of Directed Surveillance and/or CHIS unless he/she believes the authorisation is 
necessary.  The sole necessity ground applicable to local authorities is,” for the purpose of 
preventing or detecting crime or disorder.”53 

 
86. The officer completing and submitting the application must carefully explain why it is 

necessary to use the covert technique requested and the AO must explain why/she is 
satisfied the covert surveillance is necessary.  Please note, in the case of Directed 
Surveillance the Crime Threshold Test must also be satisfied (see above). 

 
PROPORTIONALITY 
 

87. A local authority Authorising Officer (AO) shall not grant an authorisation for the carrying 
out of Directed Surveillance and/or CHIS unless he/she believes the authorised surveillance 
is proportionate to what is sought to be achieved by carrying it out.54  No activity should be 
considered proportionate if the information which is sought could reasonably be obtained 
by other less intrusive means.   

 
88. The following should be considered in determining proportionality:55 

 

 balancing the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity and extent of the 
perceived crime or harm;  

 explaining how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least possible intrusion 
on the subject and others;  

 considering whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation and a reasonable 
way, having considered all reasonable alternatives, of obtaining the information sought;  

 evidencing, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods had been considered and 
why they were not implemented, or have been implemented unsuccessfully; 

 

                                                                 
53

 RIPA Directed Surveillance Section 28(3)(b) & CHIS Section 29(3)(b) 
54

 RIPA Directed Surveillance Section 28(2)(b) & CHIS Section 29(2)(b) 
55

 Covert Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code of Practice 2018, paragraph 4.7 

80



 

27 
 

89. The officer completing and submitting the application must carefully explain why the 
particular covert method, technique and tactic is an appropriate use of RIPA and a 
reasonable way of achieving the desired objective.     

 
90. The AO must consider the risk of obtaining private information about persons who are not 

the subjects of the surveillance (collateral intrusion).  In brief, the AO needs to clearly 
articulate why the proposed activity is proportionate to what is sought to be achieved and 
take into account, the risk of obtaining private information about persons who are not the 
subjects of the surveillance activity (collateral intrusion).  The AO’s considerations need to 
be fully documented. 

 
 
 
 
 
AUTHORISATIONS 
 

91. Surveillance will be lawful if56: 
 

(c) an authorisation under this Part confers an entitlement to engage in that conduct on the 
person whose conduct it is; and 
 

(d) his conduct is in accordance with the authorisation  
 
 

KEY ROLES 
 
AUTHORISING OFFICERS 
 

92. A designated person known as an “Authorising Officer,” (AO) is lawfully permitted to grant 
authorisations for Directed Surveillance or use of a CHIS.  The rank of local (AO’s) lawfully 
permitted to act as AO are Director, Head of Service, Service Manager or equivalent.57  
EBC’s list of AOs is contained within the Appendices58 and is reviewed and maintained by the 
SRO.  Before and in order to become an AO, training must be completed the SRO must 
authorise the AO to commence their role.   

 
93. The Chief Executive is an AO’s (Head of Paid Service) and is the only one permitted to 

approve any action or operation involving the recruitment of a juvenile CHIS, any other 
vulnerable person or where surveillance may result in the Council obtaining access to legally 
privileged or confidential information.  Please note, local authority authorising officers are 
not permitted to authorise urgent authorisations. 

 
94. AOs are responsible for ensuring all staff who report to them for the purposes of RIPA 

receive a copy of this Policy; are informed of the mandatory requirement to follow this 
Policy; require internal authorisation and thereafter Judicial Approval before a covert 
surveillance operation can be undertaken and commenced.   

                                                                 
56

 RIPA Section 27(1) 
57

 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Directed Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources) Order 
2010 No 521, Schedule, Part 1 & 480 
58

 Appendix 2 

81



 

28 
 

 
95. The Investigatory Powers Commissioners Officer (IPCO) confirms the “responsibility for 

authorising an activity always remains with the Authorising Officer,” even after Judicial 
Approval.  This responsibility includes conducting timely reviews, renewals if required and 
cancelling the authorisation promptly once the operation is concluded or if grounds for the 
authorisation no longer apply, rather than simply permitting the remaining time of the 
authorisation to run out. 

 
96. All AOs should wherever possible be independent of the investigation and this is one of the 

criteria within the RIPA URN Request Form.59  Where the AO authorises their own activity 
this will be recorded in the RIPA Centrally Retrievable Record60 and should be highlighted to 
the IPCO inspector at the next inspection. 
 

97. AOs are urged not, “restrict contemplation to the type of tactic rather than the specific facts 
of the activity.  It is unwise to approach RIPA … from the perspective of labels.”  It is the AO’s 
statutory duty to be satisfied the proposed activity is both necessary and proportionate.  The 
AO should set out in their own words why they believe the covert surveillance is both 
necessary and proportionate.   

 
98. AOs should routinely state “who, what, when, where and how,” i.e., who is the target; what 

action is being authorised; when it is to take place; where or at which location; how the 
activity is to be done.  Care must also be taken to ensure words used do not unintentionally 
limit the activity.  This can be avoided by using wording such “and/or,” to permit both 
alternatives. 

 
99. AO’s must also pay particular attention to Health and Safety issues that may arise or be 

raised by any propose surveillance.  Under no circumstances should an AO approve a RIPA 
application any form of surveillance unless and until, they are health and safety of Council 
employees/agents are suitably addressed and/or the risks minimised, so far as is possible 
and proportionate to/with the proposed surveillance.  If any AO is in any doubt, they should 
obtain prior guidance regarding the issue from a member of the Management Team, the 
Council’s Health and Safety Officer and/or the SRO. 

 
SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER 
 

100. The Council’s Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) is the Council’s Legal Services 
Manager61 in accordance with the requirement that the SRO is a member of the corporate 
leadership team62.  The Codes for Directed Surveillance, CHIS and Communications Data 
specifies the SRO is responsible for63: 

 

 The integrity of the process in place within the public authority to authorise directed 
surveillance and request communications data; 

 Compliance with Part II of RIPA, Part 3 of Investigatory Powers Act (IPA) and Codes  

                                                                 
59

 Appendix 15 
60

 Appendix 5 
61

 Appendix 1 
62

 Directed Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code of Practice 2018, paragraph 4.46 
63

 Directed Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code of Practice 2018, paragraph 4.41 

82



 

29 
 

 Oversight of the reporting errors to the Investigatory Powers Commissioner (IPC) and the 
identification of both the cause(s) of errors and implementation of processes to minimize 
repetition of errors; similarly, to The Office of Communications Data Authorisations (OCDA) 

 Engagement with IPCO and inspectors who support the Commissioner when they conduct 
their inspections; similarly, with OCDA and its inspectors;  

 Where necessary, overseeing the implementation of any post-inspection action plans 
recommended or approved by a Judicial Commissioner; similarly, the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner; 

 Ensuring that all authorising officers are of an appropriate standard, addressing any 
recommendations and concerns in the inspection reports prepared by the Investigatory 
Powers Commissioner; 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

101. The SRO is responsible for and required to provide or organise training for AO’s and 
certifying any new AO.  The SRO is authorised to retract an AO’s certification and 
authorisation if it is felt the AO has either not complied with the statutory framework and/or 
this Policy.   To reactivate an AO’s RIPA certificate of authorisation further approved training 
will be required.  The SRO is also responsible for ensuring all relevant members of staff who 
do or may utilise RIPA as “Applicants,” receive RIPA training to ensure they are aware of the 
RIPA statutory framework and process.  

 
JUDICIAL APPROVAL 
 

102. Since 1 November 2012 local authorities must obtain Judicial Approval for both 
Directed Surveillance and CHIS Applications and Renewals, in addition to requiring internal 
authorisation from an AO.   Please note, Judicial Approval is not required for reviews or 
cancellations and is no longer required for Communications Data applications (see below).  
The process for applying for Judicial Approval is set out in Appendices 18 & 19 and the 
authorisation does not commence until it has been obtained. 

 

 
KEY TERMS 
 
PRIVATE INFORMATION   
 

103. Private information relates to a person who has or may have a reasonable 
expectation of privacy, including any information relating to his private or family life,64 such 
as a person’s private or personal relationship with others such as family and professional or 
business relationships.  Whilst a person may have a reduced expectation of privacy in a 
public place, covert surveillance of that person’s activities may still result in obtaining private 
information.  An example would be two people holding a conversation in a bus street or on a 
bus who may have a reasonable expectation of privacy over the contents of their 

                                                                 
64

 RIPA section 26(10) 

83



 

30 
 

conversation and so a DS authorisation would be appropriate for a public authority to record 
or listen to the conversation as part of a specific operation or investigation. 

 
COLLATERAL INTRUSION 
 
Directed Surveillance  
 

104. Before authorising directed surveillance, the AO should consider the risk of 
obtaining private information about persons who are not the subjects of the surveillance.    
Particular consideration should be given in cases where religious, medical, journalistic, or 
legally privileged material may be involved or where communications between a member of 
parliament and another person on constituency business may be involved.   

 
105. An application should include an assessment of the risk of collateral intrusion and 

the details of any/all measures taken to limit this, to enable the AO to fully consider the 
proportionality of the proposed actions, such as pixelating the faces of the children and/or 
partner of the target. 

 
 

106. Where it is proposed to conduct surveillance activity specifically against individuals 
who are not suspected of direct or culpable involvement in the overall matter being 
investigated, interference with the privacy of such individuals should not be considered as 
collateral intrusion but rather as intended intrusion. 

 
CHIS 
 

107. Before authorising the use or conduct of a CHIS, the AO should take into account the 
risk of interference with and wherever practicable, avoid or minimise interference with the 
private or family life of persons who are not the intended subjects of the CHIS activity.  If 
collateral intrusion is unavoidable, the activities may still be authorised provided it is 
considered proportionate to the aims of the intended intrusion and it should be kept to a 
minimum necessary to achieve the objective of the operation.  All applications should 
include an assessment of risk of any collateral intrusion and details of any measures taken to 
limit this, to enable the AO to fully consider the proportionality of the proposed use or 
conduct of a CHIS. 

 
CONFIDENTIAL OR PRIVILEGED MATERAIL  

 
108. Particular consideration should be given in cases where the subject of the 

investigation/operation might reasonably assume a high degree of confidentiality.  This 
includes material from the following categories:  
 
i) Confidential journalistic material or a journalist’s source; 
ii) Legally privileged; 
iii) Confidential personal information or communications between an MP and another 

person or constituency business; 
 
Confidential Information  
 

109. Confidential information can include oral and written communications held in 
confidence concerned an individual (living or dead) who can be identified from it and the 

84



 

31 
 

material in question relates to his/her physical or mental health or to spiritual counselling.  
The material therefore consists of personal information (such as medical records or spiritual 
counselling, confidential journalistic material, confidential discussions between Members of 
Parliament and their constituents) or matters subject to legal professional privilege (solicitor 
and client). 

 
110. Directed surveillance likely to intended to result in the acquisition of knowledge of 

confidential or privileged material can only be granted by AO’s permitted to grant 
authorisations for confidential or privileged information, namely the Chief Executive (Head 
of Paid Service) or the person acting as the Head of Paid Service.65  Such information 
requires particular consideration and unwarranted access to them during an investigation 
may be grounds for cancelling the authorisation.  

               
 
 
 
 
 
Journalistic Material & Journalistic Sources  
 

111. Confidential journalistic material includes material acquired or created for the 
purposes of journalism and held subject to an undertaking to hold it in confidence, as well as 
communications resulting in information being acquired for the purposes of journalism and 
held subject to such an undertaking.66  Any authorisation seeking to acquire material that is 
believed will be confidential journalistic material must contain a statement that the purpose 
is to acquire material which is believed will contain confidential journalistic material.  The AO 
must then consider what appropriate safeguards are required regarding the handling, 
retention, use and disclosure of the material. 

 
112. A journalistic source is a person acting as an intermediary between the journalist 

and source. Any authorisation seeking to identify or confirm a source of journalistic 
information the authorisation must contain a statement that this is the purpose of the 
application, and the AO must then consider what appropriate safeguards are required 
regarding the handling, retention, use and disclosure of the material.  Where confidential 
journalist material that identifies the source of the information is retained or disseminated 
to an outside body, the material should be marked “Confidential.”  Where such material has 
been obtained and retained for any other purposes, the matter should be reported to the 
Commissioner as soon as is reasonably practicable. 

 
113. Where material is created or acquired with the intention of further a criminal 

purpose, the material is not to be regarded as having been created or acquired for the 
purposes of journalism. 

 
Items Subject to Legal Privilege  
 

114. In general, communications between professional legal advisers and their clients are 
subject to legal privilege unless they are intended for the purpose of furthering criminal acts.  
The acquisition of material subject to legal privilege is particularly sensitive and may give rise 

                                                                 
65

 Covert Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Codes of Practice 2018, Annex A 
66

 Police Act 1997 Section 100 

85



 

32 
 

to issues under Article 6 (right to a fair trial) as well as engaging Article 8.  There are three 
scenarios where legally privileged items will or may be obtained: 

 
i) Where privileged material is intentionally sought; 
ii) Where privileged material is likely to be obtained; and 
iii) Where the purpose or one of the purposes is to obtain items that, if they were not 

generated or held with the intention of furthering a criminal purpose, would be subject 
to privilege. 

 
Privileged Material Intentionally Sought  
 

115. This category of material includes the acquisition of such material during legal 
consultations which as set out above constitutes intrusive surveillance which local 
authorities are prohibited from doing (see above).  Any application for such material outside 
of a legal consultation must contain a statement that the purpose or one of the purposes of 
the authorisation is to obtain legally privileged material and such an application should only 
be granted or approved if the AO be granted Judicial Approval as appropriate, is satisfied 
that there are exceptional and compelling circumstances that make the authorisation 
necessary where there is a threat to life or limb or in the interests of national security.   

 
Privileged Material Likely to be Obtained 
 

116. This category of material also includes the acquisition of such material during legal 
consultations which as set out above constitutes intrusive surveillance which local 
authorities are prohibited from doing (see above).  Any application for such material outside 
of a legal consultation must be clear that the acquisition of such mattes is likely and should 
include reasons why the surveillance is necessary and an assessment of how likely it is that 
information subject to legal privilege will be obtained.  The application should also confirm 
any inadvertently obtained material that is subject to legal privilege will be treated in 
accordance with the safeguards and that reasonable and appropriate steps will be taken to 
minimise access to the material that is subject to legal privilege. 

  
Covert Surveillance intended to result in the acquisition of knowledge of matters that would be 
subject to legal privilege if they were not created or held with the intention of furthering a 
criminal purpose 
 

117. This category of material also includes the acquisition of such material during legal 
consultations which as set out above constitutes intrusive surveillance which local 
authorities are prohibited from doing (see above).  Any application in this scenario must 
include a statement setting out the reasons for believing that the items are likely to be 
created or held to further a criminal purpose e.g., communications with a lawyer seeking to 
obtain a false alibi or assisting the suspect in evading arrest will not be privileged as the 
communications are intended to further a criminal purpose.  The Authorisation can only be 
issued where the AO and subsequent Magistrate consider the matters are likely to be 
created or held with the intention of furthering a criminal purpose.  

 
Covert Surveillance of Legal Consultations  
 

118. As set out above, DS carried out on premises ordinarily used for legal consultations 
at a time when they are being used as such is to be treated as intrusive surveillance.  Local 
authorities are prohibited from undertaking any form of intrusive surveillance. 

86



 

33 
 

 
Lawyers’ Material  
 

119. Where a lawyer acting in their professional capacity is the subject of covert 
surveillance, it is possible that a substantial proportion of any material which will or could be 
acquired will be subject to legal privilege.  Therefore, in any case where the subject of covert 
surveillance is known to be a lawyer acting in a professional capacity, the application should 
be made on the basis that it is likely or intended to acquire items subject to legal privilege 
and the procedure set out above must be followed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
KEY ADDITIONAL SURVEILLANCE ISSUES 
 
ACTIVITY NOT FALLING WITHIN THE DEFINITION OF COVERT SURVEILANCE  
 

120. The effect of RIPA Section 80 is to make authorised surveillance lawful, but it does 
not make unauthorised surveillance unlawful.  The Council reserves the right to exercise it 
discretion regarding an investigation to determine that an alternative view or approach is 
required where the operation lies outside of the RIPA regime and controls.  In such cases 
where the Crime Threshold is not met, the Council will adhere the Non-RIPA Surveillance 
Protocol 67and create and maintain written logs of activity which will be made available to 
internal and external oversight by IPCO.68  

 
121. The Code of Practice on Covert Surveillance makes clear that routine patrols, 

observation at trouble “hotspots,” immediate response to events and the overt use of CCTV 
are all techniques not requiring RIPA authorisation.69  

 
122. Certain surveillance does not constitute either intrusive or directed surveillance.  In 

the following scenarios, either an authorisation cannot be granted due to the specific 
circumstances, or an authorisation is not required BUT all such activity is permitted:    

 

 Covert surveillance by way of an immediate response to events; 

 Covert surveillance as part of general observation activities; 

 Covert surveillance not relating to the statutory grounds in RIPA; 

 Overt use of CCTV & ANPR systems; 

 Certain other specific situations; 
 

                                                                 
67

 Appendix 26 
68

 Previously recommended by OSC’s Procedures & Guidance 2016 (withdrawn by IPCO) 
69

 Covert Surveillance & Property Interference Code of Practice paragraphs 2.21-2.29 

87



 

34 
 

Immediate Response 
 

123. Covert surveillance carried out as an immediate response to events so that it is not 
reasonably practicable to obtain a RIPA authorisation, does not require a DS authorisation 
even though it is likely to reveal private information about a person.70   

 
General Observation Activities 
 

124. General observation duties whether overt or covert do not require RIPA 
authorisations as they form part of the legislative functions of public authorities as opposed 
to pre-planned surveillance of a specific person or group.  An example is EBC officers 
attending a car boot sale where it is suspected counterfeit goods are being sold.  At that 
stage there is not a specific investigation and instead the intention is through reactive policy 
to identify potential offenders.  As part of this general duty of a public authority, the 
obtaining of private information is unlikely and so a DS authorisation is not required.   

 
 
 
 
 
Surveillance not relating to specific grounds or core functions 
 

125. RIPA is required by public authorities who wish to carry out “core functions,” which 
are specific public functions as opposed to “ordinary functions,” undertaken by all 
authorities such as employment and contractual issues.  Ordinary functions do not fall under 
the remit of RIPA as they are covered by the Data Protection Act 2018 and the Information 
Commissioner’s Employment Practices Code.   

 
126. If a Council employee is suspected of undertaking additional employment during 

work hours, sick and holiday absences and the Council wishes to carry out covert 
surveillance outside of the employee’s Council role, whilst there is a high likelihood of 
obtaining private information about the staff member, the surveillance would not constitute 
DS as is it relates to the Council’s ordinary functions, namely employment and contractual 
obligations, which are not core functions.71 

 
127. If a Council employee is on long term paid sick leave for injuries alleged to have been 

sustained during his employment and it is suspected the employee has had exaggerated 
and/or fabricated the purported injuries, the application for and receipt of full sick pay gives 
rise to the potential criminal offence of fraud.  If the Council wished to carry out DS to 
ascertain if the employee is injured as declared or at all, the proposed investigation would 
relate to a core function of EBC, and the proposed DS is likely to result in obtaining private 
information.  Accordingly, a DS authorisation should be considered and is required. 

 
Overt Surveillance Cameras – CCTV & ANPR 
 

128. The Council’s overt CCTV is governed by Surveillance Camera Code of Practice and 
overseen by the Surveillance Camera Commissioner. The Code provides a framework of 

                                                                 
70

 RIPA Section 26(2)(c)  
71

 C v The Police (IPT/03/32) 

88



 

35 
 

good practice including the processing of personal data72 and a public authority’s duty to 
comply with Human Rights Act 1998.  Whilst the use of overt ANPR systems to monitor 
traffic flows or detect motoring offences does not require a RIPA authorisation, please note 
the Council’s RIPA CCTV Protocol regarding third party requests for use of the Council’s 
CCTV.73 
 

129. “Surveillance camera systems,” includes74  
 
(a) CCTV & ANPR    
(b) Any other systems for recording or viewing visual images for surveillance purposes 
(c) Any systems for storing, receiving, transmitting, processing, or checking the images or 

information obtained by (a), (b); or 
(d) Any other systems associated with, or otherwise connected with (a) – (c)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Specific Situations – Authorisations Not Available 
 

130. The following examples do not constitute directed or intrusive surveillance, but such 
activity is permitted: 

 

 Use of a recording device by a CHIS for which a conduct authorisation permitted the 
recording of any information already exists; 

 Overt or covert recording of the interview of a member of the public in a voluntary interview 
conducted by a public authority; 

 Covert recording of noise where the recording is decibels only nor non-verbal noise such as 
music, machinery or the recording of verbal content is made at a level that does not exceed 
that which can be heard on the street outside or adjoining property with the naked ear; 

 Entry on or interference with property or wireless telegraphy (not permitted by local 
authorities); 

 
COMBINED AUTHORISATIONS 
 

131. Combined authorisations are permitted but are less likely to occur within the Council 
due to local authority restrictions and prohibitions regarding of certain surveillance 
categories.   

 
COLLABERATION WITH OTHER AUTHORITIES/AGENCIES 
 

132. The Council will endeavour to obtain written collaboration agreements with any 
other authorities with whom it works regularly, such as the Police or neighbouring 
authorities.   

 

                                                                 
72

 Data Protection Act 2018 
73

 Appendix 25 
74

 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 Section 29(6) 

89



 

36 
 

CCTV THIRD PARTY REQURESTS  
 

133. A third party (other agency e.g., the police) may request the Council to undertake 
surveillance for them by using the Council’s resources, for example CCTV.  Directed 
Surveillance requests to access/use the Council’s CCTV must comply with the RIPA CCTV 
Protocol.75 The Council will only permit the Police and other third parties to use its CCTV 
systems to carry out targeted covert surveillance (which includes the disclosure of 
recordings) if the requirements of the protocol are adhered to. 

 
134. An example would be if the police requested to use the Council’s overt CCTV 

cameras by diverting and directing them for a pre-planned specific investigation located at 
both entrances and within an alleyway situated off Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, as 
intelligence indicates there is a drug den operating in a vacant shop in Upper Market Street 
situated adjacent to the alleyway.  The police’s intended directed surveillance is to be used 
in a manner that is likely to result in obtaining private information and the police must 
obtain a directed surveillance authorisation which specifically includes the required use of 
the Council’s CCTV system.  However, if an armed robbery took place and whilst the police 
were in pursuit of the suspect, they required urgent assistance to track the suspect’s route 
to locate and arrest them, the police’s request to divert and utilise the Council’s overt town 
centre CCTV is an immediate response to an event, a DS authorisation application is not 
practicable and is therefore not required.  

 
135. If any officer is in doubt as to how to proceed, please consult the Senior Responsible 

Officer at the earliest opportunity.76 
 
CONSEQUENCES OF NON-COMPLIANCE WITH RIPA 
 

136. Where covert surveillance is proposed for activity falling within the ambit of RIPA, 
this Policy and Processes must be strictly adhered to, to protect both the Council and 
individual officers from the following: 

 
Evidence Rendered Inadmissible  
 

137. If covert surveillance is not lawfully undertaken the evidential product obtained may 
be deemed  inadmissible by a trial judge in criminal proceedings,77 as the court has the 
discretion to exclude evidence on which the prosecution proposes to rely to be given, if it 
appears to the court that, having regard to all the circumstances, including the 
circumstances in which was obtained, the admission of the evidence would have such an 
adverse effect on the fairness of the proceedings that the court ought not to admit it.  
Accordingly, the court may exclude the evidential product of covert surveillance because the 
prejudicial effect of adducing it outweighs any probative value. 

 
Legal Challenge  
 

138. Article 8 of the European Convention on Human Rights establishes a “right to 
respect for private and family life, home and correspondence”. Any potential breach could 

                                                                 
75

 Appendix 25 
76

 Appendix 1 
77

 Police & Criminal Evidence Act 1984 Section 78 

90



 

37 
 

give rise to an application for Judicial Review proceedings in the High Court by the aggrieved 
person. 
 

Complaint to The Investigatory Powers Tribunal (“IPT”) 
 

139. This Tribunal is made up of senior members of the judiciary and the legal profession. 
Any person who believes that his or her Article 8 rights have been unlawfully breached by an 
authority using the RIPA authorisation process may submit a complaint the IPT.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RIPA PROCESS 
 
MANDATORY URN 
 

140. If DS satisfies the Crime Threshold Test or for a CHIS, officers must first obtain a 
Unique Reference Number [URN] for the operation from the Council officer responsible for 
the RIPA Centrally Retrievable Register,78 prior to the completion and/or submission of an 
application for DS or CHIS to an Authorising Officer (AO). 

 
RIPA URN REQUEST FORM  
 

141. Following the introduction of the Crime Threshold Test79 the applicant/officer must 
answer the following six questions within the RIPA URN Request Form:80 

 
i) Is DS/CHIS for the prevention or detection of Crime or disorder?  
 
ii) If so, specify the criminal offence(s) being investigated and the statute(s); 

 

iii) For Directed Surveillance only, does the criminal offence(s) being investigated meet the 
Crime Threshold Test (punishable with a period of at least six months imprisonment); or 

 

iv) Does the offence(s) relate to the underage sale/supply of alcohol or tobacco/nicotine? 

                                                                 
78

 Appendix 4 
79

 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012  
80

 Appendix 15 

91



 

38 
 

 

v) Is the proposed covert surveillance both necessary and proportionate? 
 

vi) Have you considered collateral intrusion and how this could be minimised? 
 

142. The completed RIPA URN Request Form must be emailed to the Officer responsible 
for the RIPA Centrally Retrievable Register or a prosecution specialist81 in their absence.  
Once the RIPA URN Request Form is received, considered, and satisfied, an URN will be 
allocated from the electronic RIPA Central Retrievable Record of Authorisations kept and 
maintained by the relevant officer. All relevant information from this form must be inputted 
in the RIPA Centrally Retrievable Register and completed RIPA URN Request Form emailed to 
the applicant and named AO. 

 
FORMS TO BE USED 
 

143. All RIPA forms are to be accessed from the Home Office website to ensure all forms 
are the most recent version82  and the link to the forms will also be located on the RIPA & 
IPA Staff Hub page83. 

 
 
 
 
APPLICATION 
 

144. The application form should be submitted to an AO from the list of certified AOs.84  
The Applicant should ensure the Application sets out all relevant facts including providing 
details of the crime, proposed activity, and justification for the intended covert operation.  It 
is not permitted to leave aspects of the application to be provided orally by the Applicant or 
to be solely contained in supporting documents.   

 
145. All applications should be completed and authorised in a bespoke form rather than 

cutting and pasting the basis for the application or reasoning for the decision from previous 
applications.  Best practice for all authorisations permitted by local authorities is contained 
in the Code85: 

 

 All applications must set out the reason why the authorisation is necessary and 
proportionate; 

 Where a specific investigation or operation is involved, the nature of that investigation; 

 For Directed Surveillance, the crime(s) being investigated that satisfy the Crime Threshold 
Test; 

 CHIS applications should include the purpose for which the CHIS will be tasked or deployed; 

 CHIS applications should include the nature of what the CHIS conduct will be; 

 Details of potential collateral intrusion and why it is justified; 

 Details of any material subject to legal privilege or other confidential information that may 
be obtained as a consequence of the authorisation; 

                                                                 
81

 Appendix 11 
82

 Appendix 16 
83

 RIPA & IPA Staff Hub Page (insert link) 
84

 Appendix 2 
85

 Directed Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Codes of Practice 2018, paragraph 4.40 

92



 

39 
 

 Applications should avoid repetition of any information; 

 Information contained in applications should be limited to that required by the relevant 
legislation and code; 

 The case for an authorisation should be presented in the application in a fair and balanced 
way and all reasonable efforts should be made to take account of information which 
supports or weakens the application for authorisation; 

 An application should not require the sanction of any person other in a public authority 
other than an AO; 

 Where it is foreseen, that other agencies will be involved in carrying out the surveillance, 
these agencies should be detailed in the application; 

 Authorisations should not generally be sought for activities already authorised; 
 

AUTHORISATION  
 

146. Officers must obtain both an internal authorisation of the application/renewal by an 
AO and Judicial Approval.  The AO must be satisfied the authorisation or renewal is both 
necessary and proportionate and that in relation to directed surveillance, it also satisfies the 
Crime Threshold Test. 

 
147. To avoid any suggestion that any form has been simply signed off by an AO it is 

recommended that a copy is retained with the AO’s wet signature i.e., original handwritten 
one, not merely a typed or electronic signature.  The Council must be ready and able to 
provide the relevant witness if authenticity is ever questioned in Court.  Please note, the use 
or conduct of a source to obtain knowledge of matters subject to legal privilege MUST be 
subject to the prior approval of the Judicial Commissioner.  

JUDICIAL APPROVAL  
 

148. An authorisation or renewal for Directed Surveillance or a CHIS is not activated until 
Judicial Approval is granted by a Magistrate and is both dated and timed.  The application 
and hearing process is contained in Appendix 19. 

 
Matters subject to Legal Privilege 
 

149. Where the activities of a CHIS will result in the CHIS obtaining, providing access to, 
or disclosing matters subject to legal privilege, EBC must obtain prior approval from an 
Investigatory Powers Judicial Commissioner before authorising such conduct.  EBC must 
provide the Magistrate a copy of any such approval as part of the application process. 

 
Officers Authorised to Apply for Judicial Approval 
 

150. Eastleigh Borough Council has a list of authorised officers86 who are lawfully 
permitted to appear on behalf of the Council to apply for Judicial Approval, rather than by an 
officer from Legal Services87.  It is anticipated that the officer will be the Applicant of the 
authorisation and Judicial Approval Application, as they will have full knowledge of the 
application and intended surveillance operation.    

 
Judicial Approval Application & Hearing Guidance  

                                                                 
86

 Appendix 7  
87

 Local Government Act 1972 Section 223 
 

93



 

40 
 

 
151. To prepare for, attend and apply for Judicial Approval at West Hampshire  

Magistrates’ Court, please follow the guidance contained in Appendix 19. 
 
Judicial Approval Process between EBC & West Hampshire Magistrates’ Court  
 

152. To prepare for and arrange a Judicial Approval Application Hearing, please follow the 
Protocol contained in Appendix 18. 

 

Outcomes 
 

153. There are 3 possible outcomes for an Application for Judicial Approval: 
 

i) Application Granted  effective from that date and time; 
 

ii) Refuse to grant or renew the Authorisation  
[Applicant can then re-apply once the gap/error has been corrected]; 

 

iii) Refuse to grant or renew the Authorisation and quash the AOs Authorisation. 
 

154. Please note, the Magistrate can only quash the Authorisation if the Applicant has 
had at least 2 business days’ notice, from the date of refusal, in which to make 
representations against the refusal. 

 
 
 
DURATION  
 

155. The period of validity for all authorisations commences on the date Judicial Approval 
was granted, not the date the Authorising Officer approved the application.  The duration of 
the authorised surveillance is as follows: 

 

 Directed Surveillance  3 months 

 CHIS    12 months 

 Juvenile CHIS   4 months88 (see review requirements) 
 
REVIEWS 
 

156. Regular reviews of all authorisations are required, the frequency of which should be 
determined and timetabled by the AO, once the authorisation has been granted and Judicial 
Approval obtained.  The results of the review should be recorded in the RIPA Centrally 
Retrievable Record (CRR).89 

 
Directed Surveillance  
 

157. Any proposed or unforeseen changes to the nature or extent of the activity which 
may result in further or greater intrusion into the private life of any person such as an 

                                                                 
88

 Regulation of Investigatory Powers (Juveniles) (Amendment) Order 2018 (SI 2018/715).  Duration increased 
from 1-4 months. 
89

 Appendix 5 

94



 

41 
 

additional person who has been identified as being an associate of the main subject, should 
also be brought to the attention of the AO by way of a review.  The AO should consider if the 
proposed changes are proportionate before approving or rejecting them and any changes 
must be highlighted at the next renewal if one is required. 

 
158. If the identity of an individual becomes known during the course of directed 

surveillance, the terms of the authorisation should be amended at review to include the 
identity of the individuals and it would be appropriate to convene a review specifically for 
this purpose.   

 
159. Where the surveillance provides access to confidential information or involves 

collateral intrusion, the AO should conduct regular more frequent reviews.  It is also possible 
and appropriate for an AO to cancel aspects of an authorisation during the course of a 
review where it is no longer required such as DS against one of a number of named subjects.   

 
CHIS 
 

160. Where a CHIS authorisation provides for interference with the private or family life 
of initially unidentified individuals whose identity is later established, a new authorisation is 
not required provided the scope of the original authorisation envisaged interference with 
the private or family life of such individuals and this should be highlighted at renewal (if 
applicable).  Further, if the nature or extent of intrusion into the private or family life of any 
person becomes greater than anticipated at the original authorisation, the AO should 
immediately review the authorisation and reconsider the proportionality of the operation 
which should then be highlighted at renewal (if applicable). 

 
161. A juvenile CHIS authorisation is now valid for 4 months but there is a requirement to 

review the authorisation at not less than monthly intervals to ensure it is maintained for no 
longer than necessary.  The monthly reviews will take into account the operational case for 
maintaining the deployment and will also consider the impact on the mental and physical 
welfare of the young person.90 

 
RENEWALS 
 

162. Renewals are permitted more than once, and the fact and outcome should be 
recorded in the RIPA CRR.  The AO must consider the application afresh including taking into 
account the benefits of the surveillance undertaken to date and any collateral intrusion that 
has occurred.  If the application has resulted in the obtaining of confidential or legally 
privileged items, this fact should be highlighted in the renewal application. 

 
163. Please note an authorisation will automatically expire unless a Renewal Application 

is made prior to its expiration and Judicial Approval is obtained.  Applicants and AOs should 
be proactive about diarising, renewing, and cancelling authorisations as appropriate. 

 
CANCELLATION 
 

164. The officer has a duty to request the AO to cancel an authorisation when it no longer 
meets the criteria upon which it was originally authorised.  If the original AO is no longer 

                                                                 
90

 CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021, paragraph 5.20 & 7.17 

95



 

42 
 

available, this duty falls to the person who has taken over the role or the person acting as 
the AO. 

 
165. An example would be where a DS authorisation was obtained in order to conduct 

test purchases which were completed within 21 days.  Consequently, the authorisation is no 
longer required, and it is bad practice to simply let the authorisation run to the automatic 
expiration date.  Therefore, as soon as a decision is taken to discontinue the authorisation, 
the instruction must be given to those involved to stop all surveillance of the subject(s) as 
soon as reasonably practicable. 

 
166. The RIPA cancellation form must be completed by the officer, authorised by the AO 

and the original form must be provided by hand (see above) to the SRO who must then 
update the RIPA CRR.  It is good practice that a record should be retained detailing the 
product obtained from the surveillance and whether or not the objectives were achieved. 

 
RIPA CENTRALLY RETRIEVABLE REGISTER  
 

167. The SRO is responsible for maintaining a RIPA Centrally Retrievable Register (CRR) 
which must include all the categories of data required by the Code.91 From February 2022 
the Council will use an electronic CRR to record the required details.92 The previous RCRR 
paper version and thereafter electronic record must both be retained for perpetuity.   
 

 
 
 
 
RIPA DOCUMENTATION - CENTRALLY RETRIEVABLE RECORDS  
 

168. The SRO is also required to obtain and retain for all covert surveillance operations 
the following, in a restricted location93: 

 
i) RIPA URN Request Form; 
ii) All original applications, any supplemental documentation, and the authorisations;   
iii) Copy of the granted Judicial Approval Form B; (Application/Renewal); 
iv) Copy of the Order granting Judicial Approval (Application/Renewal); 
v) A record of the period over which the surveillance has taken place; 
vi) The frequency of reviews prescribed by the AO; 
vii) A record of the result of each review; 
viii) A copy of any renewal of an authorisation together with the supporting documentation 

submitted when the renewal was requested; 
ix) The date and time when any instruction to cease surveillance was given; 
x) The date and time when any other instruction was given by an AO; 

 
169. AOs or officers must provide by hand all original RIPA forms to the SRO within 7 

days of grant in a double sealed envelope marked “OFFICIAL - Strictly Private & 
Confidential” and/or email a scanned copy it to the SRO94 via the designated email 

                                                                 
91

 Directed Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code 2018 paragraph 8.1 
92

 Appendix 5 
93

 Directed Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code 2018 paragraph 8.2 
94

 Appendix 1 

96



 

43 
 

address95.  The Judicial Approval Applicant must similarly provide the SRO by hand the 
original Judicial Approval granted/refused Form B within 7 days of grant in a sealed envelope 
marked “Strictly Private & Confidential,” and/or email a scanned copy to the SRO via the 
designated email address. 

 
RETENTION OF RECORDS 
 

170. Records must be available for inspection by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner 
and for the Investigatory Powers Tribunal (IPT).  Please note the IPT will consider complaints 
made up to one year after the conduct to which the complaint relates to and where 
equitable to do so, may consider complaints made more than one year after the conduct to 
which the compliant relates, particularly where continuing conduct is alleged.  Although 
records are only required to be retained for at least three years, it is therefore desirable, if 
possible, to retain records for up to five years. 

 

 
SAFEGUARDS 
 

171. Public authorities should ensure their actions when handling information obtained 
by covert surveillance comply with relevant legal frameworks and the Code so that any 
interference with privacy is justified in accordance with ECHR Article 8(2).  Compliance 
includes data protection to ensure the handling of private information obtained continues to 
be lawful, justified and strictly controlled and is subject to robust and effective safeguards.  
Any breach must be reported to the Commissioner and any breaches of data protection 
should be reported to the Information Commissioner.  Public authorities must also keep 
their internal safeguards under periodic review to ensure they remain up to date and 
effective. 

DISSEMINATION  
 

172. Dissemination must be limited to the minimum necessary for authorised purposes if 
the material: 

 

 is or is likely to become necessary for any of the statutory purposes set out in RIPA in 
relation to covert surveillance (the remaining provisions to do not apply to local 
authorities96); 

 is necessary to facilitate the carrying out of the functions of the public authorities under 
RIPA; 

 is necessary for facilitating the carrying out of any functions for the Commissioner of IPT; 

 is necessary for the purposes of legal proceedings; or 

 necessary for the performance of the functions of any person by or under any enactment 
 

173. In addition to limiting the number of persons to whom the material should be 
disseminated to, there are also restrictions of the extent of the material disseminated for 
example, providing a summary of the material rather than copies of all authorisations and/or 
logs regarding the remit of the operation and evidence obtained.  Please note, RIPA does not 
prevent material obtained under Directed Surveillance authorisations from being used to 

                                                                 
95

 Headoflegal@eastleigh.gov.uk  
96

 Police Act 1997 & Intelligence Services Act 1994  

97

mailto:Headoflegal@eastleigh.gov.uk


 

44 
 

further any other investigations where it becomes relevant and in accordance with the 
safeguards required by the Code.97 

 
USE OF MATERIAL AS EVIDENCE 
 

174. Subject to the statutory framework governing the admissibility of evidence98 
material obtained from directed surveillance or a CHIS is admissible as evidence in criminal 
proceedings. It is therefore vital for officers to ensure there is evidential integrity of the 
product obtained from the covert surveillance operation and the product is retained in 
accordance with the disclosure regime (see below).   

 
HANDLING MATERIAL 
 

175. All public authorities are required to have internal arrangements for the 
dissemination, copying, storage and destruction of private information obtained through 
covert surveillance.  Further, the personal data obtained must be safeguarded by the AO and 
Data Controller in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018 and the Council’s Data 
Protection Policy.99 

 
COPYING 
 

176. Copying material obtained from covert surveillance including summaries and 
extracts of the material is only permitted in accordance with the dissemination necessity 
principles (see above). 

 
 
 
STORAGE 
 

177. All material obtained through covert surveillance and any copies/extracts from it 
must all be handled and stored securely to minimise the risk of loss or theft.  The following 
protect security measures must be applied to the material: 

 

 material must be inaccessible to officers not connected to the operation; 

 material must be inaccessible to officers connected to but not authorised by the Officer in 
Charge (OIC) of the investigation to have access; 

 IT security to minimise the risk of unauthorized access to IT systems; 
 
DESTRUCTION 
 

178. Information obtained through covert surveillance and all copies, extracts, summaries 
which contain such material should be scheduled for deletion or destruction and securely 
destroyed as soon as they are no longer needed for the authorised purpose(s) set out in 
paragraph … above.100 If such information is retained, it should be reviewed at appropriate 
intervals to confirm that the justification for its retention is still valid. In this context, 

                                                                 
97

 Covert Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code 2018 paragraph 9.6 
98

 Criminal Procedure & Investigations Act 1996; Civil Procedure Rules, Police & Criminal Evidence Act 1984 
section 78 and the Human Rights Act 1998 & Covert Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code  
99

 Council’ Data Protection Policy (insert link) 
100

 Covert Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code 2018 paragraph 9.5 

98



 

45 
 

destroying information means taking such steps as might be necessary to make access to the 
data impossible.  Please note, if the material is necessary for the purposes of legal 
proceedings, in particular a prosecution, the disclosure regime must be complied with 
regarding the retention of material. 

 
PROTECTION OF THE IDENTITY OF A CHIS 
 

179. CHIS’s may place themselves at considerable risk, thus all organisations have a 
responsibility to protect the identity of those working as a CHIS and others who may be 
affected by the disclosure of the CHIS’s identity.  Attempts to protect the identity of the 
CHIS’s must be made using all reasonable and lawful means possible and where appropriate, 
neither confirming or denying (NCND) the existence of or identity of the CHIS. 

 
180. There are well-established legal procedures under Public Interest Immunity (PII) or 

closed material procedures that can be applied when seeking to protect the fact and identity 
of a CHIS from disclosure in such circumstances or by abandoning the prosecution in order 
to protect the fact and identity of the CHIS.  This would be dealt with by Legal Services and 
prosecution counsel in conjunction with the AO, as the Council would be the prosecuting 
authority. 

 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
          

ACQUISITION OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA 
 

181. The Investigatory Powers Act 2016 (IPA)101 Part 3 and the Code of Practice102 provide 
the statutory framework for the lawful acquisition of communications data (CD) by relevant 
public authorities.  Local authorities are deemed to be a relevant public authority.103 

 
OFFICE OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA AUTHORISATIONS (OCDA) 
 

182. The Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office is responsible for the independent 
authorisation of CD requests which is delegated to the Office of Communications Data 
Authorisations (OCDA).104  

 
LAWFUL AQUISTION OF CD 
 

183. IPCO may authorise a public authority to engage in any conduct which is105: 

                                                                 
101

 In force since 11 March 2019 
102

 Communications Data Code of Practice November 2018 
103

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 73(1) 
104

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 60A 

99



 

46 
 

 
a) For the purpose of obtaining data from any person; and 
b) Relates to: 

i) a telecommunications system, or 
ii) data derived from a telecommunications system 
 

COMMUNICATIONS DATA 
 

184. Communications Data is information about communications: the “who,” “when,” 
“where,” “when” “how,” and “with whom,” of a communication but not what was written or 
said (the content)106.  Generally, CD is acquired from a Telecommunications Operator (TO) 
(previously referred to as the Communication Service Provider).   

 
TWO CATEGORIES OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA (CD) 
 

185. All communications data held by a telecommunications operator or that which is 
obtainable from a telecommunications system now falls into two categories of CD, replacing 
the three subcategories of CD under RIPA (subscriber data; traffic data; and service use 
information). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ENTITY DATA 
 

186. Entity data covers information about a person or thing and about links between a 
telecommunications service, part of a telecommunications system and a person or thing that 
identify or describe the person or thing.  This therefore includes devices such as phones, 
tablets and computers and the link between a person and their device is the entity data.107  
This category of CD broadly replaces subscriber data and includes: 

 

 Subscriber information  identify of the person to whom the services are provided 

 Subscriber checks  who is the subscriber of the phone number 01234 567890 

 Subscriber/account holder  names, address of installing, billing payments etc. 

 Connection/disconnection what the account holder is allocated or has subscribed to 
Reconnection information 

 
EVENTS DATA 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                       
105

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 60A (2) 
106

 Communications Data Code of Practice November 2018, paragraph 2.18 
107

 Communications Data Code of Practice November 2018, paragraph 2.38 

100



 

47 
 

187. Events data identifies or describes events which consist of one or more entities 
engaging in an activity at any specific time or times.  Event Data refers to both Traffic Data 
and Service Use Information. Events data includes the following details regarding the 
communication108: 
 

 Date and time sent; 

 Duration; 

 Frequency; 

 Call diversion; 

 IP address; 

 Information tracing the origin or destination of a communication that is or has been in 
transmission; 

 Sender or recipient of a communication 

 Information identifying the location of apparatus when a communication is, has or may be 
made or received (e.g., the location of a mobile phone); 

 Itemised telephone call records; 

 Volume of data downloaded and/or uploaded; 

 Use of services i.e., conference calling, call messaging, call waiting 
 

LOCAL AUTHORITY PROHIBITIONS 
 

188. Local Authorities are prohibited from: 
 

i) obtaining the content of any communication i.e., what was said or written; 
ii) acquiring the Internet Connection Records (ICRs) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TWO MANDATORY TESTS FOR COMMUNICATIONS DATA REQUESTS 
 
NECESSITY 
 

189. Local authorities as relevant public authorities are permitted to internally grant and 
seek external authorisation from National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) and thereafter Office 
of Communications Data Authorisations (OCDA) for authorisations if and only if they are 
necessary109 for the applicable crime purpose.”110   

 
Applicable Crime Purpose   
 

190. The applicable crime purpose test was introduced on 1 November 2018111 and the 
purpose depends on whether the CD being sought is entity or events data:112 

                                                                 
108

 Communications Data Code of Practice November 2018, paragraph 2.45 
109

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 61(1)(a)  
110

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 60A(7)(b) introduced by The Data Retention & Acquisition 
Regulations 2018 Regulation 5 
111

 The Data Retention & Acquisition Regulations 2018 

101



 

48 
 

 
(a) where the communications data is wholly or partly events data, the purpose of preventing 

or detecting serious crime; 
 

(b) in any other case, the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or preventing disorder; 
 
Serious Crime Threshold – Events Data  
 

191. Applications for CD which are wholly or partly events data are now113 only permitted 
where they are necessary for the purpose of preventing or detecting serious crime.  
Applications for Entity Data must be necessary for the purpose of preventing or detecting 
crime or preventing disorder but do not have to constitute a serious crime.   

 
192. Offences satisfying the Serious Crime Threshold are114: 

 

 An offence capable of attracting a prison sentence of 12 months or more (for persons 18+ in 
England) 

 An offence by a person who is not an individual (i.e., corporate body); 

 An offence which involves, as an integral part of it, the sending of a communication; 

 An offence which involves, as an integral part of it, a breach of a person’s privacy; 

 An offence falling within the definition of serious crime (i.e., where the conduct involves the 
use of violence, results in substantial financial gain or is by a large number of persons in 
pursuit of a common purpose); 
 

PROPORTIONALITY 
 

193. The conduct the subject matter of the Application must be proportionate115 to what 
is sought to be achieved. 

 

 
KEY ROLES 
 
SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER  
 

194. The Council’s Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) is the Council’s Legal Services 
Manager.116 The Communications Data Code of practice specifies the SRO is responsible 
for117:  
 

 the integrity of the process in place within the public authority to acquire communications 
data;  

 engagement with authorising officers in the Office for Communications Data Authorisations 
(where relevant); compliance with Part 3 of the Act and with this code, including 
responsibility for novel or contentious cases (see paragraph 8.45);  

                                                                                                                                                                                                       
112

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 60A (8) 
113

 Since 1 November 2018  
114

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Sections 86(2A) & 263(1) 
115

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 61(1)(c) 
116

 Appendix 1 
117

 Communications Data Code of Practice November 2018, paragraph 4.10 

102



 

49 
 

 oversight of the reporting of errors to the IPC and the identification of both the cause(s) of 
errors and the implementation of processes to minimise repetition of errors;  

 ensuring the overall quality of applications submitted to OCDA by the public authority;  

 engagement with the IPC’s inspectors when they conduct their inspections; and  

 where necessary, oversight of the implementation of post-inspection action plans approved 
by the IPC 

 
DESIGNATED SENIOR OFFICER  
 

195. A Designated Senior Office (DSO) for local authorities must be an individual who 
holds the position of director, head of service or service manager (or equivalent); or a high 
position,118 which mirrors the rank required for RIPA AOs.  The Council’s DSOs are listed in 
Appendix 3.119   

 
196. A DSO must be independent from those operations or investigations and so should 

be far enough removed from the applicant’s line management chain or the investigation so 
as to not be influenced by operational imperatives, such as pressure to expedite results on a 
particular operation.  The DSO should therefore not be within the same department or unit 
or an integral part of the investigation. It is not considered good practice for applicants to be 
able to choose a designated senior officer on a case-by-case basis.  Accordingly, the DSO 
should be selected from a different department. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) SPOC & COUNCIL SPOC 
 

197. The Single Point of Contact (SPOC) facilitates the lawful acquisition of CD and 
effective cooperation between the public authority and OCDA and for local authorities, the 
required designated SPOC is NAFN.  However, prior to submitting an application to NAFN, 
the Council’s SPOC will assist the DSO and Applicant to provide advice regarding the 
following criteria, which mirrors NAFN’s gatekeeping advice role once the Application is 
submitted:120 
 

 Whether it is reasonably practical to obtain the data; 

 Provide clear advice on the interpretation of IPA, particularly whether an authorisation is 
appropriate; 

 Ensure authorisations are lawful under IPA and meet the Serious Crime Threshold Test 
for Events Data requests; 

                                                                 
118

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 section 73(2) 
119

 Appendix 3 
120

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 76(5) & (6) 

103



 

50 
 

 Consider and where appropriate provide explicit advice on possible unintended 
consequences of the application such as excess data; sensitive professions and collateral 
intrusion; 

 Explain why the service(s) recommended support the objective(s) of the investigation; 

 Add value in comments, considerations and recommendations as prescribed in the Code 
of Practice under the roles and responsibilities of the SPOC; 

 Where appropriate, flag any issues regarding quality assurance of the application to be 
remedied before submission of the application; 

 Monitor applications returned for rework or rejected by OCDA and determine the 
reasons why; 

 Provide organisational and/or individual training as and where necessary, sharing best 
practice advice and support; 

 
198. The SPOC must therefore be provided coverage for all CD acquisitions they intend to 

make.  In exceptional cases where the SPOC is not available (sudden illness), public 
authorities should limit the risk by using collaboration arrangements with other 
authorities.121  If this situation occurs, local authorities are expected to report to IPCO the 
circumstances and reasons requiring this course of action, prior to the next inspection. 

 
APPLICANT 
 

199. The applicant is a person involved in conducting or assisting an 
investigation/operation within a public authority who makes an application for the 
acquisition of communications data, which has to be done via NAFN for local authorities (see 
below). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KEY TERMS 
 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS OPERATOR 
 

200. A person who offers or provides a telecommunications service to persons in the UK 
or controls or provides a telecommunications system which is wholly or partly in the UK or 
controlled from the UK.  This includes application and website provides but only if they 
provide a telecommunications service. This term replaces the previous term of 
Communications Service Provide (CSP). 

 
CONTENT 
 

                                                                 
121

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 78 

104



 

51 
 

201. Content is any element of a communication, or the data attached to it or associated 
with it that might reasonably be considered to be the meaning of the communication.  
Obtaining such information would constitute Targeted Intercept which local authorities are 
prohibited from obtaining. 

 
POSTAL OPERATOR 
 

202. Postal service includes any service which consists of one or more of the collection, 
sorting, conveyance, distribution, and delivery of postal items and which is offered or 
provided as a service the main purpose of which, or one of the main purposes of which, is to 
transmit postal items from place to place.  Postal items include letters, postcards, packets, 
and parcels and therefore the remit of postal operators includes companies beyond the Post 
Office such as Amazon, DPD etc. 

 
POSTAL DEFINITIONS 
 

203. Communications data in relation to a postal service has 3 elements:122 
 

i) Postal data which is or has been compromised in or attached to the communication for 
the purpose of the service which it was transmitted; 

 
Includes any information that identifies or appears to identify any person or location to or from 
which a communication is or may be transmitted and includes addresses, markings on the 
outside of the postal item, records of correspondence, online tracking of communications. 

 
ii) Data relating to the use made by a person of a postal service; 

 
Includes information about the use made of services to which the user is allocated or has 
subscribed to, the price paid to send the item, records such as registered post etc 

 
 
 
 
 
 

iii) Information held or obtained by a postal operator about persons to whom the postal 
operator provides or has provided a communications service, and which relates to the 
provision of the service  

 

Includes information about any person to whom a service is provided, whether a subscriber or 

guest, if used or not used the service e.g., information about the person associated with a PO 

Box. 

 
INTERNET CONNECTION RECORDS (ICRs) 
 

204. An ICR provides details of the internet service that a specific device has connected to 
(e.g., a website or instant messaging application).  It will not provide the full browser history 

                                                                 
122

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 section 262(3)(a) – (c)  

105



 

52 
 

of details of every web page visited, content or details of the recipient of a message or any 
activity on a particular website.  Please note local authorities are prohibited from obtaining 
ICRs. 
 

THIRD PARTY DATA  
 

205. Where a communication is sent there may be multiple providers involved in the 
delivery of the communication and each provider may require different elements of 
communications data to route the communication. For example, when sending an email 
there will be the email provider, the internet access provider for the sender and the internet 
access provider for the recipient. The email provider will require the email address to route 
the communication but neither internet access provider has any need to see or access the 
full email address in order to connect the sender or recipient to the mail server.   

 
206. Where one telecommunications operator is able to see or access the 

communications data in relation to applications or services running over their network, in 
the clear, but does not process that communications data in any way this is regarded as third 
party data.  A telecommunications operator is considered to process data if it specifically 
looks at an item of data in order to determine what action to take or if it has a set of rules in 
place which determine how a communication should be routed depending on certain items 
of data. 

 
207. A communications data authorisation may be given for the acquisition by a public 

authority of third party data on a forward looking basis where necessary and proportionate 
in relation to a specific investigation. A telecommunications operator or postal operator 
need only obtain and disclose third party data where reasonably practicable to do so. Where 
such data is encrypted by the third party a telecommunications operator is under no 
obligation to decrypt such information. 

 
COLLATERAL INTRUSION 
 

208. The risk of obtaining communications, equipment data or other information about 
non targets.  Each Application should identify the risk of collateral intrusion and specify what 
steps will be undertaken to reduce it. 

 
 
 
 
JOURNALISTIC SOURCES 
 

209. The only category of CD which requires local authorities to first obtain authorisation 
from OCDA and approval by an IPCO Judicial Commissioner is where the purpose of a CD 
application is to identify a journalistic source.  The Applicant and SPOC should pay special 
consideration to these applications and inform their DSO. 

 
NOVEL OR CONTENTIOUS CIRCUMSTANCES 
 

210. Due to ongoing improvements in technology, there will be circumstances where the 
potential acquisition of CD may be considered novel or contentious.  In such circumstances, 
public authorities are permitted to see guidance from OCDA prior to progressing any 
conduct to acquire CD.  This is a discretionary approach and if taken, a public authority must 

106



 

53 
 

ensure the SRO is made aware and supports this course of action before the request for 
guidance to OCDA is submitted.   

 
COLLABERATIVE ORGANISATION 
 

211. An organisation that has formalised a collaboration agreement in place under the 
provisions of the Act, to be utilised for example where the SPOC is unexpectedly unavailable. 

 
 
ACQUISITON OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA PROCESS 
 
LOCAL AUTHORITIES   
 

212. Local authorities are public authorities123 who are permitted to acquire CD in limited 
circumstances but must be party to a collaboration agreement,124 which requires their 
membership of NAFN.125 IPA abolished the requirement for local authorities to obtain 
Judicial Approval for CD and since March 2019 local authorities must submit all CD 
Applications to NAFN for assessment as to whether the application should be submitted to 
The Office for Communications Data Authorisations (OCDA) to obtain authorisation.126 
Guidance as to the CD process is contained in Appendix 24. 

 
OPERATIONAL PRIORITISATION 
 

213. To assist OCDA as to the operational urgency of an application for CD and to ensure 
it is appropriately triaged, “Operational Prioritisation,” was introduced.  There are four 
prioritisation categories and local authorities are only permitted to use Priorities 2-4: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

OPERATIONAL  
PRIORITISATION 

DEFINITION 

Priority 1  

Immediate Threat to Life 
or  
Serious Harm 

Not applicable to local authorities 

Priority 2  

Urgent Operational 
Necessity 

The urgent acquisition of CD will directly assist the prevention or detection of 
the commission of a serious crime, or the making of arrests or the seizure of 
illicit material, or where there the operational opportunity will be lost.  Or any 
of the scenarios described for Priority 1 which whilst urgent do not require 
immediate action 

                                                                 
123

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 73(1) 
124

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 73(1) 
125

 National Anti-Fraud Network https://www.nafn.gov.uk/  
126

 Commenced March 2019 

107

https://www.nafn.gov.uk/


 

54 
 

OPERATIONAL  
PRIORITISATION 

DEFINITION 

Priority 3  

Routine 
(Time Constraint on 
Application) 

Not urgent but include specific or time critical issues such a bail or court dates 
or where a specific line of investigation into a serious crime and early 
acquisition of CD will directly assist in the prevention or detection for that crime 
or safeguarding and preservation of human life  

Priority 4  

Routine  Matters that support a specific line of investigation into a crime or incident but 
are not urgent and do not meet any time critical issues.  The acquisition of CD 
as a matter of course will assist in that investigation 

 
CATEGORY OF COMMUNICATIONS DATA REQUIRED  
 

214. Consideration must be given at the outset as to whether Entity or Events Data is 
required.  Usually, it is appropriate to start with obtaining entity data to confirm information 
within the investigation.  However, if there is sufficient information known at the outset, it 
may be appropriate to request Events Data first. For example: 

 

 a victim reports receiving nuisance or threatening telephone calls or messages; 

 a person who is the subject of an investigation or operation is identified from intelligence to 
be using a specific communications service;  

 a victim, a witness or a person who is the subject of an investigation or operation has used a 
public payphone;   

 a person who is the subject of an investigation or operation is identified during an 
investigation (such as a kidnap) or from detailed analysis of data available to the public 
authority to be using a specific communications service;  

 a mobile telephone is lawfully seized, and communications data is to be acquired relating to 
either or both the device or its SIM card(s); or  

 a witness presents certain facts and there is a need to corroborate or research the veracity 
of those, such as to confirm the time of an incident they have witnessed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APPLICATION 
 

215. Officers should complete a Communications Data Application form within the NAFN 
website, ensuring it is clear as to whether the application is for Entity or Events Data; is 
necessary; satisfies the Applicable Crime Purpose test; and for Events Data also satisfies the 
Serious Crime Threshold Test.  All Applications must also be proportionate and the 
Application to acquire CD must127: 

 

                                                                 
127

 Communications Data Code of Practice November 2018, paragraph 5.4 

108



 

55 
 

 describe the communications data required, specifying, where relevant, any historic or 
future date(s) and, where appropriate, time period(s); 

 specify the purpose for which the data is required, by reference to a statutory purpose 
under the Act;  

 include a unique reference number;  

 include the name and the office, rank or position held by the person making the application;  

 describe whether the communications data relates to a victim, a witness, a complainant, a 
suspect, next of kin, vulnerable person, or other person relevant to the investigation or 
operation;  

 include the operation name (if applicable) to which the application relates;  

 identify and explain the time scale within which the data is required; 

 explain why the acquisition of that data is considered necessary and proportionate to what 
is sought to be achieved by acquiring it;  

 present the case for the authorisation in a fair and balanced way. In particular, all reasonable 
efforts should be made to take account of information which supports or weakens the case 
for the authorisation;  

 consider and, where appropriate, describe any meaningful collateral intrusion – the extent 
to which the rights of any individual not under investigation may be infringed and why that 
intrusion is justified in the circumstances;  

 consider and, where appropriate, describe any possible unintended consequences of the 
application; and  

 where data is being sought from a telecommunications operator or postal operator, specify 
whether the telecommunications operator or postal operator may inform the subject(s) of 
the fact that an application has been made for their data. 

 
216. General guidance for Applications is: 

 

 All addresses should be accurately validated based on source material before the completion 
of the application form by both the Applicant and SPOC 

 Keep all applications simple, legal, and concise; 

 Avoid acronyms and abbreviations unless explained first; 

 Use standard terminology to describe the main subject in your application (e.g., Victim, 
witness, complainant, suspect etc.); 

 Clearly state the crime, offence, and purpose at the start of the Application; 

 Be specific about daters of intelligence within the Application; 

 Do not refer to another application, document, or system instead of addressing necessity 
and proportionality; 

 Be specific about how you have or have tried to attribute the identifier (e.g., name/date of 
birth/home address/email address) to the person the subject of the Application; 

 Clearly state the objective of your application.  Do not name the services or products from 
the service provider; 

 Ensure all applications are checked for accuracy of content and grammar before submission; 

 Always consider the victim’s right of privacy when describing events within applications.  
These can be high level descriptions and do not need to contain graphic details of offences; 

 
SPOC PROCESS 
 

109



 

56 
 

217. Officers should inform their Service Manager prior to the completion of the 
application and before it is submitted to the CD SPOC.  Once the application is complete it 
should be provided to the Council’s CD SPOC128 for review.  The SPOC will as appropriate129: 

 

 assess whether the acquisition of specific communications data from a telecommunications 
operator or postal operator is reasonably practicable or whether the specific data required is 
inextricably linked to other data; and 

 advise applicants on the most appropriate methodology for acquisition of data where the 
data sought engages a number of telecommunications operators or postal operators; 

 engage with applicants to develop and implement effective strategies to obtain 
communications data in support of operations or investigations;  

 advise on and manage the use of the request filter, specifically in relation to progress of 
requests through the filter and compliance by the filter with the relevant authorisation (see 
chapter 11);  

 advise on the interpretation of the Act, particularly whether an authorisation is appropriate;  

 provide assurance that authorisations are lawful under the Act and free from errors;  

 consider and, where appropriate, provide advice on possible unintended consequences of 
the application;  

 assess any cost and resource implications to both the public authority and the 
telecommunications operator or postal operator of communications data requirements; 
 

218. Where a number of providers are involved in the provision of a telecommunications 
service, consultation with the public authority’s SPOC will determine the most appropriate 
plan for acquiring data and this will be set out in the application. It is the authorising 
individual who ultimately decides whether to authorise the acquisition of data. 

 
219. If the SPOC is satisfied with the Application, the Applicant should submit it to the 

DSO for authorisation, but the DSO must also consult the SPOC before authorising it (see 
above).  If authorised by the DSO the next stage is to submit the application to NAFN. 

 
DSO PROCESS 
 

220. Before an application is submitted to NAFN, it must be brought to the attention of 
the DSO who has been given the designated role of overseeing the Applications before 
submission to NAFN.  Guidance for DSO’s when considering a CD Application is: 

 

 Objectively review the application; 

 Objectively review an individual’s right to privacy (not limited to the subject); 

 Provide a bespoke authorisation avoiding use of standard phrases such as “the data 
should be held in accordance with the policy; 

 Explicitly state the crime/offence you understand is the subject of the investigation; 

 Clearly record have fully considered and understood the Application; 

 Clearly record necessity is understood and has been considered; 

 Clearly record proportionality is understood and has been considered; 

 Clearly record consideration has been given to any potential for the authorisation to 
result in unintended consequences (e.g., collateral intrusion); 

                                                                 
128

 Appendix 10 
129

 Communications Data Code of Practice November 2018, paragraph 5.6 

110



 

57 
 

 Specifically state how the service requested will support the objective outlined in the 
Application; 

 For applications into certain professions, explicit consideration must be given and 
recorded regarding any unintended consequences of such applications and address 
whether the public interest is best served by the Application; 

 If it is a novel or contentious Application, clearly explain why you consider the 
application to be so and include why this is considered to be a lawful request 

 
221. Where an authorising individual does not consider the acquisition of 

communications data specified in the application to be necessary and proportionate, they 
may either seek further information from the applicant or refuse the request.  

 
SUBMISSION TO NAFN 
 

222. If the DSO authorises the Application, the officer must inform the SPOC and request 
the SPOC submit the application to NAFN, in accordance with the Communications Data 
Application Process Guidance (Appendix 24). 

 
OCDA’S REFUSAL TO GRANT AUTHORTISATION 
 

223. Where a request is refused by an authorising officer in OCDA, the public authority 
has three options:  

 
i)  not proceed with the request;  

 
ii) resubmit the application with a revised justification and/or a revised course of conduct 

to acquire communications data;  
 

iii) resubmit the application with the same justification and same course of conduct seeking 
a review of the decision by OCDA. A public authority may only resubmit an application 
on the same grounds to OCDA where the senior responsible officer or a person of 
equivalent grade in the public authority has agreed to this course of action. OCDA will 
provide guidance on its process for reviewing such decisions.  

 
224. It is a matter for public authorities to decide what, if any, internal review mechanism 

exists for circumstances where a designated senior officer refuses to grant an authorisation.  
If NAFN refuse to submit the application to OCDA or OCDA refuses the Application for CD, 
the activity cannot commence 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AUTHORISATION  
 

225. An authorisation provides for persons within a public authority to engage in conduct 
relating to a postal service or telecommunication system, or to data derived from such a 

111



 

58 
 

telecommunication system, to obtain communications data. The following types of conduct 
may be authorised:  

 

 conduct to acquire communications data - which may include the public authority obtaining 
communications data themselves or asking any person believed to be in possession of or 
capable of obtaining the communications data to obtain and disclose it; and/or  

 

 the giving of a notice - allowing the public authority to require by a notice a 
telecommunications operator to obtain and disclose the required data. 

 
226. An authorisation of conduct to acquire communications data may be appropriate 

where, for example: 
 

 there is an agreement in place between a public authority and a telecommunications 
operator or postal operator to facilitate the secure and swift disclosure of communications 
data. Many telecommunications operators and postal operators have auditable acquisition 
systems in place to ensure accurate and timely acquisition of communications data, while 
maintaining security and an audit trail;  
 

 where the data can be acquired directly from a telecommunication system and the activity 
does not constitute interception or equipment interference; or  
 

 a public authority considers there is a requirement to identify a person to whom a service is 
provided but the specific telecommunications operator or postal operator has yet to be 
conclusively determined as the holder of the communications data. 

 
227. An authorisation to give a notice may be appropriate where a telecommunications 

operator or postal operator is known to be capable of disclosing (and, where necessary, 
obtaining) the communications data.  An authorisation of conduct to acquire 
communications data must130:  

 

 describe the conduct which is authorised and describe the communications data to be 
acquired by that conduct specifying, where relevant, any historic or future date(s) and, 
where appropriate, time period(s);  

 specify the purpose for which the conduct is authorised, by reference to a statutory purpose 
under of the Act;  

 include a unique reference number;  

 specify the identity, rank, or position (or unique identifier) of the authorising individual 
granting the authorisation.  

 where applicable, confirm in writing that a SPOC has been consulted on this application;  

 record the date and, when appropriate to do so, the time when the authorisation was 
granted; 

 specify when the communications data is to be obtained and disclosed by use of the request 
filter; 

 if engaging the request filter, specify whether the processing of data (and its temporary 
retention for that purpose) is authorised and, if so, provide a description of the data that 
may be processed and the type or nature of processing to be performed (e.g., geographic 
correlation, IP address resolution);  

                                                                 
130

 Communications Data Code of Practice November 2018, paragraph 6.5 

112



 

59 
 

 if engaging the request filter or acquiring ICRs, specify whether any threshold for the 
number of results returned is set which would prevent any portion of records being 
disclosed; and  

 where data is being sought from a telecommunications operator or postal operator, specify 
whether the telecommunications operator or postal operator may inform the subject(s) of 
the fact that an application has been made for their data.  

 
228. In addition, an authorisation to give a notice must131:  

 

 specify the operator to whom the notice applies and the nature of requirements to be 
imposed;  

 identify the public authority;  

 Where the grant of an authorisation is recorded separately from the relevant application, 
they should be cross-referenced to each other.  

 specify or describe the person(s) to whom the data is to be, or may be, disclosed or how to 
identify such person(s); and  

 confirm whether a telecommunications operator or postal operator may disclose the 
existence of this requirement, or any related pursuant authorisation or notice, to a customer 
or other individual. 

 
NOTICES IN PURSUANCE OF AN AUTHORISATION  
 

229. The giving of a notice is appropriate where a telecommunications operator or postal 
operator is able to retrieve or obtain specific data, and to disclose that data, and the 
relevant authorisation has been granted. A notice may require a telecommunications 
operator or postal operator to obtain any communications data if that data is not already in 
its possession. 

 
230. The decision to authorise the issuing of a notice must be based on information 

presented in an application.  Once the authorising individual has authorised the giving of a 
notice, it will be given to a telecommunications operator or postal operator in writing.  The 
notice should contain enough information to allow the telecommunications operator or 
postal operator to comply with the requirements of the notice.  A notice must132: 

 

 describe the communications data to be obtained or disclosed under the notice specifying, 
where relevant, any historic or future date(s) and, where appropriate, time period(s); 

 specify the requirements being imposed and the telecommunications operator or postal 
operator on whom the requirements are being imposed;  

 Ordinarily the applicant or other person within the investigation or operation will prepare a 
schedule of data, for example telephone numbers, to enable the SPOC to undertake the 
acquisition of subscriber information. The schedule will include details of the person who 
prepared it, cross reference it to the relevant notice or authorisation and specify the events 
data from which the data are derived 

 specify the manner in which the data should be disclosed and specify or describe the 
person(s) to whom the data is to be, or may be, disclosed or how to identify such person(s);  

 include a unique reference number and identify the public authority; 

 specify the name (or unique identifier) of the officer giving the notice; 

                                                                 
131

 Communications Data Code of Practice November 2018, paragraph 6.6 
132

 Communications Data Code of Practice November 2018, paragraph 6.23 

113



 

60 
 

 be given in writing or, if not, in a manner that produces a record, within the public authority, 
of its having been given;  

 record the date when the giving of a notice was authorised by the authorising individual;  

 where appropriate, provide an indication of any urgency or time within which the 
telecommunications operator or postal operator is requested to comply with the 
requirements of the notice;  

 include an explanation that compliance with the notice is a requirement of the Act unless 
the notice is cancelled. A telecommunications operator or postal operator which has not 
complied before the period of validity for the authorisation expires is still required to 
comply. The notice should contain sufficient information including the contact details of the 
SPOC to enable a telecommunications operator or postal operator to, where necessary, 
confirm the notice is authentic and lawful; and  

 if permission has been given, confirm the telecommunications operator or postal operator 
may disclose the existence of this requirement, or any related pursuant authorisation or 
notice, to a customer or other individual 

 
231. A telecommunications operator or postal operator is not required to do anything 

under a notice which it is not reasonably practicable for it to do.   A notice may only require 
a telecommunications operator or postal operator to disclose the communications data to 
the public authority. This will normally be to the public authority’s SPOC. 

 
DURATION 
 

232. Once granted the CD authorisation is valid for one month. 
 
RENEWAL 
 

233. A renewed authorisation takes effect upon the expiry of the authorisation it is 
renewing.  The renewal application will similarly have to be submitted to NAFN for its 
authorisation and onward submission to OCDA.  Accordingly, the time required to complete 
this process must be factored in and back calculated from the current date of expiration, to 
ensure sufficient time is given in order to obtain a renewal authorisation from OCDA prior to 
the current authorisation expiring. 

 
CANCELLATIONS 
 

234. The DSO granting the authorisation must cancel it if at any time after the grant of 
authorisation by OCDA, it is no longer necessary for a statutory purpose, or the conduct 
required by the authorisation is no longer proportionate to what was sought to be achieved. 

 
COMMUNICATIONS DATA CENTRALLY RETRIEVABLE RECORD 
 

235. The Council CD electronic centrally retrievable register is maintained by a Legal 
Services’ Officer.133 

 
RECORD KEEPING  
 

236. A copy of the online Application/Review/Renewal or Cancellation form submitted 
online to NAFN must be retained and be provided to the SRO by hand, within 7 days, in a 

                                                                 
133

 Appendix 8 

114



 

61 
 

double sealed envelope marked “OFFICIAL SENSITIVE- Strictly Private & Confidential” 
and/or emailed to the SRO via the designated email.134  Due to the degree of sensitivity and 
risk arising from obtaining and retaining documents in a central database, OCDA only retains 
the CD applications for a limited period.  Public authorities are therefore required to keep 
records of both CD applications issued and decisions received from OCDA.  The Council has 
mirrored the retention period for covert surveillance documentation and will retain records 
for a period of 5 years. 

 
237. Each relevant public authority must also keep a record of the following 

information135(only those applicable to local authorities are listed):   
 

A. the number of applications submitted by an applicant to a SPOC seeking the acquisition 
of communications data;  

 
B. the number of applications submitted by an applicant to a SPOC seeking the acquisition 

of communications data, which were referred back to the applicant for amendment or 
declined by the SPOC, including the reason for doing so;  

 

C. the number of applications submitted to an authorising individual for a decision to 
obtain communications data, which were approved after due consideration by the DSO 
and thereafter by OCDA;  

 

D. the number of applications submitted to an authorising individual for a decision to 
obtain communications data, which were referred back to the applicant or rejected after 
due consideration, including the reason for doing so;  

 

E. the number of authorisations of conduct to acquire communications data granted by the 
DSO and thereafter OCDA; 

 

F. the number of authorisations to give a notice to acquire communications data granted 
by the DSO and thereafter OCDA; 

 

G. the number of notices given pursuant to an authorisation requiring disclosure of 
communications data;  

 

H. the priority grading of the authorisation for communications data (see Operational 
Prioritisation Table above);  

 

I. whether any part of the authorisation relates to a person who is a member of a 
profession that handles privileged or otherwise confidential information (such as a 
medical doctor, lawyer, journalist, member of a relevant legislature, or minister of 
religion) (and if so, which profession);  

 

J. the number of times an authorisation is granted to obtain communications data in order 
to confirm or identify a journalist’s source; and  

 

                                                                 
134

 Appendix 1 
135

 Communications Data Code of Practice 2018 paragraph 24.4 

115



 

62 
 

K. the number of items of communications data sought, for authorisation granted by a DSO 
and thereafter OCDA. 

 

238. These records should distinguish between requests considered by OCDA136 and 
those considered by designated senior officers.137 

 
239. For each item of communications data (including consequential data) included 

within a notice or authorisation, the relevant public authority must also keep a record of 
data required by the Code,138 which is contained in the Council’s Electronic Communications 
Data Centrally Retrievable Register (CRR).139  If the advice of a Judicial Commissioner or 
OCDA has been sought prior to the acquisition of communications data that could be 
considered novel or contentious, the fact and views of OCDA or the Judicial Commissioner 
will be recorded in the CD CRR. It is the responsibility of the Senior Responsible Office to 
maintain this record. These records must be sent in written or electronic form to the IPC, as 
requested by them.  

 
SAFEGUARDS 
 
GENERAL 
 

240. In addition to the requirements of the data protection legislation, CD held by a 
public authority should be treated as information with a classification marking140 of Official 
with 141a caveat of Sensitive, though it may be classified as higher if appropriate. 

 
241. Communications data acquired under the Act and all copies, extracts and summaries 

of it, must be held in a manner which provides an adequate level of protection for the 
relative sensitivity of the data and meets the data protection principles outlined in relevant 
data protection legislation. Data must be effectively protected against unauthorised access 
and use, with particular consideration given to the principles of data security and integrity. 
Access to communications data must be limited to the minimum number of trained 
individuals necessary for the authorised purposes. Individuals should be granted access only 
where it is required to carry out their function in relation to one of the purposes for which 
the public authority may acquire communications data. 

 
 
 
 
 

242. The above documentation is to be provided to the SRO by hand within 7 days of 
grant in a double sealed envelope marked “OFFICIAL SENSITIVE- Strictly Private & 
Confidential” and/or emailed to the SRO via the designated email address142.  The SRO will 

                                                                 
136

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 60A 
137

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Sections 61 & 61A 
138

 Communications Data Code of Practice 2018, paragraph 24.6 
139

 Appendix 9 
140

 Government Classification Scheme (2018) 
https://security-guidance.service.justice.gov.uk/government-classification-scheme/#government-
classification-scheme 
141

 Appendix 8 
142

 Appendix 1 

116

https://security-guidance.service.justice.gov.uk/government-classification-scheme/#government-classification-scheme
https://security-guidance.service.justice.gov.uk/government-classification-scheme/#government-classification-scheme


 

63 
 

retain all material in a secure location with access restricted to the SRO and officer 
responsible for maintaining the CD Centrally Retrievable Record.   The CD CRR should be 
retained for perpetuity.  

 
RETENTION 
 

243. Communications data may only be held for as long as the relevant public authority is 
satisfied that it is still necessary for a statutory purpose. When it is no longer necessary or 
proportionate to hold such data, all copies of relevant data held by the public authority must 
be destroyed. Data must be deleted such that it is impossible to access at the end of the 
period for which it is required. If such material is retained, it should be reviewed when 
appropriate to confirm that the justification for its retention is still valid for one or more of 
the authorised purposes.   

 
244. Records must be available for inspection by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner 

and for the Investigatory Powers Tribunal (IPT).  Please note the IPT will consider complaints 
made up to one year after the conduct to which the complaint relates to and where 
equitable to do so, may consider complaints made more than one year after the conduct to 
which the compliant relates, particularly where continuing conduct is alleged.  Although 
records are only required to be retained for at least three years, it is therefore desirable, if 
possible, to retain records for up to five years. 

 
NOTIFICATION 

 
245. Where communications data is being sought from a telecommunications operator or 

postal operator, if the telecommunications operator or postal operator is permitted to notify 
the subject(s) of the fact that a request has been made for their data the relevant public 
authority must specify this when requesting the data. The public authority must, at the point 
of application, consider whether it would be damaging to investigations to notify the 
individual that their data will be acquired.  Please note, if the CD is required for the purpose 
of a criminal investigation, care must be taken not to tip the subject off prior to the 
completion of the investigation and outside of the formal pre-interview disclosure and/or 
disclosure process (see below).   

 
NOTIFICATION OF SERIOUS ERRORS 
 

246. If the CD is wrongly acquired or disclosed, the public authority making or 
establishing an error has been made must report the error to the SRO and IPC.143  The 
criteria for the IPC to notify an individual of the error is that it is a serious error and it is in 
the public interest for the individual concerned to be informed of the error.  If the person is 
informed, they must be informed of their right to apply to IPT. 

 
 
 
 
NOTIFICATION IN CRIMINAL PROCEEDINGS  

 

                                                                 
143

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 231 

117



 

64 
 

247. Where communications data has been acquired during the course of a criminal 

investigation that comes to trial an individual will be made aware, in most cases, that data 

has been obtained. Where communications data is used to support the prosecution case it 

will be served as evidence on the defendant. Additionally in compliance with its disclosure 

the prosecution will reveal the existence of communications data (and potentially the 

material generated in the process of it being obtained) to a defendant on a schedule of non-

sensitive unused material if that data is relevant.  Please see Disclosure Duties & Obligations 

for further guidance. 

 
COMPLIANCE & OFFENCES 
 

248. It is an offence for a person without lawful authority to knowingly or recklessly 
obtain CD from a telecommunications operator or postal operator.144  It is a defence to show 
the person acted in the reasonable belief that the person had lawful authority to obtain the 
CD.145  The offence is triable either way and is punishable in the Magistrates’ Court with a 
maximum term of 12 months imprisonment and a maximum of two years in the Crown 
Court.146 

 
 
DISCLOSURE DUTIES & OBLIGATIONS (RIPA & IPA) 
 

249. In addition to considering document storage, retention and destruction, officers 
must also consider their Disclosure Duties & Obligations.  The statutory framework for 
disclosure is Criminal Procedure & Investigations Act 1996, Criminal Procedure & 
Investigations Act Code of Practice,147Covert Surveillance & Property Interference Revised 
Code 2018,148 CHIS Draft Revised Code December 2021 and Communications Data Revised 
Code of Practice 2018. 

 
250. There is a duty to record, retain and review material created and/or obtained during 

an investigation.  The Disclosure Officer (DO) is responsible for disclosure within the 
investigation, their disclosure obligations begin at the start of the investigation, and it 
remains a continuing duty to conduct a thorough investigation and manage all material 
appropriately.   There is also a duty to follow all reasonable lines of inquiry whether they 
point towards or away from a suspect. 

 
251. Unused material is material that is relevant but does not form part of the 

prosecution case.  Relevant material is anything that appears to have some bearing on any 
offence under investigation, or any person being investigated, or on the surrounding 
circumstances unless it is capable of having an impact on the case.   

 
252. The DO has a duty to review unused material and compile Disclosure Schedules 

containing Unused Material.  There are two types of Schedules of Unused Material, firstly a 

                                                                 
144

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 11(1) 
145

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 11(3) 
146

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 11(4) 
147

 Last revised 2015  
148

 Chapter 9 

118



 

65 
 

Schedule of Non-Sensitive Unused Material149 which is disclosable to the defence and must 
be provided to the defence either as part of Initial Disclosure and thereafter subsequent 
schedules or updates provided to the defence.  The second is the Schedule of Sensitive 
Unused Material,150 which is not disclosable to the defence due to its contents.  

 
253. In compiling the schedules, the DO must assess each item to determine if it meets 

the Disclosure Test.  The Disclosure Test requires the prosecution to provide the defence 
copies or access to any material which might reasonably be considered capable of 
undermining the prosecution case and/or assisting the defence, which has not been 
previously disclosed. 

 
254. RIPA & CD Authorisations, Reviews, Renewal and Cancellation forms are usually 

listed in the Schedule of Sensitive Material as they are likely to disclose the systems and 
practices of the investigating authority.  Directed Surveillance logs are usually listed in the 
Non-Sensitive Schedule albeit they may require redactions.   

 
255. Once provided the relevant Schedules of Unused Material, the prosecutor has a duty 

to review the schedules and relevant documents, in particular the authorisation and 
supporting documents.  If it is determined the material does not assist the defence or 
undermine the prosecution case, there is no requirement to disclose the material to the 
defence.  Therefore, the Directed Surveillance or CHIS authorisation should only be disclosed 
to the defence (redacted if required) where it satisfies the disclosure test, or the defence has 
raised lawfulness of the authority.  

 
256. R v GS & Others,151 confirmed the validity or otherwise of surveillance authorisations 

goes to the lawfulness of the evidence obtained, not admissibility as Surveillance 
Commissioner’s decisions, “shall not be subject to appeal or liable to be questioned in any 
court.” 

 
RIPA & IPA OVERSIGHT 
 
APPROVAL OF POLICY 
 

257. The Council’s RIPA & IPA Policy and Processes is submitted to Cabinet for its 
approval. 

 
ANNUAL REVIEW OF POLICY  
 

258. The Code152 requires a review of the Policy at least once a year.  The officer 
responsible for maintaining the RIPA Centrally Retrievable Record (CRR)153 is also responsible 
for preparing the annual RIPA & IPA Report and Review of the RIPA & IPA Policy to the Audit 
& Resources Committee which provides members the basis to consider and review the 
adequacy of the Council’s RIPA & IPA Policy.   

259. The Code also recommends elected members consider internal reports on the use of 
RIPA and CD on a regular basis, to ensure that it is being used consistently with the local 

                                                                 
149

 Form MG6C 
150

 Form MG6D 
151

 [2005] EWCA Crim 
152

 Directed Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code 2018, paragraph 4.47 
153

 Appendix 5 

119



 

66 
 

authority’s policy and that the policy remains fit for purpose.  Accordingly, following each  
RIPA/IPA Bi-Annual meeting the SRO will prepare an internal report to the elected members 
as to the content and outcome of the meeting. 

 
RIPA & IPA BI-ANNUAL MEETINGS 
 

260. The introduction of RIPA and IPA bi-annual meetings chaired by the SRO for all those 
with designated roles will ensure all relevant updates to the statutory framework and any 
issues which arise from the SRO’s internal monitoring of the RIPA Centrally Retrievable 
Record will be addressed and remedied where required in a timely manner.  As set out 
above the SRO will prepare and submit an internal report to the elected members following 
the biannual meeting. 

 
INTERNAL MONITORING 
 

261. The SRO will undertake an internal reviews and audit of the RIPA Centrally 
Retrievable Record (CRR) and the CD Centrally Retrievable Record not less than quarterly.  
The SRO will also identify any issues arising from the internal audit and raise such issues at 
the RIPA bi-annual meeting with AOs to address and resolve the live issues.  Any urgent 
matters should be raised with the AO’s as soon as is possible and, in any event, prior to the 
next meeting. 

 
TRAINING 
 

262. All new AOs and DSOs are appointed by the SRO who will ensure all AOs and DSOs 
attend suitable training and refresher courses.    All Council officers utilising RIPA and/or IPA 
must also have attended a suitable training and refresher courses.  The Council now has an 
electronic Central RIPA Training Register to record all RIPA training for AOs, DSOs officers 
and lawyers.154  Whilst undertaking the internal audits of the RIPA CRR, the SRO will also 
identify any training needs for staff and/or monitoring issues to be raised with individual 
AO’s and/or at a RIPA & IPA bi-annual Meeting.  Additionally, the SRO will provide RIPA and 
IPA updates/advice notes and briefings to all relevant staff when required.   

 
REPORTING TO THE COMMISSIONER 
 
Reporting Errors   
 

263. Public authorities are expected to have thorough procedures in place to comply with 
RIPA, for example the careful preparation and checking of authorisations to reduce the 
scope for making errors.  A person holding a senior position within each public authority 
must undertake regular reviews of errors and a written record must be made of each review.  
This will be undertaken by the SRO. 

 
264. An error must be reported it is a “relevant error,”155 is an error by a public authority 

in complying with any requirements that re imposed on it by any enactment which are 
subject to review by a Judicial Commissioner.   

 

                                                                 
154

 Appendix 21 
155

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 section 231(9) 

120



 

67 
 

265. Errors must be notified to the Investigatory Powers Commissioner as soon as is 
reasonably practicable and no later than ten working days after the error has been 
identified.156  Where the full facts cannot be ascertained within that time, an initial 
notification must be sent with an estimated timescale for the error being reported in full and 
an explanation of the steps being undertaken to establish the full facts of the error. 

 
Serious Errors  
 

266. IPCO is under a statutory duty157 to inform the person of any relevant error relating 
to that person if the Commissioner considers that the error is a serious error and that it is in 
the public interest for the person concerned to be notified of the error.  The error is deemed 
serious if the error has caused significant prejudice or harm to the person concerned.  
Factors to be considered when determining if it is in the public interest to inform the person 
of the error are.158 

 

 The seriousness of the error and its effect on the person concerned; 

 The extent to which disclosing the error would be contrary to the public interest or 
prejudicial to: 
 

 National security; 
 The prevention or detection of serious crime; 
 The economic well-being of the UK; or 
 The continued discharge of the functions of any of the intelligence services; 

 
267. The Commissioner must seek submissions from the public authority before deciding 

whether to inform the person regarding the error.  If the Commissioner decides to inform 
the person of a serious error, the information provided to the person must include their 
right to apply to IPT and provide such details of the error as the Commissioner considers to 
be necessary for the exercise of those rights. 

 
CODES OF PRACTICE 
 

268. The Home Office publishes Codes of Practice for Covert Surveillance & Property 
Interference; CHIS; Communications Data and the Surveillance Camera, the links for which 
are contained in Appendices159 and are located on the RIPA & IPA Staff Hub page160  and are 
admissible in evidence in any court proceedings.  Public authorities like the Council may be 
required to justify the use, granting or refusal of authorisations by reference to the Codes.  If 
any officer is uncertain as to the meaning or application of any aspect of the Codes, legal 
advice should be obtained from the SRO161. 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                                 
156

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 Section 235(6)  
157

 Investigatory Powers Act 2016 section 231 
158

 Covert Surveillance & Property Interference Revised Code 2018 paragraph 8.16 
159

 RIPA COP Appendix 14 & IPA COP Appendix 20 
160

 Insert Staff Hub link 
161

 Appendix 1 

121



 

68 
 

 
INVESTIGATORY POWERS COMMISSIONER’S OFFICE (IPCO) 
 

269. The Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office (IPCO) is the supervisory body for 
RIPA & IPA and deals with the following: 

 

 Requests for RIPA Statistical Information; 

 Inspections of Local Authorities usually every 2-3 years; 

 Publication of regular reports on RIPA Activity; 
 
INVESTIGATORY POWERS TRIBUNAL (IPT) 
 

270. The IPT is an independent body with full powers to investigate and decide any case 
within its jurisdiction.  The Tribunal has at its disposal a range of possible remedies, as wide 
as those available to an ordinary court which is hearing and deciding an ordinary action for 
the infringement of private law rights.   The IPT will consider complaints made up to one 
year after the conduct to which the complaint relates and, where it is equitable to do so, 
may consider complaints made more than one year after the conduct to which the 
complaint relates162 particularly where continuing conduct is alleged.   

 
271. Apart from compensation, other orders that may be made by the Tribunal include: 

 an order quashing or cancelling any warrant or authorisation; and 
 an order requiring the destruction of any records of information which (i) have been 

obtained in exercise of any power conferred by a warrant or authorisation; or (ii) are held by 
any public authority in relation to any person. 

272. Any action unlawful covert surveillance or the acquisition of CD may have financial 
and reputational implications for the Council as well as affect its ability to utilise RIPA (see 
Gary Davies v British Transport Police (IPT/17/93/H)). 

 
273. As to costs, unlike Rule 10 of the Tribunal Procedure (First-Tier Tribunal) General 

Regulatory Chamber Rules 2009 (SI No.1976) there is no express power to award costs in 
Section 67(7) of RIPA, nor in the Rules. The Tribunal has only awarded costs on one occasion 
(Chatwani & Others v the National Crime Agency).   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                 
162

 see section 67(5) of the Act 

122



 

69 
 

 
MISCELLANEOUS  
 
POLICY REVISION HISTORY 
 

REVISION REVISION DATE  
 

1  

2 2008 

3 July 2012 

4 July 2015 

5 February 2016 

6 January 2019 

7 February 2022 

8 February 2023 

 

123



This page is intentionally left blank



  

AGENDA ITEM    

CABINET 

23rd January 2023 

AFFORDABLE HOUSING SERVICE POLICIES 

Report of Senior Housing Compliance Specialist  

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that  Cabinet: 
 
Consider the 2nd tranche of policies (Rent Setting Policy, Income Management 
Policy, Tenancy Policy and Housing Management Policy) and they be approved on 
the terms as outlined in this report. 

 

Summary 
 
Eastleigh Borough Council (the Council) has been a local authority Registered Provider of 
affordable homes since May 2021 and is due to be the landlord of its first affordable 
housing tenants (from the Hampshire Home Choice Register) in 2023/24.  As a registered 
provider of affordable housing the Council must ensure that it meets not only its regulatory 
requirements but also puts in place a transparent, high-quality service for its customers. 
Several policies require approval to enable the timely delivery of the Council’s new 
affordable housing service. The draft policies are fully compliant and up to date with the 
latest regulations. The policies will be monitored and reviewed annually, using lessons 
learnt and tenant input to further improve them and the services they underpin.  

Statutory Powers 
 
Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 

The Housing Act 1996 (Part 6), as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002, the Localism 
Act 2011 and other relevant legislation 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. The Council is re-opening its Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and since May 
2021 has been a local authority Registered Provider of affordable homes.  
This supports the Council in taking more direct control and influence over new 
affordable housing supply in the Borough.  This activity addresses the 
Corporate Strategy (Housing) objectives of accelerating the delivery of new 
homes, and encouraging a mix of housing types, tenure and sizes. The 

125

Agenda Item 8



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

proposal also addresses the ‘Tackling Deprivation’ objective by potentially 
improving access to lower-cost housing, reducing waiting times for affordable 
housing, and helping to reduce homelessness. 
 

2. Cabinet endorsed an Eastleigh Homes Delivery Strategy in December 2020, 
which provides a direction of travel for the Council’s Housing Programme 
activity from 2021. The Delivery Strategy confirms the Council’s aim to provide 
a more diverse supply of housing to Borough residents, and its ambition to 
become a landlord of choice across all tenure types. 
 

3. Establishing a set of robust policies to guide decision-making, processes and 
various landlord activity is necessary in order to satisfy regulatory compliance, 
but also to demonstrate that the Council’s strategic objectives as a landlord of 
affordable housing are met. 
 

Introduction  

4. The Council disposed of all its housing stock back in 1996 as part of the Large 
Scale Voluntary Transfer (LSVT) and as a result closed the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA). This transfer resulted in the creation of Eastleigh Housing 
Association which subsequently became First Wessex and now VIVID.  
 

5. The Council decided to re-open the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) in 
February 2021 and registered with the Regulator for Social Housing in May 
2021.  The Council’s Housing Programme, including delivery of a new 
sustainable community at One Horton Heath, means that inevitably the 
Council will shortly own and be the landlord of affordable homes.  
 

6. The Council’s objectives are to ensure development addresses unmet 
housing needs; and that residents have security of tenure and receive a high-
quality management and maintenance service.  As required by the Regulator, 
the Council as a Registered Provider must have a range of policies and 
strategies in place, specific to the Council’s role and duties as a social 
housing landlord. 
 

7. Policies are intended to support the HRA Business plan and will satisfy 
regulatory compliance. The HRA business plan is being developed to include 
the latest vision, priorities and the financial position of the Council’s new 
Affordable Housing Service. To underpin the HRA there are several strategies 
and each of these are supported by policies and processes to ensure strategy 
implementation is achieved.   

 

Background to policies  

 
8. Registered Providers are required to adopt and keep up to date a range of 

policies which demonstrate a commitment to its own standards and 

126



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

responsibilities.  A large number of the policies are a statutory requirement, 
whilst others are discretionary. 

 
9. The starting point for developing the required policies involved reviewing 

policies used by other Registered Providers, consultation with stakeholders 
and a review of the Council’s existing strategies where relevant (e.g. 
complaints policy). The Council’s existing Homelessness Strategy and 
Tenancy Strategy are related to several policies. 
 

10. Policies submitted to Cabinet have been scrutinised by a Policy and 
Performance Scrutiny Panel Task and Review Group, then those 
recommended go to P&P panel before being submitted to Cabinet for 
approval. 
 

11. A compliance checklist was undertaken to ensure coverage of all relevant 
policy areas. 

 
12. The legislation setting out regulatory compliance for local authority Registered 

Providers is: 
 

• The Equality Act 2015 - http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents  

• The Equality Act 2010.  

• The Human Rights Act 1998 - 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents 

• The Housing Act 1996 (Part 6), as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002, 
the Localism Act 2011 and other relevant legislation.  

• Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997, SI 1997/483.  

• Allocation of Housing (England) Regulations 2002, SI 2002/3264.  

• Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations 
2006, SI 2006/1294.  

• Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) (England) 
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/1869.  

• Housing Act 1996 (Additional Preference for Armed forces) (England) 
Regulations 2012, SI 2012/2989.  

• Allocation for Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move) (England) 
Regulations 2015, SI 2015/967.  
 

13. To assist local authorities in establishing policies, several standards and 
guidance documents are provided: 

  

• HCA Regulatory Standards - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-standards  

• Pre-Action Protocol for Possession Claims by Social Landlords (2015) - 
https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/civil/protocol/pre-action-
protocol-forpossessionclaims-by-social-landlords 

• Allocation of Accommodation: Guidance for Local housing Authorities in 
England (2012, DCLG) “the Code”.  

127

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-standards
https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/civil/protocol/pre-action-protocol-forpossessionclaims-by-social-landlords
https://www.justice.gov.uk/courts/procedure-rules/civil/protocol/pre-action-protocol-forpossessionclaims-by-social-landlords


 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

• Providing social housing for local people: Statutory Guidance on social 
housing allocations for local authorities in England (DCLG, December 2013) 
“Supplementary Code”.  
 

14. The Council’s role as a private sector landlord (delivered through Leaf Homes) 
will be guided by its own policies, drawing on the Council’s Registered 
Provider policies where applicable, particularly where this relates to customer 
service standards.  The landlord roles are regulated under a different 
legislative framework, but the Council will seek to streamline services and 
policies where appropriate.  

 

Policy approval process 

15. There are various policies required for the effective management of an 
Affordable Housing Service. A total of 30 policies have been identified.  Due to 
the numbers required, the approval of such policies has been split into 
manageable tranches.   The policies cover a range of housing management 
matters, such as contractual (i.e., the landlord’s roles and responsibilities) and 
social (the ‘added value’ role the landlord plays in supporting communities and 
households).  Services and functions covered by these policies include, for 
example, the approach to anti-social behaviour, repairs and maintenance and 
tenancy support. 

 
16. As a local authority, the Council will have similar policies in place to support 

other statutory functions (such as customer service, data protection and codes 
of conduct).  The policies required for regulatory compliance apply to the 
Council in its role as Registered Provider, although cross-reference to 
corporate policies are made where applicable for consistency in approach.  
This report covers the first tranche of policies for approval which are listed 
below: 
 
1. Rent Setting Policy (Appendix 2) 
2. Income Management Policy (Appendix 3) 
3. Tenancy Policy (Appendix 4) 
4. Housing Management Policy (Appendix 5) 

 
17. The tranches are set up to try and link related subjects to make them easier to 

understand.  For example the Rent Setting Policy is mentioned in the Income 
Management policy.  

Second tranche of policies 

18. The second tranche of policies groups those associated with the income and 
housing management processes. 

 
19. Comments are sought on the Rent Setting Policy.  The purpose of which is to 

provide a framework for how Eastleigh Borough Council Affordable Housing 
Service (the Council) sets and reviews the rent levels of its properties. It will 
detail how the Council aims to balance the need to maximise income to pay 

128



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

for essential services such as repairs and maintenance and support for 
tenants whilst keeping rents affordable. 
 

 
20. Comments are sought on the Income Management Policy, the purpose of 

which is to set out Eastleigh Borough Council’s Affordable Housing Services 
(the Council’s) overall approach to income recovery regarding rents for its 
homes (temporary, affordable and market rent), rechargeable repairs and 
services charges.  

It sets the framework for the development of the Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan to deliver the aims and objectives.  

 

21. Comments are sought on the Tenancy Policy. The purpose of which is to set 
out Eastleigh Borough Council’s Affordable Housing Service’s (the Council) 
approach to granting and managing tenancies within its own housing stock. It 
also explains the approach to tenancy management, tenancy support and the 
types of tenancy we will offer in accordance with our regulatory responsibilities 
and those of an affordable housing provider. This covers our affordable 
housing stock tenures. 

 
22. Finally, comments are sought on a Housing Management Policy. The purpose 

of which is to summarise how we will manage housing in line with our 
statutory and regulatory responsibilities and our duties as a social landlord. It 
outlines the scope, aims and controls in place for each area of housing 
management.  There are also subject specific policies to support this with 
more detail. 
 

23. The proposal for the scrutiny of these policies is for them to be considered by 
the existing Housing Working Group as they are developed, alongside the 
relevant Portfolio Holder.  This group is made up of Councillors from both 
Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel and Audit and Resources Committee.  
Those policies that the Housing Working Group consider need additional 
scrutiny, will be brought to the Policy and Performance Panel for their 
consideration and to make recommendations to Cabinet.   The terms of 
reference for this Working Group will be reviewed and updated as required. 

 

Monitoring and Review 

24. Policies will be reviewed annually and when necessary, should a legislative 
change be confirmed. The policies will be scrutinised by a tenant panel, 
possible amendments to be made by utilising information from lessons 
learned, measures and feedback from stakeholders.  The recommendations 
will be distributed to and reviewed by a Housing Working Group.   

        Financial Implications 

129



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

25. There are no direct financial implications as a result of considering these 
policies. The wider revenue cost implications of providing housing management 
services for example, will be addressed by the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA) Business Plan, which will be considered by Members. 

 
26. These policies will support the HRA Business plan and its underlying 

strategies.   They will ensure the transparent, smooth and effective 
management of the service, its properties, and the meeting of compliance 
regulations. All of which have potential financial implications which will be 
reduced through the use of strong, transparent and effective policies. 

Risk Assessment 

27. The HRA Business Plan recognises the need for strict risk assessment and 
will carry these out regularly through operation.  By providing policies that are 
compliant with the Regulator of Social Housing as set out in the Housing and 
Regeneration Act 2008, it will ensure that we; 

 

• protect our housing assets 

• ensure we are financially viable and properly governed 

• maintain confidence of lenders to invest into the sector 

• encourage and support supply of social housing 

• ensure tenants are protected and have opportunities to be involved in the 
management of their housing 

• ensure value for money in service delivery 
 

28. To further ensure that the Council’s policies are in-line with latest regulations 
and best practice an external partner will be used to review them before they 
‘go live’. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

 
29. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision and an Equality Impact 

Assessment (EqIA) has been carried out and attached in Appendix 1.  In 
summary the EqIA shows that this assessment notes that the totality of 
policies within the Affordable Home Service represents a balance between 
meeting different forms of housing need and maximising the overall delivery of 
affordable homes, within the context of national policy requirements and 
available funding.  

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

30. The development of affordable housing service policies does not present any 
immediate implications for mitigating or adapting to climate change. However, 
having more direct control over a further element of housing delivery will help 
support the environmental aims as set out in the Eastleigh Homes Delivery 
Strategy.   Future tranches of policies will include the approach to asset 
management and repairs, and the operational carbon impact of those 
activities will be considered through the policy development process.  Fuel 

130



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

poverty and energy usage are also likely to be covered in future policies (e.g. 
tenancy support). 

 

Conclusion 

31. The Council became a Registered Provider of affordable homes in May 2021 
and will provide such homes in accordance with the Regulator’s standards 
and other legislative requirements. 
 

32. The policies are a substantial part of protecting the Council, it’s assets and the 
tenants it houses. Whilst they contain a large amount of information that is 
statutory, they do also hold parts that will dictate the Council’s aspirations and 
approach to the management of their affordable housing service.  

 

SUE EDGERLEY 
Senior Housing Compliance Specialist 

 

 
Date: 02 January 2023 
Contact Officer: Sue Edgerley  
Tel No:  
e-mail: sue.edgerley@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 5 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

 

131



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Affordable Rent Setting Policy 

Contents 
1. Aims of the Policy........................................................................................................... 2 

2. Background .................................................................................................................... 2 

3.  Legislative Requirements .............................................................................................. 2 

4. Exclusions from Rent Standard ...................................................................................... 3 

5. Types of Rent ................................................................................................................. 3 

5.1 Affordable Rent ................................................................................................................ 4 

5.2 Social Rent ........................................................................................................................ 4 

5.3 Flexibility with Rents ........................................................................................................ 4 

6. How rents are calculated ............................................................................................... 4 

6.1 Social rents - ..................................................................................................................... 4 

6.2 Affordable rents ............................................................................................................... 4 

7. Rents for affordable tenants with High Incomes ........................................................... 5 

8. Service Charges .............................................................................................................. 5 

9. Existing Tenancies .......................................................................................................... 6 

10. New Build Housing ......................................................................................................... 6 

11. Shared Ownership .......................................................................................................... 6 

12. Complaints and Appeals ................................................................................................ 7 

13.  Local authority information requirements ................................................................... 7 

14. Linked Policies ................................................................................................................ 7 

15. Data Protection .............................................................................................................. 7 

16. Equality & Diversity ........................................................................................................ 8 

17. Monitoring and Review .................................................................................................. 8 

18. Document History and Approval ................................................................................... 8 

 

[Title] 
Version 1 Approved by Cabinet  

Date last 
amended 

Click here to enter a date. 
Approval date 

Click here to enter a date. 

Lead officer Click here to enter text. Review date Click here to enter a date. 
Contact Click here to enter text. Effective date Click here to enter a date. 

133



 

 

1. Aims of the Policy  
1.1 The purpose of this policy is to provide a framework for how Eastleigh Borough Council 

Affordable Housing Service (the Council) sets and reviews the rent levels of its properties. It 

will detail how the Council aims to balance the need to maximise income to pay for essential 

services such as repairs and maintenance and support for tenants whilst keeping rents 

affordable. 

As a new landlord of affordable homes the Council will look to review this policy as and 

when is required to ensure it reflects the concerns of the tenant scrutiny group. The Council 

is a firm but fair landlord that will ensure it collects rents promptly to protect the Housing 

Revenue Account and its tenants. 

1.2 Through the standards set out in this policy and adherence to legislation, the Council will 

be able to ensure that:  

• The rent charges reflect the amenities of the property  

• The rent charges consider individuals’ circumstances should their income levels go 
up or down 

• Tenants are aware of the rental weekly charges at the start of their tenancy and any 
changes that may be implemented in April of each year 

• Tenants are aware of the importance of paying rent promptly and the consequences 
if they don’t.  

• The Councils Affordable Housing Service (the Council) can plan for future housing 
and further invest in its existing properties. 

2. Background 
2.1 Registered providers must be compliant with a new Rent Standard - The Rent Standard 

applies, subject to the exceptions in 4. below, to ‘low-cost rental’ accommodation, as 

defined by section 69 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008. 

2.2 Registered providers must set rents from 1 April 2020 in accordance with the 
Government’s Policy Statement on Rents for Social Housing 2019 (hereafter Rent Policy 
Statement)  
which can be found on the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) website.  

3. Legislative Requirements 
This policy is laid out in accordance with the following legislation and Government 
policies/guidance:  

• Housing Act 1985  

• Local Government and Housing Act 1989  

• MHCLG Rent Policy Statement 2019  

• Regulator of Social Housing Rent Setting Guidance  

• The Housing and Regeneration Act 2008  

• Regulator of Social Housing Rent Standard  

• Social Housing Rents (Exceptions and Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 2016  

• Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016  

134



 

 

• Equality Act 2010  

• Human rights Act 1998 

4. Exclusions from Rent Standard 
4.1 The Rent Standard applies to ‘low-cost rental’ accommodation.  However it does not 
apply to the following categories of property, as defined in Chapter 5 of the Rent Policy. 
 

• Shared ownership low-cost rental accommodation  

• Intermediate rent accommodation  

• Specialised supported housing  

• Relevant local authority accommodation*  

• Student accommodation  

• Private Finance Initiative (PFI) social housing  

• Temporary social housing  

• Care homes 

• High Income tenants 
 

* Relevant local authority accommodation 5.6 Accommodation is ‘relevant local authority 
accommodation’ if it is accommodation provided by a local authority and the Secretary of 
State has agreed that it would be inappropriate to apply this rent policy to the 
accommodation because this would cause the authority unavoidable and serious financial 
difficulty. 

 The process for authorities to secure the Secretary of State’s agreement will be set out in 
due course.  

5. Types of Rent 
In 2011, the Government introduced ‘affordable rent’ which permits rents (inclusive of 
service charges) to be set at up to 80% of market rent (inclusive of service charges).  
 
Landlords can only let new properties at affordable rent where certain conditions apply. 
Within the terms of the Government’s affordable homes programmes, existing vacant 
properties can be converted from social rent to affordable rent in certain circumstances.  
The rents of properties previously let at social rent must continue to be. This also applies to 
properties previously let at social rent where a higher rent is being charged to tenants with 
high incomes.   
 
In particular, social rent properties may not be converted to: 
(a) affordable rent, except where this has been agreed by Homes England, the Greater 
London Authority or the Secretary of State (under the terms set out in the definition of 
affordable rent housing 
(b) market rent (other than in the circumstances set out in chapter 4 of Rent Policy 
Statement) or 
(c) intermediate rent 

135



 

 

 
 
5.1 Affordable Rent – are set at less than 80% of market rent but typically higher than social 
rent with the intention of enabling additional investment in new affordable housing. 

5.1.1 Shared Ownership -The Council is considering developing hared ownership 
homes. This is where the tenant owns a proportion of the property and rents the 
remaining share. Further details on shared ownership rents are set out in section 11. 

 
5.2 Social Rent – where rent is set at a proportion of the market value using a calculation 
known as ‘formula rent’, as set by Government, which is calculated based on the relative 
value of the property, relative local income levels, and the size of the property.  
 
5.3 Flexibility with Rents – The Government’s policy recognises that registered providers 
should have some discretion over the rent set for individual properties, to take account of 
local factors and concerns, in consultation with tenants. 
 
An individual households’ circumstances are considered and all possible solutions to 
maintaining a tenancy will be looked at, including: 

• reducing affordable rent to social rent levels 

• setting rent at 40% of household income (if more achievable) 

• reducing high income households rents back to affordable 
 
 
Please see the process document on how these solutions will be addressed. 

6. How rents are calculated  
6.1 Social rents - These are set based on a formula set by Government. This is known as 
‘formula rent’.   
The calculations for formula rent take into account the following:  

• The condition and location of the property  
• Local earnings  
• The property size, specifically the number of bedrooms  

 
An increase or decrease for inflation Consumer Price Index (CPI) is then applied to the figure 
to calculate the final rent amount. This figure must not exceed the rent cap set by 
Government and is the maximum amount of rent that can be charged for a property of that 
size and type. Where this is the case, the rent cap amount is instead used. 
 
6.2 Affordable rents - The Government stipulates that rent for affordable housing must not 
exceed 80% of the equivalent market rent.  
 
The Council sets its affordable rent levels at this rate or below 80% by using the Local 
Housing Allowance (LHA). LHA rates are used in the calculation of housing benefit or 
housing support within Universal Credit, if the rent exceeds the LHA then the benefits will 
not meet the additional cost. 
 

136



 

 

The Council have a robust rent methodology and rent setting process which can be found 
(web link) 

7. Rents for affordable tenants with High Incomes 
7.1 The Policy Statement states: - “The Government does not expect registered providers to 
adhere to its social rent and affordable rent policy requirements in relation to social tenants 
with high incomes.” The policy being the Governments rent statement.Policy statement on 

rents for social housing’. 
 
7.2 The Council view a household, as any tenant named on the tenancy agreement, and any 
named tenant’s spouse, civil partner or partner where they reside in the rental 
accommodation. Income refers to taxable income in the tax year ending in the financial year 
prior to the financial (i.e. rent) year in question.  E.G the income received in the 2018-19 tax 
year would guide the rent payable in the 2020-21 rent setting year, where a household was 
above the threshold. In this example, 2018-19 is the tax year ending (on 5 April 2019) in the 
financial year (2019-20) prior to the financial (i.e. rent) year in question (2020-21) 
 
7.3 The Council, in considering this policy, will exercise the right to charge a full market rent 
where a social tenant household has an annual income of at least £45,000.   The Council 
understand that income can go down as well as up and would look at the flexible rent 
setting as in 5.4 should their situation change.  Regular income checks would be undertaken 
to ensure fairness. 
 
7.4 Where a high-income social tenant’s tenancy comes to an end, and they vacate the 
property, the Council will let the property to a household in housing need at a rent 
determined by the original tenure.  
 
7.5 Where there are more than two incomes within the household, as defined, only the two 
highest incomes will be taken into account.   

8. Service Charges 
8.1 Service charges may be applied at some properties to cover the costs of estate 
management.  
The charges include, but are not limited to:  

• Heating Charge  

• Water Rates Charge 

• Mobility Scooter Storage Charge  

• EV Charging 

• Cleaning Charge  

• Grounds Maintenance Charge  
 
8.2 The service charge covers both the direct and indirect costs of the services. The rates are 
calculated based on the average charge, dependant on the service, and the fees from the 
previous year. For example, the electricity charge in housing communal areas would use the 
previous years’ metering and apply any increased rate (per kWh) from the supplier. The 

137



 

 

costs are then apportioned equally amongst the properties except for heating of individual 
properties. 
 
8.3 Some service charges are eligible for Housing Benefit or Universal Credit. In general 
terms, the charge must be for a housing related service, rather than a personal service. A 
housing related service includes, but is not limited to:  

• Fuel, water, and sewage for communal areas  

• Communal window cleaning  

• Emergency alarm systems in certain accommodation  

• Provision of a heating system  

• Communal grounds maintenance  

• Maintenance of a communal lift 
 
8.4 - Where service charges are implemented, they will be considered as part of the overall 
rental cost. This will ensure that the final rent value will not exceed the Local Housing 
Allowance, formula rent (subject to rent flexibility level) or 80% of gross market rent, 
whichever applies to the property. Service charges will be set out in the tenancy agreement. 

9. Existing Tenancies 
 
9.1 In accordance with the Government’s Policy Statement on Rents for Social Housing, the 
Council will not increase existing rents by more than CPI plus 1 percentage point in any 
given year. This limit will apply to both social and affordable rent.  
 
9.2 The Council offers Flexible or Introductory Tenancies to residents housed in the Council’s 
affordable accommodation. The flexible tenancies last for 2 or 5 years and are reviewed 
approximately 12 months before the end of the fixed term. As part of this review Officers 
will consider the tenant’s current and predicted circumstances. Evidence on whether an 
affordable rent may now be reasonable will be considered before a further flexible tenancy 
is offered.  
 
9.3 Tenants will be given at least 28 days notification of any changes to their rent, in 
accordance with their tenancy agreement and legislation.   

10. New Build Housing  
10.1 Affordable rent was introduced in 2011 to allow delivery of quality homes at sub-
market rent. In accordance with this principle, residents of new council housing may be 
charged an affordable rent which will not exceed the current LHA cap. However, the Council 
will continue to investigate charging social rent in areas of specific need. 

11. Shared Ownership 
12.1.2 Shared ownership may also be explored at some new build schemes. Where this 
occurs, the details set out in paragraph 10 will come into effect.  

138



 

 

11.2 Shared ownership allows the tenant to own a proportion of the property and rent the 
remaining share. Residents also have the option to ‘staircase up’ and buy the remaining 
shares in the property.  
 
11.3 The Council’s new shared ownership properties or those who are staircasing will have 
the rent calculated simply. The calculation will be based on the unsold equity and as follows: 
Rent per month = (Unsold equity amount x 2.75%)/12. 
 
11.4 No changes will be made to existing tenant’s rent, except for the annual increase, 
unless additional shares are purchased. When this occurs, the resident will be advised of the 
new rent amount prior to any sale.  
https://www.gov.uk/leasehold-property/service-charges-and-other-expenses 
 
11.5 The annual increase in rent will continue to be CPI plus 1 percentage point. 

12. Complaints and Appeals  
13.1 The Council follows all legislation when increasing rents and gives 4 weeks’ notice of 
any proposed increases. The Council recognises that this may still concern some.  The 
Council encourages tenants to talk to us and will consider any individual circumstance. If still 
not satisfied, tenants can make a formal complaint, using the Housing Complaints process.  
Link 

13. Local authority information requirements  
14.1 The Council will communicate with the Regulator in an accurate and timely manner. 
Where material issues that relate to non-compliance or potential non-compliance with the 
Rent Standard are identified, the Councilwill communicate these to the Regulator promptly.  

14.Linked Policies 

• Income Management Policy  

• Former Tenants Arrears Policy;  

• Leasehold Service Charges Policy;  

• Temporary Accommodation Rent Policy;  

Housing Complaints Policy 

15. Data Protection 
The Council are committed to protecting and respecting the privacy of personal data.  As a 
registered Data Controller (Reg. no. Z7118863) it complies with the General Data Protection 
Regulations 2018 (GDPR). 

More information on how the Council collects, uses and keeps your personal information, 
and how it protects privacy can be found in our Record of Processing Activity (ROPA). 
The corporate privacy notice provides general information about the council’s personal data 
processing activities overall. As the range of services the council provides is so varied, it has 

139

https://www.gov.uk/leasehold-property/service-charges-and-other-expenses
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/5070/current-gdpr-ropa-for-website-v2.xlsx


 

 

also produced individual privacy notices for each service area, to explain specifically how 
data will be used within each service.  

16. Equality & Diversity  
16.1 Equality and diversity are of fundamental importance to services provided regardless of 
a person’s protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, religion pregnancy and maternity, race, belief, 
or sex). All must be treated with respect. The Council treats everyone it houses, serves, and 
employs, fairly, and encourages others to do the same.  
 
16.2 The Council provides information that is clear, accessible, and in an appropriate format 
(such as translated into another language, or in large print on request). Where appropriate, 
Council Officers will assist residents, by, for example, helping to complete paperwork. These 
policies ensure residents are treated in a fair and efficient manner. 

17. Monitoring and Review  
17.1 This policy will be reviewed regularly, to incorporate legislative and regulatory 

amendments and changes, best practice developments, or to address any operational issues 

with the procedure.  Input and approval will be sought from our residents (via the Residents 

Committee or similar) prior to making any substantive changes. This is in line with our 

Corporate Values and is intended to ensure our policy continues to meet the needs and 

aspirations of our residents. 

18. Document History and Approval 
Identity and Version Control 

This document is the final approved version and will be a controlled document with an 

individual assigned to version review/amendment. 

 

 

140

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy/privacy-notices-for-service-areas


1 
 

 

 

Income Management Policy 

Contents 
 

Definitions ............................................................................................................................................... 2 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 2 

Purpose ................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Key Principles and Service Standards  ..................................................................................................... 3 

Policy Summary ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

Scope ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Legislative Requirements ........................................................................................................................ 4 

Related Affordable Housing Service Policies  ......................................................................................... 5 

Operating Context  .................................................................................................................................. 5 

Support for tenants  ................................................................................................................................ 5 

Aims and Objectives ................................................................................................................................ 6 

Policy and Procedure .............................................................................................................................. 6 

Debt Recovery ......................................................................................................................................... 7 

How we will achieve our policy objective ........................................................................................... 7 

Code of Practice ...................................................................................................................................... 7 

Payment Methods ................................................................................................................................... 7 

Engagement and Information ................................................................................................................. 8 

Early Intervention ................................................................................................................................... 8 

Rent Arrears Recovery Principles ............................................................................................................ 9 

Serious/persistent arrears action ......................................................................................................... 10 

Arrears Recovery Process ..................................................................................................................... 10 

When is enforcement action taken? ................................................................................................. 11 

Contact points ................................................................................................................................... 11 

Documentary evidence ..................................................................................................................... 11 

Maintaining current instalments ...................................................................................................... 11 

Evictions ............................................................................................................................................ 11 

Change of Address and Abandonment ................................................................................................. 12 

Former Tenant Arrears ......................................................................................................................... 12 

Provision of Rent Account Statements ................................................................................................. 12 

141



2 
 

Approaches towards Vulnerable Tenants ............................................................................................. 12 

Equality and Diversity ........................................................................................................................... 13 

Performance Monitoring ...................................................................................................................... 13 

Data Protection ..................................................................................................................................... 14 

Monitoring and Review ......................................................................................................................... 14 

Document History and Approval .......................................................................................................... 14 

Identity and Version Control ............................................................................................................. 14 

 

 

Definitions 
Arrears - If you do not pay your rent on time, the money owed is called 'rent arrears'. Rent 

arrears are 'priority debts', which means the consequences of not dealing with them are 

serious - there is a risk of eviction 

HRA - The HRA is a “ring-fenced” account held by local authorities. It contains all the 

spending and income related to the dwellings owned by the council, acting as landlord, the 

HRA may also account for spending and income relating to other facilities such as garages. 

Each authority will have varying levels and types of housing and additional facilities, and so 

the HRA for any particular local authority will be unique to their individual circumstances. 

However, the format of the HRA is laid down by the government. It must contain spending 

and income items relating to the landlord function. The HRA is split between income and 

spending2. 

Pre-Action Protocol for Rent Arrears - Social housing landlords, such as local authorities or 

housing associations, have to follow a rent arrears pre-action protocol. This tells the Council 

what it should do before it starts court action. 

Introduction  
Changes to the housing subsidy system in April 2012, introduced the self-financed Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA). This placed a greater emphasis on collecting income to generate 

the funding to maintain homes and services. To support the Council in achieving high 

standards of service delivery, it is important that rental income from properties is 

maximised .  

[Title] 
Version 1 Approved by Cabinet  

Date last 
amended 

Click here to enter a date. 
Approval date 

Click here to enter a date. 

Lead officer Click here to enter text. Review date Click here to enter a date. 
Contact Click here to enter text. Effective date Click here to enter a date. 

142



3 
 

Purpose  
The purpose of this document is to set out Eastleigh Borough Council’s Affordable Housing 

Services (the Council’s) overall approach to income recovery regarding rents for its homes 

(temporary, affordable and market rent), rechargeable repairs and services charges.  

It sets the framework for the development of the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 

to deliver the aims and objectives.  

Key Principles and Service Standards  
Eastleigh Borough Council’s Affordable Housing Service is new and will be launched in 

2023/24 as the Council begins to hold new affordable homes.  The Council is developing a 

30-year HRA Business Plan to enable high quality service delivery.  

To achieve the vision the Council will be working around four key delivery themes to 

support the Council’s priorities:  

Team Developing the necessary staff attitudes, 
behaviours and skills to deliver Corporate 
priorities. Strive to provide value for money at 
all times whilst developing a community and 
social value mindset.  Take advantage of 
opportunities to provide homes, generate 
income and add value.  

Service Develop a clear, cost-effective and customer-
focused service offer, with a particular 
emphasis on creating places where people 
want to live. 

Value Work collaboratively with the rest of the 
Council and our partners to strengthen 
communities and improve wellbeing. 

Growth. Explore prudent growth, maximise productivity 
and increase the supply and diversification of 
housing to meet local needs. 

Policy Summary  
The Council manages a range of different tenures which are let using the appropriate form 

of tenancy agreement: 

• Lifetime Secure Tenancies  

• Five year fixed term tenancies  

• Three year fixed term tenancies  

• Introductory Tenancies 

• Assured Shorthold Tenancies (private sector leased properties)  

• Temporary Tenancies (private sector leased properties)  

• Shared Ownership  

143



4 
 

• First Homes   

Scope  
This policy applies to all tenure types in tenanted properties managed by the Council.  

It applies to the income and arrears recovery of:  

• Current rent 

• Service Charges  

• Private Sector Properties  

• Rent arrears costs 

• Court Costs  

• Rechargeable Repairs  

The policy aims to ensure income streams are maximised through effective and efficient 

management of accounts and there is a firm but fair and equitable approach when dealing 

with arrears and income collection.  

Legislative Requirements 
The statutory framework for income collection and recovery of council rent is set out in the 

Housing Acts 1985 and 1988, which provide legal grounds for seeking possession of 

tenanted properties and forfeiture of leases.  

The Council must also pay regard to related legislation in the application of its income 

recovery procedures including: 

• the Protection from Eviction Act 1977 

• the Law of Property Act 1925 

• the Data Protection Act 1984 (as amended 1998) 

• the Human Rights Act 1998  

• the Equality Act 2010.  

The legal grounds for possession are set out in the Housing Acts 1985 and 1988.  

Section 21 of the Housing Act 1988 gives the landlord an automatic right of possession once 

a fixed term tenancy has expired, and Schedule 2 of that act provides Grounds 8, 10 and 11 

(as amended by the Housing Act 1996 for assured shorthold tenancies).  

Schedule 2 of the 1985 Act governs secure tenancies. Legal casework also influences the 

approach to income recovery, and specific cases may restrict the extent to which debts may 

be recovered. T.   This means councils can face challenges in recovering debt in a timely 

manner, despite having robust systems in place. 

The County Court Civil Procedure Rules set out the requirements for making applications for 

possession, money judgments, and other debt recovery orders.  

144



5 
 

Related Affordable Housing Service Policies  
This income management policy should usefully be read alongside the following Council 

policies: 

• Rent Setting Policy 

• Debt Management Policy 

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/5088/82315-debt-collection-policy.pdf 

Operating Context  
A key aspect of developing the strategy for income management is knowledge and 

awareness of the customer profile. Tenants in social housing are estimated to make up 60% 

of the financially excluded. 

Financial exclusion means that, low-income households are vulnerable to higher interest 

rates and can face difficulty in accessing affordable credit.  

The Council will work to support tenants to improve their financial situation and increase 

their health and well-being. The Council will support tenants to work with a range of advice 

agencies offering access to financial products and services. Partnership working is regarded 

as an essential tool in the approach to providing information, advice and support.  

The Council is aware of the Poverty Premium which describes the additional fees, charges or 

higher prices people pay as a result of low incomes . As a result, we recognise that those 

affected lack access to choose about when and how they pay for essential services such as 

housing, utilities and communications.   

Support for tenants  
The Council will work to support new tenants to improve their financial situation and 

increase their health and well-being. The Council will support tenants to work with a range 

of advice agencies offering access to financial products and services. Partnership working is 

regarded as an essential tool in the approach to providing information, advice and support.  

The Council will work with partners to support tenants by: 

• Maximising income by completing financial assessments and benefit checks 

• Budgeting sessions to alter spending habits  

• Dealing with debts by referrals to free debt advice agencies 

• Encouraging saving to improve financial resilience- e.g. savings schemes, reward 

incentives. 

• Access to appropriate financial services e.g. fee free bank accounts, avoiding interest 

charges 

• Completing Housing Benefit, council tax support and universal credit application 

forms 

145

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/5088/82315-debt-collection-policy.pdf


6 
 

• Improving financial capability so that tenants can understand financial products and 

terms, be able to use them appropriately, and have the confidence and motivation 

to do so. 

The Council will work with residents in the Borough to enhance their employability, 

including: 

• Employment & Skills Support Service to be delivered by qualified in-house careers 

guidance and coaching champions.  

• Careers progression planning 

• Skills mapping 

• Referral to relevant training / retraining / learning programmes & workshops (at 

local training providers where appropriate e.g. Eastleigh College) 

Aims and Objectives 
The Councils’ overall strategic aim is to apply a firm but fair approach to managing arrears, 

which takes account of individual tenant circumstances, and is sensitive to equality 

considerations including vulnerability, language, age and literacy. The Council aims to 

provide an income recovery and arrears management process that combines efficient debt 

recovery processes and use of sanctions, with arrears prevention through welfare benefits 

advice, energy saving ideas and debt counselling, including referral to specialist agencies for 

employment opportunities and income maximisation.  

In order to achieve these aims the Council will:  

• Comply with best practice  

• Make effective use of sanctions  

• Link arrears recovery action with our approach to financial inclusion  

• Signpost tenants to agencies for specialist advice  

Policy and Procedure  
Operational procedures are in place for income collection and arrears recovery for all tenure 

types. Responsibility for income collection and recovery of rent arrears, sits within the 

Corporate Finance team. The success of arrears recovery action links directly with the 

application of policy and procedure, and staff resources.   

The Council will ensure that procedures are:  

• Equality-impact assessed  

• Kept under review to reflect good practice and changes in legislation and regulation  

• Focused on maximising income and ensuring value for money  

• Documented to include expected standards  

• Updated to reflect feedback from tenants where applicable.  

 

146



7 
 

Debt Recovery 
It is essential that Eastleigh Borough Council demonstrates that it undertakes the 

administration and recovery of all debts in an efficient and effective manner. The Council 

has a legal duty to ensure cost-effective billing, collection, and recovery all of sums due to 

the authority.  

In doing so, the Council will:  

• Take positive action to prevent arrears occurring, for example, by providing a wide 
range of easy-to-use payment methods  

• Take positive enforcement action against deliberate non-payers or those who delay 
payment  

• Encourage tenants to make early contact with us to avoid build-up of debt  

• Discuss payment options with tenants who have fallen or are likely to fall into 
arrears. We will work with them and their representatives to set reasonable 
payment levels that they can maintain  

• The Council will work towards adopting a coordinated approach with regard to 
multiple debts (recharges and rents) 

 

How we will achieve our policy objective  
To achieve the above we will ensure the following principles are adhered to:  

• Consider that tenants have a responsibility to pay  

• Aim to identify those who can pay but will not or those who delay payment, so that 
recovery action can be taken accordingly  

• Actively encourage contact at every stage of the collection and recovery process  

• Acknowledge the need to provide a service that is effective, whilst treating all 
tenants fairly and taking account of our social responsibilities.  

• Acknowledge our responsibility to collect income effectively.  

Code of Practice 
In order to have an effective Debt Collection Policy our tenants need to be provided with 

clear and prompt information about debts due. To ensure this practice the following will be 

provided:  

• Clear instructions on payment terms  

• Timely and clear responses for any enquiries  

• Easy-to-use and accessible payment options  

• Clearly written correspondence, with information appropriate to the tenant 

Payment Methods  
It is acknowledged that the easier it is to pay, the more likely it is that payment will be 

made. Therefore, we provide a choice of convenient methods of payment and details of 

these options are advised on each bill. Some of the payment methods available are as 

follows:  

147



8 
 

• Direct Debit  

• Online  

· By telephone  

• Cash Kiosk (available in the Eastleigh House Reception during opening hours) 

Payment by Direct Debit is regarded as the most efficient method to collect income and 

reduce arrears administration. This will be of increasing importance where payment of 

housing costs through Universal Credit is made directly to more tenants in the future.  

The Council will: 

• Promote a culture of rent payment responsibility with all tenants  

• Promote Direct Debit as the preferred payment method  

• Provide advice to tenants about the role of the credit union  

Engagement and Information  
Effective communication is essential to ensuring that tenants are made aware of their 

responsibility for rent payment, and the action that the Council will take to recover arrears. 

Methods of communication will need to pay regard to the accessibility of information and 

language, disability and literacy requirements.  All information provided by the Council will 

be transparent and accountable.  

The Council will ensure effective communication by:  

• Producing written material in plain language  

• Provide information in alternative formats e.g. large print  

• Making use of translation or interpretation facilities  

• Recording the communication needs of our tenants  

• Involving social workers, support workers and advocates  

• Provide rent statements on at least a quarterly basis  

Early Intervention  
The foundation for effective income management begins from the first point of contact with 

a new tenant, which usually takes place at the viewing or tenancy sign up. New tenants may 

already have debts, have experienced unemployment, homelessness or face wide ranging 

socio-economic circumstances within their households.  

The Council will ensure that:  

• Arrears control and recovery action will be activated as soon as an account falls into 

arrears.  

• It will do all it can to contact tenants so that there is early intervention with arrears 

cases before a debt becomes unmanageable 

148



9 
 

• Information about the importance of paying rent is profiled at viewings and tenancy 

sign up.  

• It is proactive in offering help to complete benefit applications  

• All new tenants are informed of whom to contact about rent payment, and where to 

get help if they get into debt  

• It arranges post-tenancy visits as necessary  

• Detailed procedures for income management and arrears action ensure that each 

case is regularly monitored and appropriate action is taken.  

• Tenants who go into arrears will be contacted via telephone, text, visit, face-to-face, 

email or letter.  

• The Council will maintain a comprehensive record of all action taken and contact 

with a tenant in arrears. 

• The Council will work proactively with tenants to assist them with complying with 

their tenancy terms and conditions and signposting them for support and advice.  

• The Council complies with the provisions of the Pre-Action Protocol for Rent Arrears. 

• It makes realistic repayment arrangements with tenants importance of rent 

payment, and provides the opportunity to discuss household circumstances, and 

seek to reach a repayment arrangement.  

The Council will ensure that:  

• Direct personal contact is used as the preferred method of contact about rent 

arrears 

• Tenants are kept informed at each stage of the arrears recovery process.  

• It confirms repayment arrangements in writing  

• It makes effective use of new technology to communicate with tenants about rent 

arrears (The Council are investigating new technology which offers other methods of 

contact, including issuing reminder messages by telephone or email.) 

Rent Arrears Recovery Principles  
The overall principle of the Income Management Policy is to minimise the level of rent 

arrears and maximise the Council’s income in a sensitive and  effective manner.  

The specific objectives of the arrears recovery procedure are:  

• To offer early appropriate professional support and guidance to tenants to reduce 

rent arrears and maximise their income;  

• To monitor levels of arrears and have early intervention mechanisms in place which 

prevent rent arrears arising;  

• To take appropriate action in accordance with the level of rent arrears;  

• To actively and rigorously pursue tenants for arrears owing;  

• To sustain tenancies with support from the Council’s internal teams. 

The above objectives will be achieved by implementing the following principles:  

149



10 
 

• All reasonable measures will be taken to prevent arrears from occurring and 

escalating.  

• Work with the Council’s Housing Benefit team to ensure that Housing Benefit 

applications are processed efficiently;  

• To negotiate realistic and affordable arrangements to repay rent arrears where 

appropriate. In developing an arrangement, considering all priority debts and factors 

affecting payment;  

• Ensuring that detailed procedures and agreed practices are applied uniformly across 

the service;  

• Ensuring that communication with tenants is in ‘Plain English’ and providing contact 

references in the case of queries;  

• Consider affordability when allocating a tenancy to minimise the risk of debt for 

tenants;  

• Ensuring that tenants understand how much they need to pay – including additional 

service charges, rents not covered by housing benefit payments and insurance costs;  

Serious/persistent arrears action  
Where the payment of rent and arrears is not made on a regular basis or the agreed 

arrangement is broken, either a Notice of Possession Proceedings for an Introductory 

Tenant or a Notice of Seeking Possession for a Secure or Fixed Term Tenancy in arrears will 

be served. 

Action will be taken in the County Court by way of possession proceedings and seeking a 

money judgement for the outstanding rent. With regard to Homeless tenants residing in 

Temporary Accommodation, a Notice to Quit will be served for persistent failure to pay rent 

charges.  

The Court can make the following decisions:  

• an order for recovery of outright possession  

• an order for Suspended Possession giving a set time to pay the rent arrears after 

which if not paid possession will be granted  

• a money judgement for the amount owed  

Where costs are incurred as a result of taking legal action to recover rent arrears, and where 

this is provided for within the Court Order, the full costs of such actions will be recharged to 

the tenant and added to a sub account of the rent account. Legal charges for action in 

County Court can add significantly to the debt that tenants may have, and Court Orders are 

not discharged until all court costs are paid in full. The Council will not initiate court 

proceedings where a debt is less than the court costs.  

Arrears Recovery Process 
Recovery of all debts under this policy will follow the Debt Recovery Process at Appendix 1.  

150



11 
 

If a tenant is in credit for any other account held by the Council, such as Council Tax, this will 

be transferred to rent account to be used to cover rent arrears and any excess (if applicable) 

will then be refunded.  

When is enforcement action taken?  

Where payment is not made in full or a payment arrangement has not been put in place 

within 30 days, the Council will start the Debt Recovery Process (Appendix 1).  In all cases 

the Council aims to make an agreement for suitable payment to avoid such action.  

Contact points  

Appropriate information is included on all statements and communications to enable those, 

against whom action is taken, to contact the relevant officer. Standard documents are sent 

out displaying the action taken and including telephone contact points for the particular 

section. 

If the tenant feels that the debt is invalid or for the wrong value then this needs to be put in 

writing. 

This need to be sent to Affordable Housing Team at the address below: Eastleigh House 

Upper Market Street Eastleigh Hants SO50 9YN  

Or by email to sundry.debtors@eastleigh.gov.uk 

Documentary evidence  

 In some cases it may be necessary to request documentary evidence to confirm details 

when arriving at a payment arrangement.  

 All information collected is governed by the General Data Protection Regulations and UK 

Data Protection Law. The Council has a procedure and policy in place to comply with the 

Act.  

Maintaining current instalments  

When negotiating arrangements for payment, staff should ensure that current instalments 

are being maintained, i.e. the arrangement will be in addition to and conditional on, the 

current debt being paid. When an arrangement is made on a total balance the minimum 

arrangement will be the current agreed instalment plus a contribution towards the arrears. 

If the arrangement extends beyond 12 months the approval of the relevant Lead Specialist 

must be obtained.  

Evictions 
Evictions will only be considered as a last resort and where all other alternatives for 

recovering amounts owed have failed. Support and advice will be made available to try to 

prevent someone losing their home, or to put the appropriate support in place and signpost 

if eviction is likely to be considered.  

Every effort will be made to help the tenant pay any amounts due and avoid being evicted. 

Where an eviction occurs, the tenant remains responsible for the full amount of rent arrears 

151



12 
 

and all court costs. In the event of there being no current rent arrears and there are debts in 

the sub account, including rechargeable repairs, consideration will be given to the debt 

being recovered in the Small Claims Court. 

Change of Address and Abandonment 

 If correspondence is returned undelivered and marked ‘Gone Away’, or similar, and a 

forwarding address is not already known, efforts will be made to find a new address for the 

tenant.  

Former Tenant Arrears  
Partnership working details needed 

 

Provision of Rent Account Statements 

Tenants in arrears will receive rent statements at quarterly intervals, to comply with the 

requirements of the Pre-action Protocol for Possession Claims. If a tenant specifically 

requests that statements are sent out more frequently, or they wish to receive statements 

by e-mail or another method, then this will be accommodated wherever possible with 

regard to reasonableness, overall demand and costs. Individual one-off statements will also 

be produced on the specific request of the tenant.  

Each rent account statement will show the following information:  

• The name and address of the tenant.  

• The transaction details for each collection week, which will include rent charged, 

Housing Benefit entitlement, rent paid and any adjustments made.  

• The balance at the end of each collection week and total indebtedness.  

Approaches towards Vulnerable Tenants  

A sensitive approach towards rent arrears recovery will be taken in respect of tenants who 

are deemed to be vulnerable including those who are disabled as defined by the Equality 

Act 2010 or who do not have English as a first language and who may require additional 

support to understand what is required to maintain rent payments.  

Council Officers may identify further vulnerabilities and needs which will be addressed by 

working with Support Agencies who can assist. The Council recognise any legitimate 

situation whereby a third party accepts responsibility to help a vulnerable person meet their 

rent payment obligations. The Council will pursue enforcement in cases where support 

needs have been identified but the tenant is not engaging in their support plan. In carrying 

out the Council’s income collection responsibilities it will have regard to safeguarding and 

promoting the welfare of children and vulnerable adults. 

152



13 
 

Equality and Diversity 
Housing Revenue Account Services are delivered to diverse communities  and are therefore 

committed to providing equal opportunities and valuing diversity. Within the delivery of 

housing services, the Council aim to treat all customers fairly, and with respect and 

professionalism regardless of their gender, race, age, disability, religion, sexual orientation 

and marital status.  

Every measure is taken to ensure all people of like circumstances are treated with due 

respect and courtesy, taking account of the Council’s Diversity & Equality Policy, or 

equivalent if amended in the future. There are procedures for arrangements and persons 

requiring extra time to pay. Our customers are all treated in the same manner.  

The approach adopted within this policy focuses on understanding individual circumstances 

in order to provide appropriate advice and support; this includes understanding the needs 

of tenants who have protected characteristics.  

The Council will ensure all our tenants have clear information and equal access to available 

services and will provide information in a range of appropriate languages and formats when 

requested.  

Performance Monitoring  
The targets for rent arrears and leasehold charges are set annually, and performance is kept 

under regular. Rent arrears recovery and charges are performance indicators, which are 

monitored closely and is included in performance reports to the relevant Board.  

The key arrears performance indicators are:  

• Percentage of income collected (target= increase) 

• Arrears as a percentage of the rent roll (target= decreasing trend 

• Current rent collection  

• Trend against previous year (will be in future years) 

• Case work by arrears value banding  

• NOSPS (Notice of Seeking Possession) 

• Possession Orders 

• Evictions  

• Case studies of effective rent arrears resolution  

• Percentage of arrears cases in arrears of 7 weeks or more without a NOSP or 

arrangement  

• No of cases on Sensitivity  

• Percentage of service charge collected 

• Percentage of rechargeables collected 

• Percentage of tenants paying by Direct Debit  

The Council will:  

• Seek to attain upper quartile performance of other Registered providers in the area 

153



14 
 

• Set and monitor our performance against targets  

• Report performance to senior management and the relevant Board  

• Review performance on an ongoing basis  

• Benchmark our performance 

Data Protection 
The Council are committed to protecting and respecting the privacy of personal data.  As a 

registered Data Controller (Reg. no. Z7118863) it complies with the General Data Protection 

Regulations 2018 (GDPR). 

More information on how the Council collects, uses and keeps your personal information, 
and how it protects privacy can be found in our Record of Processing Activity (ROPA). 
 
The corporate privacy notice provides general information about the council’s personal data 
processing activities overall. As the range of services the council provides is so varied, it has 
also produced individual privacy notices for each service area, to explain specifically how 
data will be used within each service.  

Monitoring and Review  
This policy will remain a working document and will be reviewed as and when new 
legislation or guidance is published or is deemed necessary. 
 
It is important that  service performance is monitored so that the impact and effectiveness 
of prescribed policies is assessed and to ensure that those policies are assisting the Council 
in meeting its aims and objectives in each respective service area. This Income Management 
Policy will be reviewed regularly alongside other policies and the service plans, providing a 
basis for measuring implementation and improving those policies.  

Document History and Approval 
Identity and Version Control 
This document is the final approved version and will be a controlled document with an 

individual assigned to version review/amendment. 

154

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/5070/current-gdpr-ropa-for-website-v2.xlsx
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy/privacy-notices-for-service-areas


 

 

 

Tenancy Policy 

Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

1. Aims of Policy ...................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Scope of Policy .................................................................................................................................... 4 

3. Policy Statement ................................................................................................................................. 4 

4. Legislative Requirements .................................................................................................................... 4 

5. Policy Details ....................................................................................................................................... 4 

Tenancy Options ................................................................................................................................. 5 

5.1 Introductory Tenancies ............................................................................................................. 5 

5.2 Five Year Flexible Tenancy ........................................................................................................ 6 

5.3 Secure Tenancy ......................................................................................................................... 7 

6. Shared Ownership ............................................................................................................................... 7 

7.Victims of Domestic Abuse .................................................................................................................. 8 

8. Minors and tenancies .......................................................................................................................... 8 

9. Tenancy agreements, responsibilities and sign up ............................................................................. 8 

10. Tenancy reviews and visits ................................................................................................................ 9 

11. Managing tenancies .......................................................................................................................... 9 

12. Assignment ........................................................................................................................................ 9 

13.Tenancy changes .............................................................................................................................. 10 

Sole to joint ....................................................................................................................................... 10 

Joint to sole ....................................................................................................................................... 10 

14. Ending a tenancy ............................................................................................................................. 10 

Tenancies with no security ............................................................................................................... 10 

Court order........................................................................................................................................ 10 

15. Right to review council decisions .................................................................................................... 10 

Review of Decision to Offer to grant a Flexible Tenancy/Periodic ................................................... 10 

16. Review of a Decision to Seek Possession ........................................................................................ 11 

Exceptional cases .............................................................................................................................. 11 

17. Right of succession .......................................................................................................................... 11 

19. Right to Buy, Right to Acquire and Rent to Buy .............................................................................. 12 

20. Tenant mobility / mutual exchanges .............................................................................................. 12 

21. Housing Fraud ................................................................................................................................. 13 

155



 

 

22. Support for Tenants to Maintain a Tenancy ................................................................................... 13 

23. Related Policies and Procedures ..................................................................................................... 13 

24. Data Protection ............................................................................................................................... 14 

25. Equality & Diversity ......................................................................................................................... 14 

26. Monitoring and Review ................................................................................................................... 14 

27. Document History and Approval ..................................................................................................... 14 

Appendix ............................................................................................................................................... 15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Title] 
Version 1 Approved by Cabinet  

Date last 
amended 

Click here to enter a date. 
Approval date 

Click here to enter a date. 

Lead officer Click here to enter text. Review date Click here to enter a date. 
Contact Click here to enter text. Effective date Click here to enter a date. 

156



 

 

 

 

Introduction 
The Localism Act 2011 introduced Tenancy Strategies as part of a wider package of social 

housing reforms. Under the Act, Local Authorities with a strategic housing role are required 

to have a Tenancy Strategy setting out the issues which registered providers operating in 

their area must have regard to when deciding what types of tenancies to offer, details of 

any fixed-term tenancy, and the circumstances in which they will grant a new tenancy when 

a fixed term tenancy comes to an end.  This policy considers the Tenancy Strategy 2022 – 

2027 (which can be found at…….)  which states the council's vision in relation to tenancies 

for all social housing in the borough.  

1. Aims of Policy  
This policy sets Eastleigh Borough Council’s Affordable Housing Service’s (the Council) 
approach to granting and managing tenancies within its own housing stock. It explains the 
approach to tenancy management, tenancy support and the types of tenancy we will offer 
in accordance with our regulatory responsibilities and those of an affordable housing 
provider. This covers our affordable housing stock tenures. 
 
This policy aims to:  

1. Provide clarity on the circumstances in which Housing Solutions will grant each type 
of tenancy.  

2. Offer tenancies which make the most efficient use of our housing stock and which 
are compatible with the purpose of the accommodation.  

3. Balance needs of our customers with best use of our housing stock.  
4. Contribute to the Councils strategic housing function  
5. Comply with the social housing regulators Tenancy Standard by setting out:  

• The length of terms for fixed term tenancies  

• Any circumstance in which we would grant a tenancy of less than 5 years 
in general needs housing following any probationary period.  

• The circumstances in which we may or may not grant another fixed term 
tenancy in the same of another property.  

• How we will take account of the needs of vulnerable households  

• How the customer and prospective customer can appeal against the type 
of tenancy offered, the length of the fixed term offered and/or the 
decision not to grant another tenancy on the expiry of the fixed term.  

• The advice and assistance will be offered to find suitable alternative 
accommodation if the fixed term tenancy is not renewed. 

Commented [ES1]: Reward good conscientious tenants - 
maintenance of tenancy etc -  Irwell valley  

157



 

 

2. Scope of Policy 
• To grant tenancies which are compatible with the purpose of the accommodation, 

the needs of the household and the sustainability of the community. 

• To maximise use of housing stock and to ensure compliance with the requirements 
set out in the Regulatory Framework for Social Housing in England.  

 
All staff within the Affordable Housing Service will receive training on this policy. 

3. Policy Statement 
The Council will support other agencies in meeting local housing strategies and will be 
responsive to the needs and expectations of our customers.  
 
Sometimes the Council may use its discretion and act outside of this policy. If it does, it will 
be within the spirit of the policy and only with senior management approval. 

4. Legislative Requirements 

This policy has been developed considering the following legislation and regulation which is 
applicable to the types of tenancy we grant:  

• Housing Acts 1980, 1985, 1988, 1996 & 2004  

• Human Rights Act 1998  

• Localism Act 2011  

• Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003  

• Equality Act 2010 & 2012  

• Landlord & Tenant Act 1985  

• Local Government Act 1972, 1988, 2000, 2003 

• Local Government & Housing Act 1989  

• Regulatory Framework for Social Housing in England April 2012  

• Immigration Act 2014  

• Housing and Planning Act 2016  

• Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (eligibility) (England) Regulations 2006 (as 
amended)  

• Regulations made by the Secretary of State sets out persons who may be eligible 
despite being a person from abroad subject to immigration control  

• The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017  

• The Homes (Fitness for Human Habitation) Act 2018  

• Housing & Regeneration Act 2008  

• Secure Tenancies (Victims of Domestic Abuse) Act 2018 

Links to policy  

5. Policy Details 
The Council treats all our new and existing customers fairly and protects existing customers 
and the interests of the organisation by using the following principles: 
 

158



 

 

Tenancy Options 
The Council will offer new Council tenancies on the following basis:  
 

5.1 Introductory Tenancies  
All new tenants of the Council (if they are not transferring from another council or an 
assured (housing association) tenancy will be signed up on an introductory tenancy for the 
first 12 months. This is so that the Council can support them during their first year to ensure 
that they can successfully convert to a secure tenancy. The introductory tenancy will be 
reviewed during the 12-month term to confirm whether the tenant can become a secure 
tenant, extending their rights within the tenancy agreement. Most tenants will be granted 
secure tenancies at the end of their introductory term.  
 
An introductory tenancy has;  

1. No Right to Buy (although the introductory tenancy year will count towards any 
future ownership options)  

2. No right to a mutual exchange  
3. No right to assign the tenancy, except by a court order in family proceedings  
4. No right to sublet any part of the home or take in lodgers  
5. Does not qualify for Council tenant schemes, such as decorations and the 

Transfer Incentive Scheme. 
 
Where a tenancy is not managed properly during the introductory period the council may 
seek to end it during that term or to extend the period of the introductory tenancy. An 
introductory tenancy can be extended for a further period of 6 months. The reasons for 
extending may include:  

1. Low levels of rent arrears or irregular payments  
2. Breaches of tenancy that have not merited possession action  
3. Indications that the tenant is having difficulty managing the tenancy, even with 

support.  
 
The Council can ask the court to end the introductory tenancy if the tenant breaks any of 
the terms of the tenancy agreement. The reasons for terminating a tenancy may include:  

1. High levels of rent arrears  
2. Anti-social behaviour of a level to warrant serving of a legal notice  
3. Other significant breaches of tenancy conditions  
4. Indications that the tenant is unable to manage the tenancy, even with support.  

 
When granting introductory tenancies to new tenants the Council will notify the prospective 
tenant that on expiry of the trial period, their introductory tenancy will become a flexible 
tenancy. 
 
Introductory tenants can appeal against: 

1. An extension of the introductory tenancy from 12 months to 18 months,  
2. Appeal against their introductory tenancy being terminated  

 

5.1.1 a - After the successful completion of the introductory period the tenant 
will be granted a flexible tenancy.  

159

https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/legal/renting/other_public_sector_tenancies/introductory_tenancies


 

 

 
Full details of the Council’s approach to introductory tenancies are contained within the 
Council’s “Tenancy Management Policy & Procedure Guide”  
 

5.2 Five Year Flexible Tenancy  
A flexible tenancy is a type of secure council tenancy. It only lasts for a fixed period of time. 
The council can decide not to offer you another tenancy at the end of the fixed term. You 
have the same rights and responsibilities as other secure tenants during the fixed term. 
As a secure tenant, you can normally live in the property for the rest of your life, if you do 
not break the conditions of the tenancy. 
You can: 

1. rent out rooms - but you cannot sub-let the whole property 

2. buy your property through the Right to Buy scheme 

3. swap your home with another council or housing association tenant - with your 
council’s permission 

4. transfer your tenancy to someone else in some circumstances 
https://www.gov.uk/council-housing/types-of-tenancy 

5. make improvements to your home - you’ll need permission from your council for 
some types of work 

 

A 5-year flexible tenancy, subject to 5.1.1(a) above, will be offered to the following groups:  
1. Applicants (not covered by ‘secure tenancies’ below) that are taking up the tenancy of 
a property  

2. All categories of applicants who are being re-housed in adapted properties for 
disabled tenants (applies to extensive adaptations).  

3. All categories of applicants who are being re-housed in a property where it is planned 
to undertake significant disability adaptations to cater for a person with disability within 
the household (applies to extensive adaptations).  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disabled-facilities-grant-dfg-delivery-
guidance-for-local-authorities-in-england/disabled-facilities-grant-dfg-delivery-guidance-for-
local-authorities-in-england 

 

Before the end of the 5 years the tenancy will be reviewed as set out below and a further 5-
year periodic secure tenancy may be offered in accordance paragraph 5.1.3 below. 

The regulatory framework (link) requires local authorities to serve a notice of intention 
before the end of the fixed term stating that they will either grant another tenancy or 
propose to bring it to an end. A flexible tenancy will be replaced by a periodic secure 
tenancy. 

5.2.1 Replacement of a Flexible Tenancy to a Periodic Secure Tenancy 

 The flexible tenancy will be replaced by a periodic secure tenancy, for a further 5 years 
unless: -  

1. The property is under occupied by one bedroom or more as determined by the 
Housing Allocation Scheme  

2. The property is overcrowded as determined by the Housing Allocations Policy  

160

https://www.gov.uk/right-to-buy-buying-your-council-home
https://www.gov.uk/apply-swap-homes-council
https://www.gov.uk/council-housing/types-of-tenancy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disabled-facilities-grant-dfg-delivery-guidance-for-local-authorities-in-england/disabled-facilities-grant-dfg-delivery-guidance-for-local-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disabled-facilities-grant-dfg-delivery-guidance-for-local-authorities-in-england/disabled-facilities-grant-dfg-delivery-guidance-for-local-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/disabled-facilities-grant-dfg-delivery-guidance-for-local-authorities-in-england/disabled-facilities-grant-dfg-delivery-guidance-for-local-authorities-in-england


 

 

3. The property is an adapted property allocated to (or adapted for) someone with a 
disability who no longer lives in the property  

4. The tenant is in breach of a current order for possession for arrears of rent, anti-
social behaviour and other tenancy breaches.  

 

When deciding whether to issue a periodic secure tenancy the Council will have regard to its 
tenancy policy, any reasons not to renew the tenancy and the tenant’s circumstances.  
 
The Council will write to the tenant(s) 7-12 months before the flexible tenancy is due to 
expire and arrange a tenancy review interview; assuming the tenant(s) wish to renew their 
tenancy. At the tenancy review interview the tenant will discuss their current housing 
situation with the relevant Council officers.  
 
The Council will issue a renewal decision notice to the tenant on whether they will replace 
the tenancy at least six months before the end of the flexible tenancy. If the tenancy is not 
being renewed the renewal decision notice will outline the reason(s) why the flexible 
tenancy is not being renewed.  
If the decision is to renew the Council will issue a periodic secure tenancy for the same 
period as previously granted. 

5.3 Secure Tenancy  
Secure tenancies, subject to above, will be offered to those that have met one of the 
following criteria:  

1. Applicants who are moving into designated sheltered accommodation,  
2. Applicants who are moving into properties specifically designated for the elderly 

 
Where, immediately before the tenancy began, the applicant was:  

1. A secure tenant, except for disability adapted property (see Disabled Adaptations 
Policy) or  

2. An assured tenant in Eastleigh Borough where the landlord is a registered social 
landlord except for disability adapted property (see Disabled Adaptations Pol 
 

Waiting List Applicants who have been forced by circumstances to relinquish a secure or 
assured tenancy for exceptional housing management reasons as long as the relinquishment 
was with prior agreement from the landlord Housing Association or the Council.  

6. Shared Ownership  
The Council offer shared ownership on new properties built by the council to provide a 
broader housing offer to local people and to have a more diverse housing portfolio.  

• The council will consider the number of homes to be made available as Shared 
Ownership properties on a scheme-by-scheme basis. 

• The terms of the shared ownership will be set out in the lease agreement and 
schemes will be delivered in line with relevant legislation and guidance.  

• The use and numbers of Shared Ownership properties will be made in alignment 
with the council’s Local Plan. 

161



 

 

7.Victims of Domestic Abuse  
The council will operate in line with current legislation in relation to accommodating victims 
of domestic abuse and ensure that, when re-housing an existing lifetime tenant who needs 
to move or has recently moved from their social home to escape domestic abuse, a lifetime 
tenancy is to be granted for their new home. This will ensure that the victims will not fear 
losing security of tenure and will provide their families stability and security in their new 
home. 

8. Minors and tenancies  
A person under the age of 18 cannot hold a legal tenancy. Although a minor cannot hold a 
tenancy they can 'benefit' from a tenancy. The tenancy can be granted to a third party, a 
'trustee', and held on trust for the minor until they reach the age of 18. 

The minor has a beneficial interest, which means they have the right to live in the property. 
The Council may grant an equitable tenancy, which is an agreement to grant a tenancy 
when they reach 18. Until this time the trustee holds the legal title to the tenancy. 

The trustee could be an adult relative or friend or a social worker and is in effect a caretaker 
of the tenancy. The trustee is responsible for ensuring the rent is paid but is not liable to pay 
the rent out of their own resources unless they give a personal guarantee to do so. 

https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/legal/housing_options/young_peopl
e_and_care_leavers_housing_rights/tenancies_for_children_and_young_people 

At the age of 18 an introductory tenancy will be offered (provided no previous breaches 
have been made), and any further tenancies granted in accordance with the Tenancy Policy.  

9. Tenancy agreements, responsibilities and sign up  
The Council will ensure that all tenants are fully informed about their tenancy rights and 
obligations at the pre-tenancy sign up stage and beyond.  
The sign-up process will generally be a 2 stage process;  

• firstly a pre-tenancy appointment with Housing Officers where a financial 
assessment and other tenancy checks will be made, and  

• secondly the sign-up appointment involving the formal paperwork signing and other 
associated processes involved in granting the tenancy.  

The Council will ensure that tenants fully understand their rights and responsibilities and the 
conditions of the tenancy agreement. The Council will also discuss what the tenant can 
expect from the Council, what support the Council can provide and also opportunities for 
involvement in shaping the Housing service.  
 
Any tenant who is refused a tenancy will be provided with the reasons why and will be given 
appropriate advice on what they can do to improve their chance of being housed by the 
Council in the future.  
 
The Council requires rent in advance from the tenant at the sign up and will request up to a 
months rent in advance based on the tenants financial situation.  

162

https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/legal/housing_options/young_people_and_care_leavers_housing_rights/tenancies_for_children_and_young_people
https://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/legal/housing_options/young_people_and_care_leavers_housing_rights/tenancies_for_children_and_young_people


 

 

10. Tenancy reviews and visits  
The Council visits all tenants within the first month of their tenancy. This is to check how the 
tenant is settling in and is a chance for both the tenant and the Council to raise any issues of 
concern. All introductory tenancies will be reviewed at their ninth month to assess whether 
the tenancy can convert to a secure flexible one on the first anniversary of the tenancy 
commencement. Where issues are identified, further reviews will be completed to ensure 
all appropriate action has been taken. Where an introductory tenancy is extended to 18 
months, further reviews will take place during the extension period to ensure that it is 
appropriate for the tenancy to become secure or take action to end the tenancy. More 
information about possession action for introductory tenancies and appeal rights is available 
in the Tenants Handbook and the Introductory Tenancy Procedure.  
 
After that, the Council will visit tenants as and when required.  
Tenancy visits allow the Council to:  

• Make sure the tenant is living in the property  

• Update records if there have been any changes in the household  

• Make sure the property, including any garden areas, are being maintained and 
looked after 

• Identify any repairs  

• Identify any other needs that the tenant may have which the Council can help with 
Tenancy visits allow the tenant to:  

• Report repairs  

• Raise any issues of concern  

• Update the Council’s records  

• Ask any questions they may have about their home or their tenancy   

11. Managing tenancies  
The Council will ensure that tenants are aware of their rights and obligations when they sign 
up for their tenancy. These terms are set out in the tenancy agreement. Housing Services 
have several tenancy management policies and procedures documenting its approach to 
tenancy issues and the management of the housing stock. Some of the key documents are 
outlined below and further details can be found in the Tenancy Agreement and Tenants 
Handbook. 

12. Assignment  
Assignment is the process whereby a tenancy can be passed on to another person whilst the 
tenant is still alive. The Housing Act 1985 sets out the law in relation to assignment and this 
section provides a summary of the relevant parts.  
 

• A sole tenant can pass their tenancy on a person who would be entitled to succeed if 
they have not previously succeeded to or been assigned the tenancy themselves. It 
can only be achieved through a legal document called a Deed of Assignment unless 
the assignment is by way of a court order.  

163



 

 

• The tenant will require the Council’s permission to assign the tenancy. The Council 
recommends tenants seek independent legal advice before assigning their tenancy 
to another person. 

13.Tenancy changes 
Sole to joint  

There is no right to ‘add’ a tenant to an existing tenancy. The sole tenancy would have to be 
terminated and a new joint tenancy granted. This is not something the Council will normally 

facilitate. Where the tenant wishes to add their spouse or civil partner, this person should 
already be afforded rights to the tenancy under the law of succession and assignment as set 
out in the Housing Act 1985 together with other statutes such as the Family Law Act 1996 
and the Civil Partnership Act 2004 and this will be explained to the tenant.  
 

Joint to sole  
Where a joint tenant wishes to remove themselves or the other joint tenant from the 
tenancy there are circumstances when we can facilitate this by ending the joint tenancy and 
creating a new sole tenancy. In the first instance, the tenant/s will be required to explore 
other legal remedies available to them, such as a Property Transfer Order or an Occupation 
Order. Where these legal remedies are not available or an option, the Council will confirm 
whether it can grant a new sole tenancy at the property considering all relevant 
circumstances. If the Council decides to decline the request to create a new sole tenancy at 
the property, the tenant/s will be advised of the reasons in writing and how and where to 
obtain advice regarding the other options available.  

14. Ending a tenancy 
 

• Tenants must give four weeks’ written notice to end their tenancy, unless they are 
transferring to another property owned by the Council in which case two weeks’ 
written notice is required.  

• A joint tenancy will end if one or both tenants give notice.  

• When a tenant dies, we expect their next of kin or executor to give four weeks’ 
notice to end the tenancy.  

 

Tenancies with no security  
The Council may bring a tenancy to an end if the tenant has lost their security of tenure, for 
example they no longer occupy the property as their only or principle home, by serving a 
Notice to Quit. The Council will then take proceedings through the courts to end the 
tenancy where needed.  

Court order  
All tenancies issued by the Council can be ended by a court order. This requires the Council 
to serve the correct notice advising the tenant that possession proceedings are to be taken. 
The discretion of the court to grant possession differs depending on the type of tenancy. 

15. Right to review council decisions  
Review of Decision to Offer to grant a Flexible Tenancy/Periodic Secure Tenancy.  

164



 

 

A person to whom an offer to grant a flexible tenancy/ Periodic Secure Tenancy is made may 
request a review in writing in accordance with S107B of the Localism Act 2011 about the 
length of the term of the tenancy offered (and type) if that differs from the Council’s 
tenancy policy.  The request for a review must be in writing and received by the Council 
within 21 days of the offer. The appeal will be considered by a Principal Officer or an officer 
at an equivalent level of the Council and the decision will be notified within 15 days of 
receipt.  
 
If, in exceptional cases the Council is prepared to consider a review after a longer period of 
time agreement will be confirmed in writing. 

16. Review of a Decision to Seek Possession 
In accordance with the Localism Act 2011 Section 107E a tenant may request a review of a 
decision to seek possession and not to grant another flexible tenancy. This request must be 
received within 21 days of the date that the renewal decision notice is served on the tenant 
notifying them of the intention not to grant another flexible tenancy.  

 

Exceptional cases  
If, in exceptional cases the Council is prepared to consider a review after a longer period of 

time agreement will be confirmed in writing.  

• The review will be undertaken by a Principal Officer at the Council. The exception to 
this would be where he/she has had previous involvement in the case in which case 
it would be dealt with by another senior officer within the Council.  

• When undertaking the review the Council will consider the tenancy policy and the 
tenant’s circumstances. It will also follow the Governments procedural 
requirements. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/understanding-the-possession-
action-process-guidance-for-landlords-and-tenants/understanding-the-possession-
action-process-a-guide-for-social-rented-tenants-in-england-and-wales 

• The review will be concluded before the tenant is issued with a notice requesting 
vacant possession of the property.  

• On completion of the review the tenant will be sent a letter confirming the outcome, 
and if the decision is to confirm the original decision the reasons for the decision.  

• Where the Council has decided not to renew the tenancy, the Council will also issue 
a notice to the tenant(s) giving at least two months’ notice stating that the Council 
requires possession. This notice must be issued on or before the flexible tenancy is 
due to expire.  

• Where tenancies are not renewed the Council will provide advice and support on 
their future housing options either directly or indirectly; this may be by offering 
alternative accommodation or assistance to secure accommodation in the private 
sector.  

17. Right of succession  
All new secure and flexible tenancies will have a right to one succession, limited to a spouse, 
or civil partner as defined in Section 87 of the Housing Act 1985, who at the time of the 

165

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/understanding-the-possession-action-process-guidance-for-landlords-and-tenants/understanding-the-possession-action-process-a-guide-for-social-rented-tenants-in-england-and-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/understanding-the-possession-action-process-guidance-for-landlords-and-tenants/understanding-the-possession-action-process-a-guide-for-social-rented-tenants-in-england-and-wales
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/understanding-the-possession-action-process-guidance-for-landlords-and-tenants/understanding-the-possession-action-process-a-guide-for-social-rented-tenants-in-england-and-wales


 

 

tenant’s death was occupying the dwelling as their only or principal home and this will not 
entail the creation of a new tenancy. 
 

• Other members of the family, including but not limited to; children, parents, other 
relatives and carers of the (deceased) tenant, whether resident at the property or 
not, are excluded from succeeding to the tenancy.  

• If the deceased tenant was already a successor then no further succession rights will 
apply.  

• Successions to a flexible tenancy will only be for the remainder of the life of that 
tenancy, and subject to a full review when the end of the tenancy is due.  

• Those previously eligible to have succeeded to a secure tenancy, but are no longer 
eligible, will be assessed for re-housing under the Allocations Scheme.  

• Those previously eligible to have succeeded but are within a flexible tenancy will be 
assessed for re-housing under the Allocations Policy.  

 

18. Exceptional Circumstances 
The Council work with other partners when we let our homes and they may request that 
different types of tenancy are issued to reflect the needs of the individual. This will be 
agreed in conjunction with the local authority and the Lettings Manager or Head of Service. 
 

• The Council will comply with any instructions from the county court following legal 
action. An example may include demoting tenancies or assigning joint tenancies.  

• Joint tenancies are usually only issued to different or same sex partners who are in a 
relationship. Occasionally we will be asked to consider issuing a joint tenancy to 
siblings or cross generations – e.g. mother and daughter. This will be considered on a 
case-by-case basis, taking the individual circumstances into account.  

• The Council reserve the right to issue tenancies outside the principles and guidance 
of this policy where there are grounds to do so. This can only be approved by the 
Lettings Manager or Head of Service. 

19. Right to Buy, Right to Acquire and Rent to Buy  

• Existing customers who previously held a tenancy with another local authority may 
have retained the right to buy their homes. Customers who have this retained right 
can apply to buy their home subject to meeting the necessary criteria.  

• Some existing customers may have the right to purchase their home under the right 
to acquire scheme subject to the criteria detailed in appendix 1. 

• Some homes are let under the Rent to Buy scheme which allows the tenant to rent 
the property by offering a fixed term tenancy at an intermediate market rent for 5 
years, enabling them to save the other 20% for a deposit which they can use to 
purchase that property via the shared ownership route.  

20. Tenant mobility / mutual exchanges 
Mutual exchanges will be supported by the council where appropriate unless there are 
reasonable grounds to refuse the exchange and/or statutory grounds for refusal as set out 
in the Housing and Planning Act 1985 (Schedule 3). 

166



 

 

  

• Existing secure (and assured) tenants will be able to retain a similar level of security 
even on exchanging their property with a social/affordable tenant with a less secure 
tenancy, such as a flexible tenancy.  

• Flexible tenants retain the right to mutual exchange for the duration of that flexible 
tenancy. They will not have the right to attain a secure tenancy through the mutual 
exchange process. 

  
Agreement by the Council to all mutual exchanges will be dependent on the Housing Act 
1985 and the Council’s mutual exchange policy at the time of application.  

21. Housing Fraud 
Eastleigh Borough Council recognises that social housing is a valuable public resource and as 
such will take decisive action to deal with instances of tenancy fraud and anti-social 
behaviour. Tenancy fraud covers any situation where the person or people living in a council 
property is not the person who is entitled to be there.  
This includes:  
• Giving false information on an application for housing  
• Subletting the property to another person  
• Not using the property as their only or principle home  
• Claiming succession when there is no entitlement 

22. Support for Tenants to Maintain a Tenancy  
The Council will continue to offer support to tenants where appropriate in order to help 
sustain their tenancy. The Council recognises its role in supporting vulnerable households to 
sustain their tenancy and will always seek to balance the interests of individual residents 
with the needs of the wider neighbourhood, community and Housing Revenue Account. 
Support for tenants in maintaining a tenancy are contained within;  

1. Anti-Social Behaviour policy 
2. Income Management Policy & Procedures 
3. Tenancy Support Service  

 
The Council will also manage tenants and their requests for tenancy changes, mutual 
exchanges, and the Right to Buy with the aim of managing any impact of changes on the 
local community.  
 
The Council may look to develop a ‘reward scheme’ for well managed tenancies, following 
consultation with tenants. 

23. Related Policies and Procedures  
This policy must be read in conjunction with:  

• Rent Setting Policy 

• Disabled Adaptations Policy  

• Lettings Policy  

• Lettings Procedure  

167



 

 

• Income Management Policy  

• Housing Management Policy  

• Equalities & Diversity Policy  

• Complaints Policy  

• Anti-social Behaviour Policy  

• Data Protection policy  

• Rent to Buy/Acquire policy  

24. Data Protection 
The Council are committed to protecting and respecting the privacy of personal data.  As a 
registered Data Controller (Reg. no. Z7118863) it complies with the General Data Protection 
Regulations 2018 (GDPR). 

More information on how the Council collects, uses and keeps your personal information, 
and how it protects privacy can be found in our Record of Processing Activity (ROPA). 
The corporate privacy notice provides general information about the council’s personal data 
processing activities overall. As the range of services the council provides is so varied, it has 
also produced individual privacy notices for each service area, to explain specifically how 
data will be used within each service.  

25. Equality & Diversity  
25.1 Equality and diversity are of fundamental importance to services provided regardless of 
a person’s protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, religion pregnancy and maternity, race, belief, 
or sex). All must be treated with respect. The Council treats everyone it houses, serves, and 
employs, fairly, and encourages others to do the same.  

 
25.2 The Council provides information that is clear, accessible, and in an appropriate format 
(such as translated into another language, or in large print on request). Where appropriate, 
Council Officers will assist residents, by, for example, helping to complete paperwork. These 
policies ensure residents are treated in a fair and efficient manner. 

26. Monitoring and Review  
26.1 This policy will be reviewed regularly, to incorporate legislative and regulatory 

amendments and changes, best practice developments, or to address any operational issues 

with the procedure.  Input and approval will be sought from our residents (via the Residents 

Committee or similar) prior to making any substantive changes. This is in line with our 

Corporate Values and is intended to ensure our policy continues to meet the needs and 

aspirations of our residents. 

27. Document History and Approval 

• Identity and Version Control 

168

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/5070/current-gdpr-ropa-for-website-v2.xlsx
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy/privacy-notices-for-service-areas


 

 

• This document is the final approved version and will be a controlled document with 

an individual assigned to version review/amendment. 

Appendix 
Definitions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

169



This page is intentionally left blank



Affordable Housing Management Policy 

Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................... 2 

What service do I need? ......................................................................................................... 2 

Definitions .................................................................................................................................. 3 

➢ Assignment .................................................................................................................. 3 

➢ Name changes ............................................................................................................. 3 

➢ Tenancy changes: Joint to sole/sole to joint ............................................................... 4 

➢ Succession ................................................................................................................... 4 

➢ Tenancy Fraud ............................................................................................................. 5 

➢ Lodgers and sub-letting ............................................................................................... 6 

➢ Routine tenancy visits ................................................................................................. 7 

➢ Estate Management .................................................................................................... 7 

➢ Mobility Scooters ........................................................................................................ 9 

➢ Pets ............................................................................................................................ 10 

➢ Hoarding .................................................................................................................... 10 

➢ Parking and Abandoned Cars .................................................................................... 11 

➢ Pests .......................................................................................................................... 11 

Scope of policy ......................................................................................................................... 12 

Aims of Policy ........................................................................................................................... 12 

The housing need of the Borough ........................................................................................... 13 

Affordable Homes .................................................................................................................... 13 

Well managed homes .............................................................................................................. 13 

Deliver efficient & effective void management ................................................................... 14 

Improve lives ............................................................................................................................ 14 

Provide a broad support service .......................................................................................... 14 

Legislative Requirements ......................................................................................................... 15 

Linked Affordable Housing Policies .......................................................................................... 15 

Data Protection ........................................................................................................................ 16 

Equality & Diversity .................................................................................................................. 16 

Monitoring and Review ............................................................................................................ 17 

Document History and Approval ............................................................................................. 17 

171



 

 

Introduction 
The Regulators, the Regulator of Social Housing (RSH), require local authorities to publish 

clear and accessible policies which outline our approach to tenancy and housing 

management. 

The Council has a high number of waiting applicants in need of an affordable home. The 

Localism Act 2012 and the Housing & Planning Act 2016 has seen a shift from social housing 

being a home for life to a home for as long as tenants need it. Fixed Term tenancies are now 

compulsory for local authorities to make best use of the Council stock, increase tenant 

mobility and free up properties for those in need.  

 

What service do I need? 
 

The management of the Council’s houses is the responsibility of the Affordable Housing 
Service, not the Councils Housing team.  This is intended to include the letting of its 
properties, maintenance of its properties, sustainability of tenancies and taking appropriate 
action where a tenant has breached their tenancy conditions.  

This policy area is intended to exclude the physical maintenance of the Council’s housing 
stock as this is covered specifically by our Asset Management Strategy and Repairs and 
Maintenance Policy.   

The Council aims to make sure there is a strong focus on service delivery and planning for 
future provision. This is to ensure that services achieve an appropriate balance between 
quality and cost. In addition, the Council aims to ensure that its services encourage 
integrated positive communities and sustainable areas where people wish to live.  

Services Offered by the Affordable Housing Services within the Council, our Housing 
Management Section is involved in the delivery of housing advice relating to the wider area 
of lettings, tenancy sustainment and dealing with tenancy breaches. The Housing Team 
within the Council are responsible for the management of the housing register through 
Hampshire Home Choice and other Housing and Homelessness duties.  

[Title] 

Version 1 Approved by Cabinet  

Date last 
amended 

Click here to enter a date. 
Approval date 

Click here to enter a date. 

Lead officer Click here to enter text. Review date Click here to enter a date. 
Contact Click here to enter text. Effective date Click here to enter a date. 

172



 

Definitions 
 Link to process documents - mention 

Given the broad role of the Affordable Housing Service, this policy has a wide remit and                               

considers the Councils Affordable Housing Services other housing policies. The duties that 

are considered as housing management services include (but not limited to): 

➢ Assignment - Assignment is a concept in housing law that allows the transfer of a 
tenancy from one person to another 

 

Scope  This covers assignments of tenancy for our customers. This does not 
include assignments through Mutual Exchange, Tenancy Swap or when 
customers apply to add or remove a person from their tenancy. 
These assignments are detailed in the Tenancy Policy. 

Aims  1. Support customers who want to assign their tenancies based on the 
rights set out in their tenancy agreements  

2. Make relevant checks to reduce tenancy fraud  
3. Make customers fully aware of the consequences of assignment so 

that they can make an informed decision  
4. Maintain accurate records of applications and assignments 
5. Refuse assignments in accordance with the tenancy agreement when 

there are breaches 

Legislation  This is linked to the following regulation and legislation: Housing Act 
1985, Housing Act 1988, Localism Act 2011  

Controls The Council will: 

• Meet applicants to ensure that they understand the consequences of 
assignment. 

• Check the identification of assigners and assignees to prevent 
tenancy fraud.  

• Involve other relevant agencies where there are concerns over abuse 
or coercion of vulnerable customers, in accordance with the Council’s 
Safeguarding Policy. 

 
➢ Name changes - The legal act by a person of adopting a new name different from 

their current name. You will need to complete a change of name application form 
and provide relevant documentation such as a deed poll certificate or marriage or 
civil partnership certificate. 

 

Scope  This covers name changes due to change by deed poll, marriage, civil 
partnerships, and divorce. 

Aims  The Council will:  
1. Support customers who want to change their name on their tenancy  
2. Not class a name change as a change in tenancy and will not alter the 

tenancy in any way  

173



3. Make relevant checks to reduce tenancy fraud  
4. Maintain accurate records of applications and name changes  
5. Inform the courts of changes of names during court proceedings as 

necessary 

Legislation  This is linked to the following regulation and legislation: Enrolment of 
Deeds (Change of Name) Regulations 1994 Civil Partnerships Act 2004 

Controls The Council will:  
Check the relevant supporting documentation such as marriage certificate 
or Deed Poll document, in accordance with our Name Changes Procedure. 
 

 
➢ Tenancy changes: Joint to sole/sole to joint - If both tenants agree, joint tenants can 

assign the tenancy to the sole name of either one of the parties of the original joint 
tenancy. The tenancy will only be changed where the rent account is clear, and no 
legal action is pending. 
 

Scope  This is where a sole tenant assigns part of their tenancy to another 
person, making them joint tenants, or when a joint tenant assigns their 
part of the tenancy to the other tenant, making them a sole tenancy. (This 
does not include succession which is dealt within the section below) 

Aims  The Council will:  
1. Support customers who want to change their tenancy based on 

the rights set out in their tenancy agreements  
2. Make relevant checks to reduce tenancy fraud.  
3. Make customers fully aware of the consequences of changing their 

tenancy so that they can make an informed decision.  
4. Maintain accurate records of applications and tenancy changes  
5. Refuse tenancy changes when there are breaches of tenancy. 

Legislation  This is linked to the following regulation and legislation: Housing Act 1985, 
Housing Act 1988, Localism Act 2011. 

Controls The Council will:  

• Meet applicants to ensure that they understand the consequences 
of changing their tenancy.  

• Check the identification of assigners and assignees to prevent 
fraud.  

• Involve other relevant agencies where there are concerns over 
abuse or coercion of vulnerable customers. 

 
➢ Succession - Occurs when a tenant dies, and an eligible person has a right either 

by law or given in the tenancy agreement to take over the tenancy 

 

Scope  This covers succession, which is when a tenant dies, and their tenancy is 
passed onto another person. 

Aims  The Council will:  
1. Allow one statutory succession per tenancy, when it is covered by 

legislation  

174



2. A statutory succession will take place when a joint tenant dies, and 
the remaining tenant becomes a sole tenant  

3. Support customers who want to apply to succeed based on the 
rights set out in the deceased’s tenancy agreement  

4. Allow only one person to succeed to a tenancy. If there is more 
than one person who would like to succeed, we will decide based 
on their housing need  

5. Offer the successor up to 2 alternative properties if the current 
property is not suitable. If these are refused, we will start legal 
proceedings to gain possession of the property  

6. Make relevant checks to reduce tenancy fraud  
7. If the succession is not allowed possession proceedings will take 

place. 

Legislation  This policy is linked to the following regulation and legislation:  
Housing Act 1985, Housing Act 1988, Localism Act 2011, Family Law Act 
1996,  
Civil Partnerships Act 2004. 

Controls The Council will:  

• Meet applicants to ensure that they understand the consequences 
of succession and managing a tenancy.  

• Check the identification of successors to prevent fraud.  

• Involve other relevant agencies where there are concerns over 
vulnerable  

• customers. 

 
➢ Tenancy Fraud -   Tenancy fraud can take several forms, including subletting 

council homes to others, cheating the system by making fraudulent Right to Buy 

claims, trying to jump the queue by lying on a housing application. 

 

Scope  This covers fraud relating to tenancies and leases. 

Aims  The Council will:  
1. Reduce the risk of tenancy fraud by carrying out residency and 

identification checks on our customers  
2. Check all cases of sub-letting and abandonments that are reported 

to us or are highlighted through general activities and take 
appropriate action.  

3. Work with our other partners to identify tenancy fraud through 
partnership working  

4. Use our internal systems to help identify tenancy fraud such as 
rent accounting, insight and contact data  

5. Take tenancy and/or legal action when tenancy fraud has been 
identified  

6. Consider what additional information might be able to help to 
detect fraud and implement that as appropriate. 

Legislation  This policy is linked to the following regulation and legislation:  The 
Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013 and the Immigration Act 2014 

175



Controls The Council will: 

• Carry out relevant checks at different stages of a tenancy, including 
at the start of a tenancy, changes to sole/joint, assignment, 
succession, right to buy.  

• Use the data we hold to highlight cases of fraud by looking at no 
contact etc.  

• Train our staff so they can detect and manage potential cases of 
tenancy fraud.  

• Hold photos of all new customers on file as well as details of the 
identification provided, in accordance with the Immigration Act 
2014 to obtain the tenancy. 

 
➢ Lodgers and sub-letting – Having a lodger to help with costs is acceptable, 

moving out and sub-letting your home to another person is against the law. 

 

Scope  This covers permission that needs to be sought for a customer to have a 
lodger or to sub-let part of their home 

Aims  The Council will:  
1. Recognise that there are situations when a customer may want to 

take in a lodger or sub-let part of their home. This can often help 
meet local housing needs or assist the customer with their housing 
costs.  

2. Ensure the customer understands before a lodger moves in the 
customer must seek our approval which we will not unreasonably 
with-hold and will be given in line with the conditions within the 
tenancy agreement. 

3. Ensure the Tenancy agreement and handbook has lodger Code of 
Conduct and information.   

4. Ensure the customer understands they are responsible to check if 
the lodger has a right to rent in accordance with Immigration Act 
2014.  

5. Share information about lodgers to other agencies if we suspect 
any fraudulent activity.  

6. Investigate any suspicious cases where we think vulnerable 
customers may be persuaded to take in a lodger against their 
wishes.  

7. Ensure the customer understands they are not permitted to sub-
let their entire home. If they do, the Council will seek possession of 
the property in accordance with the terms of the tenancy 
agreement.  

8. Allow a caretaker to look after the home (at the discretion of the 
senior manager) while the customer is temporarily absent. A 
request must be made before the customer leaves the property.  

9. Make customers aware that they are responsible for the behaviour 
and actions of their lodgers. 

176



Legislation  This policy is linked to the following legislation: Immigration Act 2016 and 
The Housing Act 1988 

Controls The Council will periodically check the household members to ensure we 
know who is living in the property and to prevent fraud. 

 
➢ Routine tenancy visits – Landlords need to conduct periodic inspections 

throughout each tenancy, to ensure that the condition of the property is in a 

reasonable state and tenants are complying with the tenancy agreement. Under 

the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985, landlords have the right to enter the premises 

to view its “condition and state of repair” 

 

Scope  This covers our approach to undertaking routine tenancy visits to mitigate the 
risk of tenancy failure and support tenancy sustainment. 

Aims  The Council will undertake a programme of scheduled visits to all tenancies 
which will be prioritised according to the criteria below:  

1. The identification of unmet housing and support needs (e.g., under-
occupancy or severe over-crowding) and providing advice/ information  

2. The detection of abandonment and non-occupancy of a property 
deemed to be the tenant’s principal home  

3. The prevention of unauthorised subletting or assignment  
4. Collection of customer insight data  
5. Identifying concerns around property condition (i.e., to abate potential 

health  
6. and safety risks and disrepair concerns).  
7. The detection of tenancy, benefit and Right To Buy (RTB) fraud  

8. Other tenancy and/ or property information that may be applicable. 
Controls The Council will:  

• Carry out relevant checks at different stages of a tenancy and set an 
appropriate frequency for routine tenancy visits and keep records 
of the visits carried out and the resultant actions.  

• Train frontline staff, so they can conduct effective tenancy audit 
visits  

• Address any identified issues.  

• Involve other relevant agencies where there are concerns over 
vulnerable customers. 

 
➢ Estate Management- ensuring that the residents of Council properties can live 

their lives free from interference or nuisance, and in an attractive and safe, 

physical and social environment. 

 

Scope  This covers estate inspections, abandoned properties, abandoned 
vehicles, fire risk inspections, individual garden inspections and items left 
in communal areas. Customers have a responsibility to ensure communal 
spaces are kept clear, use the communal spaces regarding others and 
report any issues. 

Aims  The Council will:  

177



1. Inspect all roads, estates and blocks at periodic intervals depending 
on the risk assessed to that area. Risks are assessed on levels of 
Anti-Social Behaviour, health and safety issues, fly tipping and 
graffiti.  

2. Identify and report any communal repairs to be undertaken, in 
particular those that pose a health and safety risk, such as damage 
to fire signage  

3. Identify and report issues that pose a serious fire risk; removing 
items which pose a risk to health and safety immediately, such as 
fuel canisters and items restricting access to fire routes  

4. Have a zero tolerance about customers leaving any items in 
communal areas including prams, bikes, door mats, plant pots, 
pictures, mobility vehicles (unless permission has been granted)  

5. Remove offensive graffiti as soon as practicable  
6. Monitor and identify abandoned properties, taking reports from 

neighbours where appropriate  
7. Identify poorly maintained gardens and work with customers to 

take appropriate action.  
8. Ensure that communal bin areas are kept in a clean and tidy 

condition.  
9. Report any abandoned vehicle to the local authority if it is on 

public land or the highway  
10. Remove and dispose of any abandoned vehicle on our land, after 

carrying out  
11. Ownership checks and serving a TORT notice (A torts notice is a 

legal document alerting the owner of items that have been 
abandoned on private land or property. It is issued in accordance 
with the Torts (Interference with Goods) Act 1977. The fact that 
items or property have been left on your property or land makes 
you an involuntary bailee)  

12. Check that consent has been given to the tenant to keep 
commercial vehicles  

13. Encourage our customers to identify and report any of the issues 
listed above  

14. Undertake regular fire risk inspections and serve TORT notices on 
items left in  

15. Communal areas and remove and dispose of items at the end of 
the notice period  

16. Charge the resident responsible for the cost of removing and 
disposing of items left in communal areas. When we cannot 
identify who is responsible, we may include the costs in service 
charges.  

17. Ensure staff are aware of service charge costs, so we can make 
sure customers are charged correctly. 

Legislation  This policy is linked to the following regulation and legislation:  
Torts (interference with goods) Act 1977, The Regulatory Reform (Fire 
Safety) Order 2005 

178



Controls The Council will: 

• Set an appropriate frequency for estate inspections and keep 
records of the inspections carried out and the resultant actions.  

• Carry out estate inspections on communal areas in blocks to 
ensure that there are no items left in the area. 

 

➢ Mobility Scooters- this includes Class 2 and 3 mobility scooters and electric 

wheelchairs.   

Scope  This covers mobility vehicles used and stored in Council properties and 
communal areas. 

Aims  The Council will:  
1. Provide clear instructions on the safe usage, storage and legal 

requirements surrounding mobility scooter use  
2. Promote and support the potential need of frail or disabled 

customers to maintain an independent lifestyle through mobility 
vehicle ownership  

3. Make reasonable endeavours to provide safe garage or lock up 
space and charging points (easily accessible). 

4. Advise and enforce the requirement for customers to store and 
charge their mobility vehicles in the designated store and charging 
areas. Customers will be able to charge and store their mobility 
scooters in their own properties, as domestic premises fall outside 
the legal requirements of the Health and Safety at Work etc Act 
1974 and The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, unless 
we believe there is an unacceptable risk.  

5. Grant permission for mobility vehicles to be stored or charged 
where reasonable  

6. Remove permission for mobility scooters from customers who 
charge and/or store their scooters in locations that pose an 
unacceptable health and safety risk  

7. Encourage residents to have liability insurance in place to cover 
damage to building, or injury to other people and provide 
information about low cost insurance schemes. 

Legislation  This policy is linked to the following regulation and legislation:  
Equality Act 2010, Health and Safety at Work Act 1974, The Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005. 

Controls The Council will:  

• Carry out regular inspections of communal areas to make sure that 
mobility vehicles are not being stored or charged in non-
designated areas and take any necessary action.  

• Work with the fire and rescue departments to carry out 
assessments, mitigating risk to our customers and assets. 

 

179



➢ Pets - Tenants are allowed to keep some pets such as cats in the home, without 

asking our permission first. For other pets, such as dogs, they must obtain 

permission from the Council before bringing them home. 

 

Scope  This policy applies to our customers who live in in our general needs and 
sheltered properties. It also clarifies what our customers in market rent homes 
can do. 

Aims  • Customers living in Market Rent properties are not allowed to keep 
pets in their homes. 

• Customers in general needs are allowed certain pets in their homes 
(regardless of the type of property they live in) and do not need to ask 
us for permission to keep animals. 

Legislation  This policy is linked to the following legislation: Consumer Rights Act 2015 
and The Housing Act 1988 

Controls The Council will:  

• Complete routine tenancy visits to our customers to make sure they 
are not breaking the terms of their tenancy agreement.  

• All Market Rent (MR) properties will have a flag on the customer 
account to show they are not allowed pets in their homes.  

• Revoke permission for a pet if the terms in the tenancy agreement 
have been broken. For example, if the pet is causing a nuisance to 
neighbours. 

 
➢ Hoarding- Where someone acquires an excessive number of items and stores them 

in a chaotic manner, usually resulting in unmanageable amounts of clutter. The 

items can be of little or no monetary value. 

Scope  This covers hoarding issues that are identified within our properties 
regardless of tenure. 

Aims  The Council recognise that Hoarding is a complex behavioural issue and 
that typically hoarders will be vulnerable and consider this to be a lifestyle 
choice.  
The Council will: 

1. Support customers and staff to tackle this issue when it has been 
identified 

2. Engage external agencies and partners to help us to support the 
customer and make safeguarding referrals as needed and signpost 
as necessary.  

3. Recognise that dealing with cases of this nature can be complex 
and lengthy.  However, where support has not been successful, and 
the condition of the property remains a health and safety risk we 
will consider enforcing the terms of the tenancy by way of an 
application for an injunction or possession proceedings.  

4. Demonstrate that any action is necessary and proportionate. 

Legislation  This relates to the following legislation: Mental Capacity Act 2005  
Human rights act – article 8 

180



Controls The Council will: 

• Undertake risk assessments when Hoarding issues are identified 
and consider the appropriate support and action.  

• Involve other relevant agencies where there are concerns over 
vulnerable customers. 

 

➢ Parking and Abandoned Cars – Abandoned means a vehicle that has remained on 

public property or any other place open to travel by the public without the consent 

of the local police agency for a period of 48 hours after a police agency has affixed a 

written notice to the vehicle. 

Scope   This covers the parking for all our properties. 

Aims  The Council will:  

• Advise customers what the parking arrangements are where 
they live  

• Liaise with public and private organisations to enforce parking 
controls where applicable  

• Expect customers to use parking spaces with due regard to 
others. We will not police the parking on estates or get 
involved in parking disputes unless they lead to anti-social 
behaviour.  

• Designate specific parking bays for registered disabled 
customers where possible 

• Monitor abandoned, untaxed and unroadworthy vehicles and 
take steps to remove them especially if they pose a health and 
safety risk. 

Legislation  This policy is linked to the following legislation:  
Driving Vehicle Licence Agency (DVLA) removal of abandoned vehicles. 

Controls The Council will: 

• Carry out regular estate inspections to identify and resolve issues 
of abandoned vehicles.  

• Consider parking arrangements on all new estates to try to design 
out any potential issues where planning legislation allows. 

 

➢ Pests - A pest is any animal or plant harmful to humans or human concerns. The 

term is particularly used for creatures that damage crops, livestock, and forestry or 

cause a nuisance to people, especially in their homes. 

 

Scope  This covers properties that we are responsible for maintaining which 
have been affected by pest infestations. 

Aims  The Council will:  
1. Only take responsibility for pest eradication where the infestation 

is due to an issue with the fabric of the building, which is our 
responsibility to maintain  

181

https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/abandoned-vehicle


2. Offer advice for residents with infestations, such as signposting to 
the local authorities’ Environmental Health departments.  

3. Take tenancy enforcement action where pest infestation has 
occurred as a result of customers’ behaviour. For example, rats 
attracted to dumped rubbish in a resident’s garden  

4. Recharge customers the cost of pest eradication. For example, 
fumigating for fleas after residents have moved out of a property. 

Legislation  This policy is linked to the following regulation and legislation:  
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010, Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. 

Controls The Council will:  

• Carry out regular estate inspections to identify and resolve issues 
of fly tipping and messy gardens which might attract pests.  

• Check the condition of properties during home visits and deal 
with any issues which may attract pests.  

• Involve other relevant agencies where there are concerns over 
vulnerable customers. 

 

Scope of policy 
 
This policy will ensure:  

a. that tenancies are managed effectively to create sustainable communities  

b. services meet the needs of customers  

c. estates are well maintained and safe  

d. monitoring is undertaken and reported through Performance Indicators 

where required.  

All front-line operational staff will be aware of this policy. 

Aims of Policy 
 

This policy summarises how we will manage housing in line with our statutory and 

regulatory responsibilities and our duties as a social landlord. It outlines the scope, aims and 

controls in place for each area of housing management.  There are also subject specific 

policies to support this with more detail.  

This policy applies to all tenancies managed by the Eastleigh Borough Council Affordable 

Housing Service (the Council). The policy objective is to provide tenants with the highest 

possible degree of security of tenure and service standards, whilst making best use of the 

stock. It is also to provide properties that are well maintained, and in neighbourhoods which 

are safe and inclusive places to live. 

Each aim and the supporting objectives are set out below in more detail. 

182



The housing need of the Borough 

  
One way to meet local housing need is by delivering new homes and the Council approach 

to this is set out in the https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-policy-

and-implementation/local-plan/local-plan-adoption. 

 

The Council will make best use of its housing stock and to do this will undertake the 

following objectives: 

e. Use of fixed term tenancies 

f. Allocate homes via Hampshire Home Choice (HHC) but make use of 

flexibilities within the scheme 

g. Implement a downsizing scheme to free up larger family homes 

h. Explore partnerships and projects 

Affordable Homes  
 

There is a direct link between charging ‘Affordable Rents’ (up to 80% market rent) and being 

able to provide more homes as the additional income supports our ability to develop. 

However, the Council recognises that there is a need to get the balance right between 

maximising income and the affordability of rent for tenants. Rents that are too high can 

result in arrears, evictions and properties which are empty or difficult to let.  

The Council aims to achieve this balance by: 

 

a. adopting and following effective policies and procedures in relation to the 

whole area of Rent Collection. 
b. calculating rents using robust formulae 

c. understanding the needs of the Borough 

d. being an exemplary and caring landlord  

Well managed homes  
 

Managing homes includes dealing with tenants who do not keep to their tenancy 
agreement; this could include rent arrears, anti-social behaviour or not looking after their 
home; it also involves dealing with empty properties (voids).  The Councils approach to 
repairs and maintenance is detailed separately in our Asset Management Strategy and 
Repairs and Maintenance policy.  
 
Well managed homes means that tenants can live peacefully in their homes and 
communities and the Council minimises financial loss.  To support tenants the Council will 
take a proactive approach to tenancy management. 
The Council will: 

183

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-policy-and-implementation/local-plan/local-plan-adoption
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/planning-and-building/planning-policy-and-implementation/local-plan/local-plan-adoption


- Ensure tenants understand the terms and conditions of their tenancy by carefully 

monitoring our tenancy sign up process and our Tenants Handbook; this will include 

checking that they are accessible to all tenants and confirming that tenants fully 

understand their responsibilities.  

 

- Introduce a rolling programme of tenancy reviews, which will include visits to 

tenants to consider and address all aspects of the tenancy.  

 

- Take account of the individual circumstances and needs of the tenant and their 

household    

 

- Make the payment of rent as easy as possible by providing a range of payment 

methods and access to appropriate support and advice.    

 
Deliver efficient & effective void management 

 

The Council will:  

• Allow prospective tenants to view properties that meet a minimum lettable 

standard. This will allow tenants to choose what is left in the property (e.g. flooring, 

curtain poles etc) to meet their needs.   

• Minimise the time properties are left empty and help new tenants with low access to 

funds.   

• Review the ways we can minimise void periods during improvement programmes 

(see Void Management Policy). 

Improve lives 
  

Not every tenant is the same, they have different needs, vulnerabilities, and aspirations and 

some need more help and advice than others. Through external factors such as cost of living 

increases, increase in interest rates, more tenants will need help to sustain their tenancy 

and to achieve their aspirations.  

 

The Council believes that offering help is an increasing part of our role as a caring landlord, 

particularly with the introduction of fixed term tenancies. The Council will engage with our 

tenants so that it can offer services that meet their needs and help them to improve their 

lives if they want to. 

 

Provide a broad support service  
 
The Council will: 
 

- Work hard to engage with tenants and to increase the number of tenants it engages 

with. Through this contact we will be able to provide additional support and advice 

184



to help tenants maintain their tenancies and achieve their aspirations; this could 

include signposting them for more specialist support or helping them move towards 

employment.  

 

- Work with tenants to stay independent in their homes by offering adaptations, 

where appropriate for the property; the needs of the tenant and the budget 

available (see Aids & Adaptations Policy).  

 

- Improve environments, services and facilities within communities, giving a positive 

impact on the wellbeing and lives of tenants.  

 

- Work with partners and other organisations to address the concerns of tenants 

within the communities. 

 

The following objectives support this aim: 

a. Expand digital services and support tenants to get online 

b. Review and expand approach to financial inclusion 

c. Deliver Tenancy Involvement Strategy 

Legislative Requirements  

• Health and Safety at Work Act 1974  

• Housing Act 1985  

• Housing Act 1988  

• Enrolment of Deeds (Change of Name) Regulations 1994  

• Family Law Act 1996  

• Data Protection Act 1998  

• Civil Partnerships Act 2004  

• Equality Act 2010  

• Localism Act 2011  

• Torts (interference with goods) Act 1977  

• The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005  

• The Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013  

• Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010  

• Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981  

• Mental Capacity Act 

• Immigration Act 2014 

Linked Affordable Housing Policies 
This policy must be read in conjunction with:  

• Rent Setting Policy  

• Lettings Policy  

185



• Anti-social Behaviour Policy  

• Income Management Policy (which includes recharges)  

• Equality and Diversity Policy  

• Void Policy 

• CCTV Policy  

• Safeguarding Policy  

• Service Charge Policy  

• Tenancy Policy  

• DFG/ Adaptation Policy  

• Complaint Policy  

• Fire Safety Policy  

• Health and Safety Policy  

• Financial Inclusion and Tenancy Sustainment Policy 

This policy and other linked procedures apply to all tenures, except where stated. 
Sometimes the Council may use its discretion and act outside of this policy. If the Council 
does, it will be with senior manager approval. 

Data Protection 
The Council are committed to protecting and respecting the privacy of personal data.  As a 
registered Data Controller (Reg. no. Z7118863) it complies with the General Data Protection 
Regulations 2018 (GDPR). 

More information on how the Council collects, uses and keeps your personal information, 
and how it protects privacy can be found in our Record of Processing Activity (ROPA). 
The corporate privacy notice provides general information about the council’s personal data 
processing activities overall. As the range of services the council provides is so varied, it has 
also produced individual privacy notices for each service area, to explain specifically how 
data will be used within each service.  

Equality & Diversity  
Equality and diversity are of fundamental importance to services provided regardless of a 
person’s protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, religion pregnancy and maternity, race, belief, 
or sex). All must be treated with respect. The Council treats everyone it houses, serves, and 
employs, fairly, and encourages others to do the same.  
 
The Council provides information that is clear, accessible, and in an appropriate format 
(such as translated into another language, or in large print on request). Where appropriate, 
Council Officers will assist residents, by, for example, helping to complete paperwork. These 
policies ensure residents are treated in a fair and efficient manner. 
 

186

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/media/5070/current-gdpr-ropa-for-website-v2.xlsx
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy/privacy-notices-for-service-areas


Monitoring and Review  
This policy will be reviewed regularly, to incorporate legislative and regulatory amendments 

and changes, best practice developments, or to address any operational issues with the 

procedure.  Input and approval will be sought from our residents (via the Residents 

Committee or similar) prior to making any substantive changes. This is in line with our 

Corporate Values and is intended to ensure our policy continues to meet the needs and 

aspirations of our residents. 

Document History and Approval 
Identity and Version Control 

This document is the final approved version and will be a controlled document with an 

individual assigned to version review/amendment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

187



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  

Tuesday, 17 January 2023  

CABINET 

Monday, 23 January 2023 

WRITE OFF OF IRRECOVERABLE DEBTS 2021/22 

COUNCIL TAX, NATIONAL NON DOMESTIC RATES, HOUSING 
BENEFIT & SUNDRY DEBTORS 

Report of the Chief Financial Officer 

 

Recommendation(s) 

It is recommended that Audit & Resources Committee note the contents of this 
report and make recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate. 
 
It is recommended that Cabinet:   

(1) consider any recommendations from Audit & Resources Committee; 

(2) note debts of £5,000 or under approved for write off by the Executive Head of 
Finance and Housing Programme relating to Council Tax, Business Rates 
(NNDR) and Housing Benefits with a net total of £95,974.80; 

(3) note debts relating to bankruptcy or liquidation proceedings, approved for 
write off by the Corporate Director (CFO) relating to Council Tax, Business 
Rates (NNDR) and Housing Benefits with a net total of £254,651.39; 

(4) note debts of £5,000 or under, approved for write off by the Corporate Director 
(CFO) relating to Sundry Debtors with a net total of £27,401.51; and 

(5) note debts relating to bankruptcy or liquidation proceedings, approved for 
write off by the Corporate Director (CFO) relating to Sundry Debtors with a net 
total of £32,268.51 

 

Summary 
 
The Executive Head of Finance and Housing Programme and the Corporate Director 
(CFO) have exercised delegated powers to write-off debts below £5,000 and those in 
excess of £5,000 where bankruptcy or liquidation proceedings have been instituted. 

 
Statutory Powers 

189

Agenda Item 9



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

 
Statutory authority under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 has been 
exercised and the delegated powers stated in Financial Regulations 5.26 and part 3 of the 
Constitution (Scheme of Delegation) functions 12, 47 and 86 utilised. 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. This report relates to the financial management and sustainability of the 
Council, operating in a business-like way which underpins the delivery of all of 
the Council’s Corporate Plan (2015-2025) objectives.  The issues detailed in 
the report do not represent any significant variance in the Council’s delivery to 
meet these objectives. 

Introduction 

2. Councillors are aware that the Executive Head of Finance and Housing 
Programme is authorised within the Constitution’s Scheme of Delegation to 
write-off debts of £5,000 or less in respect of housing benefits, council tax and 
business rates (NNDR) respectively.  The Chief Financial Officer is authorised 
to write-off debts of £5,000 or less and debts over this amount where 
bankruptcy or liquidation proceedings have been instituted.  Anything outside 
of these limits should be approved by Cabinet. 

3. To provide some context, in 2021/22 the net value of sundry debtors raised 
was £30,749,619 with a collection rate in year of 95%.  Councillors are 
reminded that writing off a debt does not prevent action to recover the debt 
subsequently being taken if a debtor is traced, provided such action is not 
statute barred through lapse of time.  The process for debt collection is 
regularly reviewed to ensure that income to the Council can be maximised. 

4. As previously reported there is an increasing number of Debt Relief Orders 
(DRO) and Individual Voluntary Arrangements (IVA) being entered into and 
therefore the figures in relation to these cases have been included within 
bankruptcy and liquidation totals as there are similar restrictions on collecting 
these debts. 

5. This write-off report is produced annually and details of the debts for write-off 
are given in the following paragraphs of this report. 

Summary of Revenue and Benefits Debts under £5,000 or in 
Bankruptcy/Liquidation/Debt Relief Order/IVAs 

6. Detailed below is a summary of written-off debts authorised by the Executive 
Head of Finance and Housing Programme and in cases of bankruptcy and 
liquidation by the Chief Financial Officer.  These are the total value of debts 
written off so the element of the Council Tax and NNDR debts relating to 
Eastleigh Borough Council is far lower.  

DEBTS £5,000 or less Bankruptcy TOTAL Reversed NET TOTAL  

190



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

and Credits 
Written Off  

 
 

(£) 

Liquidation 
Debt Relief 
Orders & 

IVAs 
 (£) 

 
 
 
 

(£) 

or 
Recovered 

Debts  
 

(£) 

 
 
 
 

(£) 

COUNCIL TAX 
Amount (£) (inc 
costs) 

 
£78,738.78    

 
£100,924.36  

 
£179,663.14 

 
-£17,855.18 

 
£161,807.96  

No. of Accounts 145 248 393 31 424 

NNDR 
Amount (£) 
(inc costs) 

 
£9,746.65 

 
£151,029.69 

 
£160,776.34 

 
-£7,078.85 

 
£153,697.49 

No of Accounts 17 35 52 17 69 

HOUSING 
BENEFITS 
Amount (£) (inc 
costs & interest) 

 
 

£7,489.37 

 
 

£2,697.34 

 
 

£10,186.71 

 
 

-£304.39 

 
 

£9,882.32 

No. of debtors.   
29 2 31 1 32 

TOTALS 
Amount (£)  

(inc costs) 

£95,974.80 £254,651.39 £350,626.19 -£25,238.42 £325,387.77 

 

Summary of Sundry Debtors under £5,000 

7. Detailed below is a summary of written-off debts authorised by the Chief 
Financial Officer. 

DEBTS £5,000 or less 
and Credits 
Written Off 

 
(£) 

  

Bankruptcy 
Liquidation 
Debt Relief 
Orders & 

IVAs 
 (£) 

TOTAL 
 
 
 
 

(£) 

Reversed 
or 

Recovered 
Debts  

 
(£) 

NET TOTAL  
 
 
 
 

(£) 

SUNDRY 
DEBTORS 
Amount (£) (inc 
costs) 

 
£27,401.51    

 
£32,268.51 

 
£59,670.02 

 
£0.00 

 
£59,670.02 

No. of Debtors 84 22 106 0 106 

 

Performance against Previous Year 

8. One of the key areas of effective debt monitoring is to look back on the 
previous year to assess how the debt portfolio has been managed.   
Comparator tables follow: 

 

 

191



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Council Tax, NNDR, Housing Benefits 

Debts under 
£5k and 
liquidation 

2020/21 

(£) 

2020/21 

(Accounts) 

2021/22 

(£) 

2021/22 

(Accounts) 

Council Tax 89,815.99 358 161,807.96 424 

NNDR 45,917.24 61 153,697.49 69 

Housing 
Benefits 

2,123.03 3 9,882.32 32 

 

Debts over 
£5k 

2020/21 

(£) 

2020/21 

(Accounts) 

2021/22 

(£) 

2021/22 

(Accounts) 

NNDR & 
Council Tax 

187,727.00 1 - 0 

Housing 
Benefits 

- 0 - 0 

 

Sundry Debtors 

Debts under 
£5k and 
liquidation 

2020/21 

(£) 

2020/21 

(Accounts) 

2021/22 

(£) 

2021/22 

(Accounts) 

Sundry 
Debtors 

51,566.06 61 59,670.02 106 

 

Debts over 
£5k 

2020/21 

(£) 

2020/21 

(Accounts) 

2021/22 

(£) 

2021/22 

(Accounts) 

Sundry 
Debtors 

- 0 - 0 

 

9. The comparison shows the value of debts under £5,000 being written off has 
significantly increased from 2020/21 to 2021/22.  There are no debts over 
£5,000 to be written off.   

192



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

10. The increase in Council Tax debts under £5,000 being written off follows a 
review of old debts, which was delayed from previous years due to the 
pandemic.  Due to the delay in the review of historic debts this report now 
covers a longer period of time than usual, leading to a higher number of 
accounts being written off where all recovery methods had been exhausted.  
There are no Council Tax debts over £5,000 to be written off. 

11. NNDR debts being written off have increased, mainly due to a large rise in the 
value of bankruptcies and liquidations linked to the fall out of the pandemic 
and the cost of living increases.  There are no NNDR debts over £5,000 to be 
written off.  

12. Housing Benefit debts being written off increased following a full service 
review in 2021/22.  This review identified a large increase in the number of 
debtors which were eligible for consideration for write off.  There are no 
Housing Benefit debts over £5,000 to be written off. 

13. The increase in Sundry Debtor debts under £5,000 being written off follows a 
review of aged debts.  This review identified a large increase in the number of 
debtors where all means of recovery have been exhausted. There are no 
debts over £5,000 proposed for write off. 

Financial Implications 

14. The financial implications of write-offs for Council Tax and Housing Benefit 
debts falls on the General Fund Revenue Account and every reasonable effort 
to recover debts is made before this action is taken. However, there is already 
a provision in the accounts for bad debts so the write off in this report do not 
represent any additional cost to the General Fund Revenue Account. 

15. National Non Domestic Rate (NNDR) Debts that are written off are offset 
against the payments made in relation to the national business rate retention 
scheme and therefore 40% of written off debts falls on the Borough’s Council 
Tax Payers. Again a bad debt provision is in place to ensure there is no 
impact on the general fund balance. 

16. All amounts shown in this report are net of VAT.  Bad debt relief can be 
claimed within 4 years and 6 months of the invoice supply date so VAT can 
usually be recovered.  In 2021/22 there is one invoice ineligible for bad debt 
relief where the total VAT of £100.00 cannot be reclaimed.  

Risk Assessment 

17. With any debt collection facility, the risk of not taking full recovery action prior 
to writing off debts leads to bad publicity and more customers failing to pay 
the amounts owed potentially leading to an increase in Council Tax for the 
Borough. 

18. Staff within both Revenue & Benefits and Case Management continually 
monitor debts to ensure that they are collected in the most efficient and 

193



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

economical manner and only written off where all means of recovery have 
been exhausted. 

19. Debt and debt recovery is regularly monitored across all areas of the Council 
and there is a risk that levels of unrecoverable debt may increase due to the 
impacts of challenging economic conditions on both businesses and 
individuals. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

20. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report because it is a 
report dealing with internal or procedural matters only. Therefore it is 
considered that for this decision the Equality Duty does not need to be 
addressed and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been carried 
out. 

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

21. There is no impact to climate change or the environment for this report. 
 

Conclusion 

22. The Council’s Financial Regulations currently delegates authority to the 
Executive Head of Finance and Housing Programme to write off debts relating 
to housing benefit, council tax and business rates not exceeding £5,000 
provided the Executive Head of Finance and Housing Programme is satisfied 
that all appropriate recovery action has been pursued.  The debts detailed in 
this report have all been assessed on an individual basis and are now 
considered irrecoverable, as any further recovery action would be counter-
productive and uneconomical. 

23. The Council’s Financial Regulations currently delegates authority to the Chief 
Financial Officer to write off debts not exceeding £5,000 and debts for 
whatever amount where bankruptcy or liquidation proceedings have been 
instituted.  Should the circumstances for any of these debts change, the write 
off can be reversed and sums recovered.  The debts detailed in this report 
have all been assessed on an individual basis and are now considered 
irrecoverable, as any further recovery action would be counter-productive and 
uneconomical.   

 

SARAH KING 
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

 
Date: 20 December 2022 
Contact Officer: Mark Reed/Declan Kelly/Tom Clark  
Tel No: 023 8068 8075/8047/8326 
e-mail: mark.reed@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 declan.kelly@eastleigh.gov.uk 
 thomas.clark@eastleigh.gov.uk 

194



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Appendices Attached: 0 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

* List Background Papers or state None. 
 

195



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan partial update consultation response
	Hampshire Minerals and Waste App 1
	Hampshire Minerals and Waste App 2
	Hampshire Minerals and Waste App 3

	7 Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 and Investigatory Powers Act 2016
	RIPA App 1

	8 Affordable Housing Service Policies
	Appendix. 1 for AFFORDABLE HOUSING SERVICE POLICIES_v1
	Appendix. 2 for AFFORDABLE HOUSING SERVICE POLICIES
	Appendix. 3 for AFFORDABLE HOUSING SERVICE POLICIES
	Appendix. 4 for AFFORDABLE HOUSING SERVICE POLICIES

	9 Write off of Irrecoverable Debts 2021/22

